WORLD TRADE

ORGANIZATION

WT/DS257/R 29 August 2003

(03-4360)

Original: English

UNITED STATES – FINAL COUNTERVAILING DUTY DETERMINATION WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN SOFTWOOD LUMBER FROM CANADA

Report of the Panel

The Report of the Panel on United States – Final Countervailing Duty Determination with Respect to Certain Softwood Lumber from Canada is being circulated to all Members, pursuant to the DSU. The report is being circulated as an unrestricted document from 29 August 2003 pursuant to the Procedures for the Circulation and Derestriction of WTO Documents (WT/L/160/Rev.1). Members are reminded that in accordance with the DSU only parties to the dispute may appeal a panel report. An appeal shall be limited to issues of law covered in the Panel report and legal interpretations developed by the Panel. There shall be no *ex parte* communications with the Panel or Appellate Body concerning matters under consideration by the Panel or Appellate Body.

Note by the Secretariat: This Panel Report shall be adopted by the Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) within 60 days after the date of its circulation unless a party to the dispute decides to appeal or the DSB decides by consensus not to adopt the report. If the Panel Report is appealed to the Appellate Body, it shall not be considered for adoption by the DSB until after the completion of the appeal. Information on the current status of the Panel Report is available from the WTO Secretariat.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
A.	COMPLAINT OF CANADA	1
B.	ESTABLISHMENT AND COMPOSITION OF THE PANEL	1
C.	PANEL PROCEEDINGS	2
II.	FACTUAL ASPECTS	2
A.	THE USDOC INVESTIGATION	2
B.	RELATED WTO PROCEEDINGS	2
III.	PARTIES' REQUESTS FOR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	3
A.	REQUEST OF CANADA	3
B.	REQUEST OF THE UNITED STATES	3
IV.	ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES	3
A.	FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF CANADA	3
1.	The US Imposed Countervailing Duties On Practices That Are Not Countervailable Subsidies	3
2.	Canadian provincial stumpage programmes are not specific to certain enterprises	11
3.	USDOC's Calculation Methodology Impermissibly Inflates the Rate of the Alleged Subsidy and the Countervailing Duty	13
4.	Conduct of the Investigation	13
5.	Initiation of the <i>Lumber IV</i> Investigation	
6.	Administrative Reviews	15
B.	FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES	15
1.	Introduction	15
2.	Standard Of Review	15
3.	Argument	15
(a)	Canada Bears the Burden of Proving Its Claim	15
(b)	The Final Countervailing Duty Determination Is Consistent with the SCM	16
(c)	The Conduct of This Investigation Was Consistent with the Obligations of Article 12 of the SCM	22
(d)	The United States Initiated the Softwood Lumber Investigation Based on Adequate Domestic Industry Support Consistent with the Requirements of Article 11.4 of the SCM	22
4.	Conclusion	23
C.	FIRST ORAL STATEMENT OF CANADA	23
1.	Financial Contribution	23
2.	Benefit	24

3.	Pass-through	26	
4.	Specificity	26	
5.	Calculations	27	
6.	Conduct of the Investigation	27	
7.	Initiation	27	
8.	Administrative Reviews	27	
D.	FIRST ORAL STATEMENT OF THE UNITED STATES	28	
1.	Opening Statement of the United States of America at the First Meeting of the Panel	28	
(a)	Financial Contribution	28	
(b)	Benefit	28	
(c)	Calculation Issues	30	
(d)	Specificity	30	
2.	Closing Statement of the United States of America at the First Meeting of the Panel		
(a)	Financial Contribution	30	
(b)	Benefit	31	
(c)	Market Distortion	31	
(d)	Calculation Issues	31	
(e)	Administrative Reviews	31	
(f)	Conclusion	32	
E.	SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF CANADA	32	
1.	Financial Contribution	32	
2.	Benefit	33	
3.	Pass-Through	37	
4.	Specificity	37	
5.	Other Claims	40	
(a)	Calculations	40	
(b)	Conduct of the Investigation	41	
F.	SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES	42	
G.	SECOND ORAL STATEMENT OF CANADA	50	
1.	Financial Contribution	50	
2.	Benefit	51	
3.	Pass-through	53	
4.	Specificity	53	
5.	Calculations	54	
6.	Conduct of the Investigation	54	

H.	SECOND ORAL STATEMENT OF THE UNITED STATES	55
V.	ARGUMENTS OF THE THIRD PARTIES	59
A.	THIRD PARTY WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES	59
1.	Claims Relating to the Existence of a Subsidy within the meaning of Article 1 of the SCM Agreement	59
(a)	Financial contribution	59
(b)	Benefit	60
(c)	Failure to Examine and Determine the Existence of a Benefit to all Producers of the Subject Product ("Pass Through")	62
2.	Conclusion	62
B.	THIRD PARTY ORAL STATEMENT OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES	63
1.	Financial contribution	63
2.	Benefit	63
3.	Specificity	63
4.	Violation of Article 12.3 and 12.8	64
(a)	Violation of Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement	65
(b)	Violation of Article 12.8 of the SCM Agreement	65
C.	THIRD PARTY ORAL STATEMENT OF INDIA	66
D.	THIRD PARTY WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF JAPAN	67
1.	Introduction	67
2.	Legal Arguments	67
(a)	Provision of "goods"	67
(b)	A Benefit Conferred	68
(c)	A Pass-through of an Alleged Subsidy	69
VI.	INTERIM REVIEW	69
VII.	FINDINGS	70
A.	CLAIM 1: INCONSISTENT FINDING OF THE EXISTENCE OF A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION	71
1.	Arguments of the parties	71
(a)	Canada	71
(b)	United States	72
2.	Analysis	73
(a)	What do the stumpage programmes provide: the <i>right</i> to harvest or <i>standing timber</i> ?	75
(b)	Is standing timber a "good" in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement?	77
B.	CLAIM 2: INCONSISTENT DETERMINATION OF BENEFIT UNDER ARTICLE 14 (D) SCM AGREEMENT	79
1.	Arguments of the parties	79
(a)	Canada	79

(b)	United States	81
2.	Analysis	83
C.	CLAIM 3: USDOC IMPERMISSIBLY ASSUMED A PASS-THROUGH OF THE ALLEGED SUBSIDY	91
1.	Arguments of the parties	91
(a)	Canada	91
(b)	United States	
2.	Analysis	94
(a)	Legal requirements concerning pass-through analysis	95
(b)	Pass-through analysis in the present dispute	97
(c)	Has Canada introduced a new claim, i.e., a violation of Article 1.1, which is outside the Panel's terms of reference?	99
D.	CLAIM 4: CANADIAN STUMPAGE PROGRAMMES ARE NOT SPECIFIC TO CERTAIN ENTERPRISES	101
1.	Arguments of the parties	101
(a)	Canada	101
(b)	United States	102
2.	Analysis	103
E.	CLAIM 5: INCONSISTENT CALCULATION OF THE AMOUNT OF SUBSIDIZATION	108
1.	Claims and arguments of the parties	108
(a)	Alleged improper conversion from US to Canadian log volume measurement system	108
(b)	Alleged failure to account for the multiple uses of softwood logs produced from Crown timber	109
(c)	Alleged understatement of the value of "final mill" sales	110
2.	Analysis	111
F.	CLAIM 6: FAILURE TO CONDUCT THE INVESTIGATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 12 SCM AGREEMENT	111
1.	Arguments of the parties	111
(a)	Canada	111
(b)	United States	112
2.	Analysis	113
G.	CLAIM 7: INCONSISTENT INITIATION OF THE INVESTIGATION	113
1.	Arguments of the parties	113
(a)	Canada	113
(b)	United States	114
2.	Analysis	114
VIII.	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	114

ANNEX A

PARTIES' RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FROM THE FIRST MEETING

	Contents	Page
Annex A-1	Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at First Meeting	A-2
Annex A-2	United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting	A-35

ANNEX B

PARTIES' RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FROM THE SECOND MEETING

	Contents	Page
Annex B-1	Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at the Second Meeting	B-2
Annex B-2	United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the Second Meeting	B-16

ANNEX C

THIRD PARTY RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FROM THE PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex C	European Communities Response to Questions from the Panel at	C-2
	the Third Party Session	

ANNEX D

REQUEST FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex D	Request for the Establishment of a Panel – Document WT/DS257/3	D-2

Short Title **Full Case Title and Citation** Argentina – Ceramic Tiles Panel Report, Argentina - Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Imports of Ceramic Floor Tiles from Italy, WT/DS189/R, adopted 5 November 2001 Brazil – Aircraft Panel Report, Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft – Second (Article 21.5 – Canada II) Recourse by Canada to Article 21.5 of the DSU, WT/DS46/RW/2, adopted 23 August 2001 Appellate Body Report, Canada – Measures Affecting the Export of Civilian Canada – Aircraft Aircraft, WT/DS70/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999, DSR 1999:III, 1377 EC – Bed Linen Panel Report, European Communities – Anti-Dumping Duties on Imports of Cotton-Type Bed Linen from India, WT/DS141/R, adopted 12 March 2001, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, WT/DS141/AB/R EC – Hormones Appellate Body Report, EC Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products (Hormones), WT/DS26/AB/R, WT/DS48/AB/R, adopted 13 February 1998, DSR 1998:I, 135 EC – Tube and Pipe Fittings Panel Report, European Communities – Anti-Dumping Duties on Malleable Cast Iron Tube or Pipe Fittings from Brazil, WT/DS219/R, 7 March 2003 [appealed] Egypt – Steel Rebar Panel Report, Egypt – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Steel Rebar from Turkey, WT/DS211/R, adopted 1 October 2002 Guatemala – Cement II Panel Report, Guatemala – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Grey Portland Cement from Mexico, WT/DS156/R, adopted 17 November 2000, DSR 2000:XI, 5295 Appellate Body Report, India - Patent Protection for Pharmaceutical and India – Patents (US) Agricultural Chemical Products, WT/DS50/AB/R, adopted 16 January 1998, DSR 1998:I, 9 Appellate Body Report, India – Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of India – Quantitative Restrictions Agricultural, Textile and Industrial Products, WT/DS90/AB/R, adopted 22 September 1999, DSR 1999:IV, 1763 Appellate Body Report, Japan - Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages, WT/DS8/AB/R, Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II WT/DS10/AB/R, WT/DS11/AB/R, adopted 1 November 1996, DSR 1996:I, 97 Panel Report, Mexico - Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup Mexico – Corn Syrup (HFCS) from the United States, WT/DS132/R and Corr.1, adopted 24 February 2000, DSR 2000:III, 1345 Thailand – H-Beams Appellate Body Report, Thailand – Anti-Dumping Duties on Angles, Shapes and Sections of Iron or Non-Alloy Steel and H-Beams from Poland, WT/DS122/AB/R, adopted 5 April 2001 US - Canadian Pork Panel Report, United States - Countervailing Duties on Fresh, Chilled and Frozen Pork from Canada, adopted 11 July 1991, BISD 38S/30. Panel Report, United States - Countervailing Measures Concerning Certain US – Countervailing Measures on Certain EC Products Products from the European Communities, WT/DS212/R, adopted 8 January 2003, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, WT/DS212/AB/R US – Export Restraints Panel Report, United States – Measures Treating Exports Restraints as Subsidies, WT/DS194/R and Corr.2, adopted 23 August 2001 US-Hot-Rolled Steel Appellate Body Report, United States - Anti-Dumping Measures on Certain Hot-Rolled Steel Products from Japan, WT/DS184/AB/R, adopted 23 August 2001

TABLE OF CASES CITED IN THIS REPORT

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
US – Lamb	Appellate Body Report, United States – Safeguard Measures on Imports of Fresh, Chilled or Frozen Lamb Meat from New Zealand and Australia, WT/DS177/AB/R, WT/DS178/AB/R, adopted 16 May 2001
US – Lead and Bismuth II	Appellate Body Report, United States – Imposition of Countervailing Duties on Certain Hot-Rolled Lead and Bismuth Carbon Steel Products Originating in the United Kingdom, WT/DS138/AB/R, adopted 7 June 2000, DSR 2000:V, 2601
US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act of 2000</i> , WT/DS217/AB/R, WT/DS234/AB/R, adopted 27 January 2003
US – Shrimp	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products</i> , WT/DS58/AB/R, adopted 6 November 1998, DSR 1998:VII, 2755
US – Softwood Lumber III	Panel Report, United States – Preliminary Determinations with Respect to Certain Softwood Lumber from Canada, WT/DS236/R, adopted 1 November 2002

I. INTRODUCTION

A. COMPLAINT OF CANADA

1.1 On 3 May 2002, Canada requested consultations with the United States pursuant to Article 4 of the Dispute Settlement Understanding ("the DSU"), Article XXII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994 ("GATT 1994"), and Article 30 of the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures ("the SCM Agreement"), concerning the final affirmative countervailing duty determination by the US Department of Commerce ("USDOC") (File No. C-122839) issued on 25 March 2002, with respect to certain softwood lumber from Canada.¹

1.2 On 18 June 2002, Canada and the United States ("the US") held the requested consultations, but failed to reach a mutually satisfactory resolution of the matter.

1.3 On 18 July 2002, Canada requested the establishment of a panel to examine the matter.² Canada subsequently withdrew that request, and on 19 August 2002 made a new request for establishment of a panel to examine the matter.³

B. ESTABLISHMENT AND COMPOSITION OF THE PANEL

1.4 At its meeting of 1 October 2002, the DSB established a panel in accordance with Article 6 of the DSU and pursuant to the request made by Canada in document WT/DS257/3.⁴

1.5 At that meeting, the parties to the dispute also agreed that the Panel should have standard terms of reference. The terms of reference are, therefore, the following:

"To examine, in the light of the relevant provisions of the covered agreements cited by Canada in document WT/DS257/3, the matter referred by Canada to the DSB in that document, and to make such findings as will assist the DSB in making the recommendations or in giving the rulings provided for in those agreements".

1.6 On 4 November 2002, Canada requested the Director-General to determine the composition of the Panel, pursuant to paragraph 7 of Article 8 of the DSU. This paragraph provides:

"If there is no agreement on the panelists within 20 days after the date of the establishment of a Panel, at the request of either party, the Director-General, in consultation with the Chairman of the DSB and the Chairman of the relevant Council or Committee, shall determine the composition of the panel by appointing the panelists whom the Director-General considers most appropriate in accordance with any relevant special or additional rules or procedures of the covered agreement or covered agreements which are at issue in the dispute, after consulting with the parties to the dispute. The Chairman of the DSB shall inform the Members of the composition of the panel thus formed no later than 10 days after the date the Chairman receives such a request".

¹ WT/DS257/1.

² WT/DS/257/2.

³ WT/DS/257/3.

⁴ WT/DS/257/4.

1.7 On 8 November 2002, the Director-General accordingly composed the Panel as follows:

Chairman:	Mr. Elbio O. Rosselli	
Members:	Mr. Wieslaw Karsz Mr. Remo Moretta	

1.8 The European Communities, India and Japan reserved their third-party rights.

C. PANEL PROCEEDINGS

1.9 The Panel met with the parties on 11-12 February 2003 and 25 March 2003. The Panel met with third parties on 12 February 2003.

II. FACTUAL ASPECTS

A. THE USDOC INVESTIGATION

2.1 This dispute concerns the final countervailing duty determination made by USDOC on 21 March 2002 in respect of certain softwood lumber imports from Canada, classified under headings 4407.1000, 4409.1010, 4409.1090, and 4409.1020.

2.2 The investigation was initiated by USDOC on 30 April 2001, pursuant to an application filed with USDOC on 2 April 2001 (amended 20 April 2001 to add certain applicants). The applicants were the Coalition for Fair Lumber Imports Executive Committee; the United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners; the Paper, Allied-Industrial, Chemical and Energy Workers International Union; Moose River Lumber Co., Inc.; Shearer Lumber Products; Shuqualak Lumber Co.; and Tolleson Lumber Co., Inc.

2.3 On 17 August 2001, USDOC published in the Federal Register a notice of preliminary affirmative countervailing duty determination, preliminary affirmative critical circumstances determination, and alignment of final countervailing duty determination with final antidumping duty determination. Provisional measures were imposed on the basis of a preliminary subsidy rate of 19.31 per cent.

2.4 On 2 April 2002, USDOC published in the Federal Register a notice of final affirmative countervailing duty determination. Definitive measures were imposed on the basis of a final subsidy rate of 19.34 per cent, with 19.25 per cent being the amount attributable to stumpage programmes. On 22 May 2002, USDOC published in the Federal Register a notice of amended final affirmative countervailing determination and notice of countervailing duty order, which decreased the final subsidy rate to 18.79 per cent as a result of corrections for ministerial errors. Of this amount, 18.70 per cent was attributable to stumpage programmes.

B. RELATED WTO PROCEEDINGS

2.5 At its meeting of 5 December 2001, the DSB established a panel, pursuant to a request by Canada, in respect of USDOC's preliminary determinations in the investigation at issue in this dispute. On 27 September 2002, that panel's report, *United States – Preliminary Determinations with Respect to Certain Softwood Lumber from Canada* (WT/DS236/R), was circulated to all WTO Members.⁵

⁵ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III.

III. PARTIES' REQUESTS FOR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

A. REQUEST OF CANADA

3.1 Canada requests the Panel to:

- find that the initiation of USDOC's investigation and the definitive countervailing duties imposed as a result violate Articles 10, 11.4, and 32.1 of SCM Agreement;
- find that USDOC's investigation and the Final Determination, and the definitive countervailing duties imposed as a result violate Articles 1.2, 10, 12.1, 12.3, 12.8, 14, 14(d), 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 of SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994; and
- recommend that the US bring its measures into conformity with its WTO obligations, including by revoking the countervailing duty order, ceasing to impose countervailing duties and refunding the countervailing duties imposed as a result of the *Lumber IV* investigation and the Final Determination.
- B. REQUEST OF THE UNITED STATES
- 3.2 The United States requests that the Panel reject Canada's claims in their entirety.

IV. ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

4.1 The arguments of the parties are set out in their written and oral submissions to the Panel, and in their answers to questions. The parties' arguments as presented in their submissions are summarized in this section. The parties' written answers to questions are set out in full as Annexes to this report. (*See*, List of Annexes, page v).

- A. FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF CANADA
- 4.2 The following summarizes Canada's arguments in its first written submission.

4.3 At issue in this dispute are countervailing duties on certain softwood lumber products from Canada imposed on 21 March 2002, by USDOC pursuant to a final affirmative countervailing duty determination

1. The US Imposed Countervailing Duties On Practices That Are Not Countervailable Subsidies

4.4 Article 1.1 sets out the exclusive definition for what constitutes a subsidy for the purposes of the SCM Agreement. A subsidy has two discrete elements: (i) a financial contribution that (ii) confers a benefit. The US has not established the existence of a subsidy for the following reasons.

4.5 **USDOC erred in determining that provincial stumpage programmes "provide goods".** The US has imposed countervailing duties on practices that do not constitute a "financial contribution" within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii). In Canada, natural resources are, for the most part, the property of provincial governments. Many of these resources have traditionally been managed through the transfer of real property interests and exploitation rights. Forests are one among many of these resources; harvesting trees is but one aspect of the overall management of forestry resources. At issue in this dispute is the legal characterization of these forestry resources management systems.

4.6 Forestry management regimes in Canada reflect three critical considerations: (1) the land is publicly owned; (2) forestry resources such as air, water, wildlife, plants, trees and parkland may be put to a variety of uses; and (3) forestry resources must be carefully managed in the best interests of the public. Forestry resources are managed through a system of interlocking rights and obligations between the Crown and timber harvesters. This system of resource management is based most frequently on tenure and licensing agreements. The details of such tenure and licensing agreements vary, but they are all similar in that they are a complex bundle of rights and obligations, containing at a minimum: the right to harvest standing timber on Crown land or "stumpage"; service and maintenance obligations (*e.g.*, road-building, protection against fire, disease, and insects); implementation of forestry management and conservation measures, including silviculture; and payment of a volumetric "stumpage charge" that is levied upon the exercise of the harvesting right.

4.7 Stumpage takes two different forms in Canada: a real property right (generally referred to as a *profit à prendre*) or a licence to harvest standing timber. A *profit à prendre* is a form of real property right that conveys a non-possessory interest in the land to the recipient. A licence is a revocable right to do something on, or to the detriment of, the land of another that would otherwise not be permitted – in this case, the right to harvest standing timber.

4.8 A "financial contribution" exists where "a government provides goods or services other than general infrastructure". Interpreted in accordance with the principles of treaty interpretation in customary international law, "goods" refers to tradable items that are capable of bearing a tariff heading.

4.9 The ordinary meaning of "goods" is "tangible or movable personal property other than money; [especially] articles of trade or items of merchandise (goods and services)". The term "goods" excludes resources such as intangible property, *i.e.*, property rights, and real property. A *profit à prendre*, for example, is a real property right. The panel in US - Softwood Lumber III agreed that the ordinary meaning of "goods" is "tangible or movable personal property, other than money." Despite this, the panel adopted an interpretation of "goods" that was broader than the ordinary meaning of the term. Article 1.1(a)(1) (financial contribution) is drafted in precise terms. Article 1.1 (a)(1)(iii) does not refer to provision of "economic resources" or "property", but rather to "goods or services". As well, "goods or services" are not examples or species belonging to a bigger genus "economic resources". Real property and other resources or instruments of value do not fall under subparagraph (iii) unless they fit within the terms, "goods" or "services other than general infrastructure".

4.10 Article 3.1 provides relevant context. It defines "prohibited" subsidies as "subsidies within the meaning of Article 1". Article 3.1(b) includes the phrase "subsidies contingent … upon the use of domestic over imported *goods*" (emphasis added) in defining a particular prohibited subsidy. The use of the adjective "imported" to modify "goods" implies that the "goods" so modified may only be items that are capable of being "imported" – that is, traded across international borders or tradable items with an actual or potential customs classification. The proper conclusion is that the meaning of "goods" in both provisions is identical: tradable items with an actual or potential customs classification. Further, Parts III and V of the SCM Agreement refer to "products" or "imports". Given that Article 1.2 ties Article 1.1 to Parts III and V, the "products" or "imports" referred to in these Parts may not be interpreted to be different from the "goods" referred to in Articles 1 or 3 of the SCM Agreement.

4.11 The WTO Agreement also provides instructive context. Countervailing measures are provided for in Article VI of GATT 1994, as an exception to Article II. Therefore, the coverage of Part V of the SCM Agreement which imposes disciplines on countervailing duties and that of Article II of GATT 1994 must be the same. The SCM Agreement is one of the agreements set out in Annex 1A to the WTO Agreement. Annex 1A sets out "multilateral agreements on trade in goods". More important, the interpretative note to that Annex provides a rule of conflict between GATT 1994

and the covered agreements. A rule of conflict suggests a possibility of conflict and implies that the subjects or scope of coverage of the agreements are the same. Thus coverage of GATT 1994 and the agreements on trade in goods, including the SCM Agreement, must have the same scope. The panel in US – *Softwood Lumber III* used only one contextual element to support its view that "goods" has an "unqualified meaning". The panel believed that the only exception in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) is general infrastructure and this reinforced its view "concerning the unqualified meaning of the term goods." The panel rejected the contextual guidance offered by the use of "goods" and "products" in the SCM Agreement and the WTO Agreements as a whole.

4.12 The term "goods" in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) is equivalent to "products", and these terms are used throughout GATT 1994, the SCM Agreement and the other covered agreements to mean items on which tariff concessions may be given under Article II of GATT 1994. This is confirmed by the object and purpose of the SCM Agreement. The class of activity defined in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) to constitute a financial contribution within Article 1.1(a)(1) is discrete and carefully delineated. This demonstrates that the scope of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) is limited; the object of this provision is not to capture all potential in-kind transfers of economic resources that a government may provide. Furthermore, Article 1.1 provides a definition of a subsidy for the purposes of the SCM Agreement, and Article 1.1(a)(1) provides that a "financial contribution" is a constitute a financial contribution for the purposes of the subsidy definition. Subparagraphs (i) to (iv) are carefully crafted and use precise terminology. If the object and purpose of Article 1.1(a)(1) were to bring all transfers of economic resources within the ambit of "financial contribution", there would have been no need to delineate specific categories of activity.

4.13 USDOC erroneously found that Canadian stumpage programmes constituted a financial contribution. Specifically, USDOC held that provincial tenure systems provide lumber producers with standing timber and that standing timber is a "good". According to USDOC even a license or right to harvest timber would constitute the provision of a good, because "goods" encompasses "all a person's legal rights of whatever description."

4.14 First, stumpage programmes involve the granting of rights to harvest standing timber pursuant to tenure and license agreements. "Goods" refers to tradable items with an actual or potential customs classification. Rights to harvest, the only thing provided by governments through stumpage programmes, are not "goods". Even assuming that stumpage programmes provide standing timber, stumpage programmes do not involve a financial contribution. Standing timber – *i.e.*, trees firmly rooted in the ground – is not a "good" within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii). Properly understood, a *profit à prendre* and a license to harvest standing timber are economic resources that are not "goods" within the meaning of Article 1. "Stumpage" – the right to exploit an *in situ* natural resource – is akin to the right to extract oil from public lands, quotas to harvest fish, or the right to exploit inland water and water currents. Second, standing timber is not a "good" within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii). Standing timber is an *in situ* natural resource that is not capable of being traded across borders.

4.15 The term "goods" in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) cannot be interpreted to include rights such as "stumpage", *profits à prendre*, and timber harvesting licenses. USDOC erred in determining that provincial governments provide goods to lumber producers and erred specifically in finding that standing timber is a "good". As stumpage does not involve a "financial contribution" USDOC's subsidy determination and the imposition of countervailing duties violates Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

4.16 USDOC's Use of "Cross-Border" Benchmarks to Determine and Measure a "Benefit" Violates the SCM Agreement. Having concluded that the provinces provided goods, USDOC determined that this alleged financial contribution conferred a benefit by using selected short-term auction prices for the right to cut standing timber on specific tracts of public lands in the US or, in the

case of Québec, private timber sales in Maine, as benchmarks for comparison to Canadian provincial stumpage charges. Articles 1.1(b) and 14(d) of the SCM Agreement require the US to use in-country benchmarks to determine the existence and measurement of any alleged benefit. The Agreement does not permit the investigating authority to use cross-border (out-of-country) benchmarks, nor to reject benchmarks from within the country under investigation.

4.17 In the Preliminary Determination ("PD"), USDOC purported to establish that Canadian stumpage programmes conferred a benefit by comparing: (1) stumpage charges related to the exercise of the right to harvest; with (2) alleged prices for short term rights to cut standing timber on selected US public lands and private timber sales in Maine. USDOC did not modify this cross-border methodology in any material respect for purposes of the Final Determination ("FD"). In the FD, USDOC determined that Article 14(d) does not restrict the market benchmark to the country of export, but was intended to require that adequacy of remuneration be determined with reference to "comparable" market-based transactions.

4.18 USDOC sought to avoid the plain meaning of the Article 14(d) by focusing on the phrase "in relation to". It concluded that "in relation to" means "taking account of". USDOC also referred to the purported context provided by the illustrative list of conditions of purchase or sale set out in Article 14(d). After concluding that cross-border benchmarks were acceptable for determining "benefit", USDOC then rejected evidence of in-country benchmarks and asserted that US stumpage was a "reasonable benchmark". USDOC argued, erroneously: (1) Private prices in Canada are not market-based and cannot be used as benchmarks because a government-dominated market will distort the market; (2) US stumpage is an acceptable benchmark because it is commercially reasonable for Canadian producers to bid on US stumpage (that is, a natural resource not located within the political boundaries of Canada), and producers located within Canada "have access to US prices of stumpage"; and (3) US stumpage prices are world market prices that are available to Canadian producers. USDOC determined that the US benchmark prices were higher than the charges levied by Canadian provinces and concluded, as it had done in the PD, that Canadian stumpage charges conferred a benefit.

4.19 Article 1.1 of the SCM Agreement provides that a subsidy exists where there is a financial contribution by a government and "a benefit is thereby conferred". The Appellate Body considered the meaning of "benefit" in Article 1 of the SCM Agreement in *Canada – Aircraft* and found that a benefit under Article 1.1(b) suggests some form of comparison. The Appellate Body indicated that there could be no "benefit" unless this comparison demonstrated that the recipient was made "better off" than it would have been absent that contribution. Article 14(d) sets out guidelines for determining whether a benefit exists and how the amount of the benefit should be measured in cases involving the provision of goods. The text of Article 14(d) is unambiguous: "In the country of provision or purchase" means "in the country of provision or purchase." Nothing in the context, object and purpose or the negotiating history of Article 14 permits reading "in" as anything other than "in".

4.20 The recent panel report in US – Softwood Lumber III, confirms this interpretation. In that case, the panel found that the adequacy of remuneration in Article 14(d) must be determined in relation to prevailing market conditions for the good or service in question in the country of provision or purchase. According to the panel, this means that Article 14(d) requires that the prevailing market conditions to be used as a benchmark are those "in the country of provision" of the goods. The panel concluded that no other meaning could be ascribed to the reference to market conditions "in the country of provision". Therefore, the only benchmarks that may be used in a provision of goods context are those determined on the basis of prevailing market conditions ... in the country of provision" by interpreting the phrase "in relation to" to mean "taking account of". However, the panel in US – Softwood Lumber III disagreed with this interpretation. It found the phrase means "on the basis of" or "in comparison with". USDOC's interpretation effectively read out of the text of

Article 14(d) the clear and explicit reference to "in the country of provision", and turned the mandatory "shall" in Article 14(d) into the discretionary "may". Finally, any determination under Article 14(d) must consider the ordinary meaning of "adequate remuneration". The ordinary meaning of "adequate" is sufficient or satisfactory, not "maximum".

4.21 USDOC rejected evidence concerning in-Canada benchmarks for the alleged good, based on: (1) its unfounded assumption that it could legally reject in-country benchmarks; and (2) the unsupported factual conclusion that there are no usable market determined prices because prices were suppressed as a result of government involvement. USDOC also sought to avoid the prohibition in Article 14(d) against using out-of-country benchmarks by arguing that US stumpage prices are world market prices for stumpage available in Canada, and are therefore part of in-country prevailing market conditions. This conclusion is without foundation for three reasons.

4.22 First, USDOC asserted that US stumpage was purportedly *available* in Canada. Although a small quantity of logs harvested from some US comparison areas is exported to some Canadian provinces this, does not mean that the right to harvest US timber is somehow imported into Canada. USDOC consistently blurs the distinction between standing timber and logs. The record makes clear, however, that what is provided is either timber harvesting rights or "standing timber". Neither may be "imported" into Canada and neither is "available" in Canada. In fact, logs harvested from standing timber in the US comparison areas for over half of the exports subject to countervailing duties cannot be exported to Canada. Second, USDOC conceded that no world market price for stumpage existed when it found that there was not a single US price for stumpage or even a single price within individual US states. Third, prices outside the country of provision do not become acceptable because such prices are available in another country with allegedly "comparable market conditions." Even if market conditions in the US were "comparable", USDOC must base its determination on prevailing market conditions "in" the country.

4.23 The panel in *US* – *Softwood Lumber III* concluded that although "conditions of purchase or sale" and "availability" were listed as market conditions in Article 14(d) this did not mean that US stumpage was available to Canadian producers. It found that the fact that a good may also be bought on a market outside the country of provision, did not imply that the prices for that good in the other country become part of the market conditions "in the country of provision". The panel further noted that acceptance of the US argument would mean that the phrase "prevailing market conditions in the country of provision" refers to world market conditions. As the text of Article 14(d) did not support this conclusion it could not be correct. Instead the panel indicated that "availability" was an aspect of the market conditions existing in the country of provision. Finally, the panel noted that the US interpretation would effectively read out of the SCM Agreement the explicit reference to the country of provision, thereby violating the principle of effectiveness.

4.24 The US recourse to the same cross-border methodology in the FD consists again of simply substituting "prevailing market conditions" in the US for "prevailing market conditions" in Canada. This is the only way the US was able to determine the existence of a "benefit" and construct a subsidy rate of nearly 20 per cent.

4.25 A treaty interpreter must ensure that its interpretation of a treaty provision does not give rise to absurd or unreasonable results. An interpretation of Article 14(d) that would permit the use of cross-border comparisons would give rise to such unreasonable results for several reasons.

4.26 International borders affect market conditions and, in particular, prices; these effects are substantial and notoriously difficult to quantify. Political boundaries drive differences in government regulatory regimes, tax regimes, investment regimes, currency, banking and financial systems, business practices, and business climate. Government policies and other factors in different jurisdictions affect economic conditions, including wage rates, taxes, capital costs, labour costs and exchange rates.

4.27 Cross-border comparisons also do not reflect the effect of differences in the natural resource endowments between two countries. Prices of goods and services will generally differ between countries for reasons relating to comparative advantage. In US – *Softwood Lumber III* the panel found that USDOC's methodology for determining a benefit would lead to an automatic determination of subsidization in a resource-rich exporting country, even where the perceived price difference simply reflected the exporting country's comparative advantage.

4.28 A wide variety of other factors also affect forestry resources in different countries. These factors include differences in: timber characteristics and operating conditions such as the type, mix, quality and location of forest resources as well as costs of harvesting and transporting timber; measurement systems; and the rights and obligations associated with tenures such as the duration of harvesting rights and obligations associated with silviculture, road building and forest management responsibilities.

4.29 USDOC itself confirmed that cross-border comparisons are illogical in its own previous determinations in *Lumber I*, *II* and *III*. In each of these prior lumber cases, USDOC rejected the use of such comparisons on the basis that they simply could not be done. In particular, in *Lumber I* USDOC found that cross-border comparisons were "arbitrary and capricious" and that no unified North American market for stumpage existed. In this proceeding USDOC dismissed these decisions by claiming that they were made "in the context of a different legal framework." The change in law is irrelevant, however. All of the facts that led USDOC to reject the use of cross-border comparisons in the past still exist today.

4.30 In the FD, USDOC concluded there were no usable benchmarks in Canada that would allow USDOC to analyze whether Canadian stumpage programmes provided a benefit to the softwood lumber producers. This conclusion is contradicted by the record, which provided several in-country benchmarks as well as economic analysis of the adequacy of remuneration charged by provincial governments. This information included private timber sales, cost-revenue comparisons, an economic analysis of provincial stumpage charges, competitive auction prices, and private sector assessments of timber value.

4.31 <u>Private Timber Sales</u> - Canada provided substantial information regarding in-country sales of private stumpage, including private stumpage prices in Québec. In Québec, private forest lands account for 17 per cent of the total softwood sawmill supply. Private stumpage transactions in Québec are the basis for that province's parity approach, which Québec uses to determine the market value of standing timber on public land. The evidence before USDOC included three years of annual private stumpage surveys and the original survey results reporting private forest in Québec, comprehensive economic data and analyses were submitted showing that private forest stumpage transactions in Québec occur in a large, open market consisting of hundreds of well-informed buyers and sellers, including competing private timber sources outside Québec.

4.32 Similarly, the information for Ontario demonstrated that the volume of private sales was significant, representing 7 per cent of total softwood stumpage sales. Canada submitted an expert study by Resource Information Systems Inc. (RISI) that provided a detailed assessment of the private market in Ontario. The RISI Study found that the private market in Ontario was competitive, efficient, and independent from the market for Crown timber. Another study of the private market in Ontario, prepared by Charles River Associates Inc., evaluated the market conditions for private timber sales, concluded that the prices for private timber were established by the "marginal" price for timber, and calculated the average price for private timber purchased by sawmills.

4.33 <u>Competitive Auctions</u> - The record also included information on competitive sales of stumpage by provincial governments, including information from B.C. on the volume and value of

competitive sales of stumpage through the Small Business Forest Enterprise Programme, which are made through competitive auction to the highest bidder.

4.34 <u>Private Sector Assessments of Timber Value</u> - Canada also provided information regarding the market values for standing timber based on an amalgam of public bid and private sale values. These market values are known as "timber damage assessments" (TDAs). Three industry sectors in Alberta, the oil and gas sector, the mining sector and the forest sector, jointly developed the TDA methodology. After a series of negotiations, all parties agreed on a TDA methodology to provide a fair and balanced estimate of the market value of Alberta's standing timber. The TDA data represent the full value of the resource, both because they come from this arm's-length process and because the prices used to develop TDA are from market transactions between unrelated buyers and sellers where each participant is free to decide not to buy or sell.

4.35 <u>Evidence Demonstrating Consistency With Market Principles</u> - Canada submitted information demonstrating that provincial stumpage systems collected more than adequate remuneration and were consistent with market principles. This information established that substantial profits were earned from the provision of timber harvesting rights. Evidence demonstrated, for example, that B.C. received adequate remuneration because it produced a return of 75 per cent of expenditures on its timber harvesting system. Consistent with market principles, this enormous profit on timber harvesting operations demonstrated that harvesters cannot be said to be receiving stumpage for "less than adequate remuneration". The other major producing provinces also showed substantial profits on their stumpage programmes – 35 per cent for Ontario, 67 per cent for Québec, and 25 per cent for Alberta.

4.36 Cost-revenue comparisons provided USDOC with in-country information to evaluate the adequacy of remuneration collected for rights to harvest Crown timber. As USDOC's existing practice and regulations confirm, this information is relevant to USDOC's adequacy of remuneration determinations. This analysis is consistent with the requirement in Article 14(d) that the provision of a good be for "adequate," not "maximum," remuneration. In addition, an analysis of the economics of B.C.'s stumpage system demonstrated that the province's stumpage system is administered consistent with market principles. B.C. stumpage charges are a volumetric levy imposed upon the exercise of previously conferred timber harvesting rights. The economic analysis shows that a profit-maximizing forestland owner would not impose a volumetric charge upon the exercise of those rights. Further, the tenure system imposes costs on tenure holders that they would not bear in a competitive market. Therefore, consistent with market principles, harvesters again cannot be said to be receiving stumpage for "less than adequate remuneration".

4.37 In the FD USDOC rejected "transaction-based" in-country Canadian benchmarks because of alleged "price suppression" allegedly resulting from government involvement in the marketplace. There is no basis for the rejection of in-country benchmarks in the SCM Agreement. Article 14(d) refers to "prevailing" market conditions. In this context, the meaning of "prevailing" is "as they exist". Nothing in the context, object and purpose or negotiating history of the SCM Agreement suggests that the "market conditions" referred to are those of a perfectly competitive market. In US – *Softwood Lumber III* the panel found that even if the alleged "price suppression" existed, this would not permit USDOC to reject in-country benchmarks. The panel concluded that Article 14(d) SCM Agreement did not require that prevailing market conditions be those of an "undistorted" market. It also concluded that USDOC provided no acceptable rationale for rejecting Canadian stumpage prices. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Article 14(d) permitted the rejection of in-country benchmarks because of "price suppression", USDOC's evidence and analysis was clearly inadequate to establish that such distortion existed.

4.38 For these reasons USDOC's rejection of in-country Canadian benchmarks and reliance on "cross-border" US benchmarks is inconsistent with Articles 1.1(b) and 14(d) of the SCM Agreement. The US has therefore imposed countervailing duties in the absence of the required finding of

"subsidy" in violation of Articles 10, 14, 14(d), 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

4.39 Evidence demonstrating no trade advantage - USDOC also had before it substantial evidence demonstrating that the provincial stumpage charges imposed in Canada do not increase the production of logs or lumber or lower their prices, or increase the quantity or lower the prices of lumber exports to the US, in comparison with the outcome in a market in which government is not involved. The SCM Agreement requires the investigating authority to consider the existence of a benefit and adequacy of remuneration in relation to the "prevailing market conditions" for the good in the country of provision. The prevailing market for standing timber is a natural resource market, which is an economic rent market. Rent markets have different characteristics than many other markets. This must be taken into account in making any determination of whether provincial stumpage systems confer a benefit.

4.40 Analyzing benefit in the particular market context under investigation is consistent with panel and Appellate Body interpretations of Article 1.1(b) and the object and purpose of the Agreement, which is to discipline subsidies, as defined in the SCM Agreement, that distort trade. All panel and Appellate Body decisions concerning Article 1.1(b) confirm that the word "benefit" implies a comparison that is *market-based*. As the Appellate Body has stated, this permits identification of any "trade-distorting potential." The analysis of remuneration in relation to prevailing market conditions in this case should therefore include a review of whether provincial stumpage fees or charges are capable of causing trade distortion in downstream markets. USDOC asserted that "the whole point" of the investigation was to "quantify and remedy" alleged distortion of the US market. In reaching these determinations, USDOC by its own admission ignored the economic evidence offered by Had USDOC analyzed, rather than assumed, the existence of trade distortion in the Canada. downstream markets for logs and lumber, it would have found that not only is there no benefit as measured by existing market comparators, but that economic analysis shows that there is no tradedistorting potential from provincial stumpage programmes, because positive stumpage charges neither increase production of logs and lumber nor lower their prices relative to a private competitive market.

4.41 **The FD impermissibly assumes a pass-through of an alleged subsidy.** This case requires an analysis of whether and to what extent alleged upstream subsidies benefited downstream producers. A significant portion of logs is sold by timber harvesters to unrelated lumber producers and other entities at arm's length. In addition, a great number of sales of logs and lumber inputs occur at arm's length between unrelated producers of subject merchandise.

4.42 In the FD, USDOC concluded that no subsidy pass-through analysis of any kind was required because the alleged subsidy is a subsidy "to the production of lumber rather than the production of timber or logs". With respect to producers of remanufactured lumber that do not hold provincial stumpage rights and that purchase lumber from stumpage holders at arm's length, USDOC concluded that as the case was conducted on an aggregate basis, "a review is the appropriate avenue to determine if there are specific companies that do not receive countervailable benefits."

4.43 Under the SCM Agreement, a "direct subsidy" exists where government makes a financial contribution that confers a benefit to the recipient of that contribution. Similarly, an "indirect subsidy" exists where a government "entrusts or directs" a private body to provide a financial contribution that confers a benefit to the recipient. If the recipient of a subsidy enters into transactions with other entities, an investigating authority may not *presume* that those other entities have benefited from the alleged subsidy. An investigating authority must always establish that both elements of the subsidy definition exist. In US - Lead and Bismuth II, the Appellate Body found that an authority must establish that a benefit has been conferred upon the recipient of the alleged subsidy, and may not *irrebuttably presume* that the benefit has been passed through a subsequent transaction. This analysis is even more apt in respect of original determinations where an investigating authority must establish

each element of a subsidy. In transactions that take place in the market and at arm's-length, the applicable presumption is that fair market value has been paid.

4.44 USDOC was required to find that the alleged subsidy to a harvester of timber was passed through to the downstream producer of subject merchandise. USDOC did not provide *any* analysis of *either* requirement of Article 1 in respect of downstream producers. USDOC did not establish that any "financial contribution" by government had been made to lumber producers or remanufacturers in respect of the inputs they purchased at arm's-length. USDOC also did not find that the alleged "benefit" was conferred to lumber producers or remanufacturers through downstream purchases.

4.45 Moreover, there was substantial evidence demonstrating arm's-length transactions between timber harvesters and lumber producers, *and* between lumber producers and remanufacturers, including: (1) In B.C. approximately 24 per cent of the timber from Crown licenses was harvested by companies that did not own sawmills. Similarly, in Ontario approximately 30 per cent of the softwood timber harvested from Crown lands was sold by tenure holders to third parties for processing; (2) At least 18 per cent of the volume of logs harvested in B.C. from Crown lands were purchased at arm's length; and (3) Numerous company exclusions filings demonstrated that arm's-length purchases of logs and lumber were significant. On this basis 230 companies applied for exclusion.

4.46 In *US* – *Softwood Lumber III* the US indicated that it knew that a portion of the logging companies did not own sawmills, and sell their logs in arm's-length transactions. The panel found that the US had conceded that pass-through analysis was required; it found that the US had violated its obligations under the SCM Agreement because USDOC had failed to consider evidence regarding arm's-length transactions and because an authority may not assume that a subsidy provided to producers of the "upstream" input product automatically benefits unrelated producers of downstream products (especially where there is evidence of arm's-length transactions between these entities). In the FD, USDOC ignored these facts and presumed that *all* producers of subject merchandise received countervailable subsidies in *all* cases. USDOC had the data to calculate and correctly deduct from the numerator the alleged benefit incorrectly attributed to arm's-length log and lumber sales. USDOC instead chose to presume the existence of a subsidy arising from such sales, and as a result, overstated the amount of the alleged subsidy (and the subsidy rate).

4.47 USDOC has therefore failed to establish the elements of a subsidy by failing to demonstrate a pass-through of financial contribution and benefit. Accordingly, the US has violated Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

2. Canadian provincial stumpage programmes are not specific to certain enterprises

4.48 USDOC concluded that recipients under provincial stumpage programmes are limited to a group of industries; it found that this factor alone established the programmes as specific in fact. USDOC's finding was based on its definition of the term "group of industries", by which it meant those companies and individuals that use the programme.

4.49 Under Article 2, a subsidy may be determined to be specific to an enterprise, industry or group of enterprises or industries (certain enterprises) either in law or in fact. A subsidy is specific in law where a government expressly limits access to that programme to certain enterprises. Where a subsidy is not specific in law, a Member may still determine that it is specific to certain enterprises based on evidence of the factors listed in Article 2.1(c), subject to consideration of the diversification of economic activities in the jurisdiction and the length of time the programme has been in operation. Where these factors do not indicate that a Member is deliberately limiting access, the programme is not specific. Article 2.4 requires that any specificity determination be "clearly established" on the basis of "positive evidence". This exacting burden of proof requires both reasoned analysis and "positive evidence" supporting the factual conclusion. An investigating authority must therefore

correctly analyze and weigh all evidence of the factors set out in Article 2.1(c), as applied in a given case, in the light of the standard in Article 2.4.

4.50 The term "certain enterprises" is a defined term for the purposes of Article 2: "an enterprise, industry, or group of enterprises or industries". At issue in this case is the meaning of the terms "industry" and in particular "group of... industries". The meaning of "industry" is "[a] particular form or branch of productive labour; a trade, a manufacture". In the context of the WTO Agreement and the SCM Agreement this requires an examination of product-based criteria. Part V of the SCM Agreement provides that the term "domestic industry" "shall ... be interpreted as referring to the domestic producers as a whole of the like products or to those of them whose collective output of the products constitutes a major proportion of the total domestic production of those products ..." [emphasis added]. The term "domestic industry" thus refers to the producers on the basis of "products". The logical inquiry to be undertaken by the investigating authority of an importing Member is therefore whether the parallel foreign industry is subsidized on a specific basis. Accordingly, an "industry" in the sense of Article 2 is properly interpreted to refer to enterprises engaged in the manufacture of similar products. The nature of the output products is also an important link that holds "a group of enterprises or industries" together; in the absence of a productbased identification of industries, no "group of industries" may be found.

4.51 USDOC explained that the label "limited group of wood products industries" identified "pulp and paper mills and the saw mills and remanufacturers which are producing the subject merchandise". In concluding that the alleged benefits of stumpage programmes are limited to those entities specifically authorized to cut timber on Crown lands, USDOC's determination amounts to the statement that "stumpage is specific to those using stumpage", and assumes the ultimate conclusion under the "limited users" factor. USDOC's finding renders the specificity requirement redundant and inutile. This is achieved also by USDOC's use of the entire Canadian economy as a benchmark and finding that the majority of companies and industries in Canada do *not* receive benefits under these programmes. As a result of its circular reasoning, USDOC failed in particular to accurately determine the actual users of stumpage programmes and failed to address the record evidence that established that many enterprises and industries use stumpage programmes. USDOC also failed to analyze the industries that use stumpage programmes, based on the types of enterprises, in order to determine whether they properly constitute a "group of industries".

4.52 Canada submitted significant evidence pertinent to the specificity issue, including voluminous questionnaire responses and expert studies on factual issues relevant to specificity. These studies considered the number and types of industries using stumpage, the types of products produced by stumpage users, and the proportionate distribution of the wood fibre harvested in Canada to various product categories. These studies demonstrated that there were 23 separate classes of industries, producing over 200 products, that used stumpage programmes. They also showed that softwood lumber was not the dominant end use. Many producers of subject merchandise also produce products not subject to the investigation, and other stumpage users include, *inter alia*, producers of pulp and paper products, hardwood products, shakes and shingles, kitchen cabinets, furniture, and sporting gear. Moreover, by arguing that a subsidy programme that does not subsidize the "vast majority of companies and industries" is "specific", USDOC is stating a negative rather than determining the required positive – that the government has deliberately limited access to the programme to certain industries.

4.53 USDOC also failed to analyze whether stumpage programmes were specific in fact within the context of all four factors found in Article 2.1(c). In an analysis under Article 2.1(c), evidence must be analyzed and factors must be weighed in the light of differing explanations. The US has, by its own admission, recognized that it is the inherent characteristics of the alleged good that limit the number of users of the programme, rather than any deliberate government favouritism. In the light of the nature of the forestry resource in question, it is untenable to base a specificity finding on the "limited users" factor alone. To hold otherwise impermissibly merges the tests of Articles 1

(provision of a good) and 2 (government favouritism), by rendering the specificity requirement superfluous where the provision of a natural resource has been found to be a subsidy under Article 1.1.

4.54 The US specificity finding in the FD amounts to an irrebuttable presumption, based on the nature of the subject merchandise and the alleged "good" provided, that the alleged subsidy is specific. A determination of *de facto* specificity under Article 2.1(c) in this case would have required *at a minimum* examination of the other listed factors. Moreover, Article 2.1(c) mandates the consideration of economic diversification. Evidence of economic diversification in the Canadian provinces, and in particular in B.C., greatly reduces the weight to be given to the "limited users" factor in this case. When account is taken of the evidence of the diversity of provincial economies, the correct conclusion under the first factor is that, (1) stumpage programmes are not used only by two or three industries and, to the contrary, (2) stumpage programmes are widely available to more than a limited number of industries. Even if this were not the case, the lack of diversity of provincial economics and the inherent characteristics of stumpage would provide the reason.

3. USDOC's Calculation Methodology Impermissibly Inflates the Rate of the Alleged Subsidy and the Countervailing Duty

4.55 The US imposed countervailing duties in excess of the amount of the alleged subsidy to the subject merchandise. First, USDOC inflated the alleged subsidy rate by adopting an outdated and factually unsupportable "national" factor for converting US log volume measurements into Canadian log measurements in order to determine comparison prices for its illegal cross-border analysis. Second, USDOC calculated the total alleged benefit based on all Crown logs entering sawmills, rather than basing the alleged benefit on the log volume (less than 40 per cent of the total) that becomes softwood lumber, and then allocated that alleged benefit over the sales value of only certain products produced from the logs. The effect, again, was to overstate the alleged subsidy. Third, USDOC inflated the duty rate by understating the sales value of subject merchandise; it purported to calculate the subsidy rate on a "final mill" basis (including sales of remanufacturers), but contrary to the record evidence, devised a final mill sales estimate that largely excluded such sales. All of these actions inflated the amount of the alleged subsidy, thereby violating the SCM Agreement.

4.56 Countervailing duties may not be imposed in an amount that exceeds the subsidy. Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 establish this fundamental discipline on countervailing duties. A countervailing duty so imposed also violates Articles 10 and 32.1, which provide that a countervailing duty may only be imposed in accordance with the provisions of the SCM Agreement and GATT 1994.

4. Conduct of the Investigation

4.57 In conducting the investigation, the US failed to provide the interested parties with critical information and evidence, failed to give notice of its use of information highly relevant to its determination, and failed to give interested parties an opportunity to present evidence, make presentations, and otherwise defend their interests. In imposing countervailing duties pursuant to an investigation that did not conform with Articles 12.1, 12.3 and 12.8 of the SCM Agreement, the US violated Articles 10 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement.

4.58 As noted, in its illegal cross-border comparisons, USDOC used prices for short-term cutting rights on US state lands as the benchmarks against which to compare Canadian provincial stumpage charges, making the choice of a particular comparator state central to the determination of an alleged provincial subsidy. Yet in the cases of Alberta and Saskatchewan, USDOC switched the comparator state from Montana in the PD to Minnesota in the FD, without any notice to interested parties or opportunity to provide evidence or argument concerning the inappropriateness of the Minnesota benchmark. As the *Guatemala – Cement II* panel reasoned, "[d]isclosure of the 'essential facts'

forming the basis of a preliminary determination is clearly inadequate in circumstances where the factual basis of the provisional measure is significantly different from the factual basis of the definitive measure."

4.59 Similarly, USDOC failed to give interested parties the opportunity to present full evidence and arguments concerning information that was highly relevant to the calculation of the US benchmark price applied to Québec. Specifically, USDOC requested and obtained timely information from the Maine Forest Products Council (MFPC), yet withheld it from the record until Quebec formally demanded its production. USDOC then characterized the MFPC information as "untimely", yet subsequently accepted and relied upon two reports submitted by the petitioner to reject the MFPC information. Interested parties were given no opportunity to rebut the petitioner's reports.

5. Initiation of the *Lumber IV* Investigation

4.60 USDOC initiated the *Lumber IV* investigation, based on a finding that 67 per cent of the US softwood lumber producing industry supported the petition. Softwood lumber producers that brought or supported the petition are eligible to receive cash payments under the *Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act of 2000 (Byrd Amendment)* for supporting the petition. Counsel for the petitioner, the Coalition for Fair Lumber Imports Executive Committee, used the prospect of *Byrd Amendment* payments as inducement to garner support for the petition. The investigation was therefore initiated on the basis of domestic producer support that was actively solicited by promise and prospect of a direct payment by the US government.

4.61 Article 11.4 requires Members to conduct an "examination" of the degree of support for an application and to "determine", on the basis of that examination, that the application has been made by or on behalf of the domestic industry. The words "determine" and "examination" denote, singly and collectively, an active consideration, assessment or weighing of evidence that results in a conclusion. This plain reading of the words is further confirmed by the context. In addition to "quantitative thresholds", Article 11 also provides that the original complaint of alleged injury to an industry must contain evidence that has to be substantiated. The obligation under 11.4 is therefore not simply on the applicants to present evidence of domestic industry support, but also on the investigating authority to conduct an objective determination and examination of the level of that support. The panel in US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment) described the object and purpose of Article 11.4 as requiring an authority to examine the degree of support which exists for an application and to determine whether the application was thus filed by or on behalf of the domestic industry.

If Article 11.4 is to have any meaning, the "examination" of the degree of support for the 4.62 petition and determination that the petition was made by or on behalf of the domestic industry must be objective and impartial. The countervailing duty order resulting from the *Lumber IV* investigation is subject to the Byrd Amendment. As payments by the US under the Byrd Amendment induce domestic producers to support such petitions, the US is precluded from making an objective and impartial examination and determination of the level of support among domestic producers for such petitions. This is consistent with the finding of the panel in US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment). That panel found that the low costs of supporting a petition coupled with the strong likelihood that all producers would feel obliged to keep open their eligibility for offset payments would mean that the vast majority of petitions would achieve the required level of support. The panel concluded that by requiring support for the petition as a prerequisite for receiving offset payments, the CDSOA in effect mandates domestic producers to support the application and renders the threshold test of Article 11.4 meaningless. Since the initiation of Lumber IV is inconsistent with Article 11.4, the US has, as a consequence, imposed countervailing measures in violation of Articles 10 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement.

6. Administrative Reviews

4.63 Canada raised certain questions concerning the operation of US law on administrative reviews in the course of consultations. In particular, Canada asked whether individual producers and exporters may request and receive company-specific administrative reviews under US law. In its panel request, Canada claimed US law relating to administrative reviews violated Articles 10, 19.3, 19.4, 21.1, 21.2 and 32.1 of the Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. Canada raised similar issues in the US – Softwood Lumber III case. In that proceeding, the US took issue with Canada's characterization of its law and stated that it had the discretion to conduct company-specific administrative reviews. The panel in US – Softwood Lumber III made findings in this regard substantially endorsing the US explanation of the source and extent of USDOC's discretion. The US confirmed these statements in the consultations held for this case. In the light of the foregoing statements and findings, it is Canada's understanding that the US possesses and will use discretion in the conduct of administrative reviews in a WTO-consistent manner. Canada reserves the right to advance additional arguments in respect of these claims, if its understanding of the US position is incorrect.

B. FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES

4.64 The following summarizes the United States' arguments in its first written submission.

1. Introduction

4.65 The recurring theme of Canada's case is succinctly presented in its assertion that no countervailing duties may be imposed on government programmes "that are adopted in the context of a Member's broader economic and social policy framework, such as the sustainable exploitation of natural resources." Canada's assertion rings hollow when compared to the obligations undertaken by Members in the SCM Agreement.

4.66 Over 60 per cent of Canada's subsidized lumber is exported to the US. The countervailing duty provisions of the SCM are designed to ensure that, when Canada chooses to subsidize the production of lumber in the interest of social policy, the US lumber industry is not required to pay the price. The United States' right to impose countervailing duties to offset the subsidy on billions of dollars of injurious imports of Canadian lumber is protected in the SCM and, therefore, should not be denied.

2. Standard Of Review

4.67 Article 11 of the DSU sets forth the standard of review that applies to this case. Article 11 requires a panel to make an objective assessment of the matter before it and determine whether the identified measure is consistent with the provisions of the WTO agreement upon which the claim is based. In that regard, it is important to bear in mind that panels cannot add to or diminish the rights and obligations provided in the SCM or the GATT 1994. It is also well settled that a panel must not conduct a *de novo* review of the evidence nor substitute its judgment for that of the competent authority.

3. Argument

(a) Canada Bears the Burden of Proving Its Claim

4.68 The complainant in a WTO dispute bears the burden of proof. This means, as an initial matter, that Canada, as the complainant, bears the burden of coming forward with evidence and argument that establish a *prima facie* case of a violation. It also means that, if the balance of evidence

is inconclusive with respect to a particular claim, Canada must be held to have failed to establish that claim.

- (b) The Final Countervailing Duty Determination Is Consistent with the SCM
- *(i)* USDOC Properly Determined That Provincial Stumpage Programmes Constitute a *"Financial Contribution"*

Timber Is a Good within Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM

4.69 Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) states that a financial contribution shall be deemed to exist where the government "provides goods or services other than general infrastructure." The SCM does not specifically define the meaning of "provides" or "goods." The Panel therefore should look to the ordinary meaning of these terms. The dictionary definition that Canada itself cites explicitly defines the term "goods" as encompassing all "property or possessions," including "growing crops, and other identified things to be severed from real property." "Goods" is similarly defined under Canadian law. Through their tenure systems, the Canadian provinces provide an "identified thing to be severed from real property," i.e., timber.

4.70 Canada makes the extraordinary contention that a good must be a tradeable product. Canada bases this conclusion on logically flawed arguments, and ignores the basic principles of treaty interpretation reflected in Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties*. Canada asks the Panel to infer, from the use of the phrase "imported goods" in Article 3.1(b) of the SCM and the word "products" in Parts III and V of the SCM Agreement, that "goods" can only mean traded goods that fall within the GATT 1994 Article II schedules. The fact that "products" are goods and "imported goods" are goods does not, however, logically give rise to the inference that nothing else can come within the meaning of "goods."

Provincial Tenures "Provide" Timber

4.71 Canada argues that provincial governments are not providing timber to lumber producers, but rather are merely granting certain property rights in the timber: the right of access to, or the right to harvest, the timber. According to the *New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary*, however, "provides" means to "make available" in addition to "supply or furnish for use." Thus, even if provincial tenures are viewed as simply providing the right to access or harvest the timber rather than providing the timber itself, such a provision would still constitute the provision of a good within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM because the government is making the timber available to lumber producers.

4.72 A review of the facts further demonstrates that Canada is attempting to elevate form over substance. USDOC found, and the US – Softwood Lumber III panel agreed,⁶ that from the tenure holder's point of view, there is no difference between the government granting a right to harvest timber and the government actually supplying the timber through the holder's exercise of this right. In fact, the only way to provide standing timber (the good in question) is by providing the right to harvest the timber. It should be beyond dispute that when a government gives a company the right to take a good, whether it is the right to take widgets from a government warehouse or timber from government land, the government is "providing" that good within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

⁶ See Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.17.

(ii) The United States Properly Determined That Provincial Stumpage Programmes Provide a Benefit

A Benefit Is Something More Favorable Than the Market Would Provide Absent the Financial Contribution

4.73 The US, having properly determined that a financial contribution was provided to Canadian softwood lumber producers, was required to determine whether a benefit was "thereby conferred" within the meaning of Article 1.1(b) of the SCM Agreement. The SCM Agreement does not define the term "benefit." The meaning of the term as used in Article 1.1(b) has, however, been explored by previous WTO panels and the Appellate Body, which have established that a benefit is something better than the market would otherwise provide, absent the financial contribution, and that "the 'market' to which reference must be made is the *commercial* market, i.e., a market undistorted by government intervention."⁷

<u>Comparing the Government's Price for a Good to the Fair Market Value of the Good in the Country</u> of Provision Is Consistent with Article 14(d) of the SCM

4.74 Article 14 of the SCM contains guidelines for calculating a subsidy benefit, providing that "the provision of goods or services . . . by a government shall not be considered as conferring a benefit unless the provision is made for less than adequate remuneration." "Adequate remuneration" is not defined in the text of the SCM Agreement. In the context of Article 14(d), however, "adequate" remuneration must mean remuneration that is sufficient to eliminate any benefit. As discussed above, a benefit is something more favorable than would otherwise be available in the commercial market, i.e., fair market value. Logically, therefore, "adequate" remuneration is fair market value. Article 14(d) therefore provides that the benefit should be measured by comparing the government's price for goods or services with the fair market value of the goods or services in the country of provision.

4.75 The issue is what evidence may be used to establish that fair market value pursuant to the guidance in Article 14(d) of the SCM that adequate remuneration must be measured "in relation to prevailing market conditions . . . in the country of provision." Article 14(d) does not address the type of evidence to be used in evaluating the question of benefit. Observed prices in Canada were either unavailable or unreliable indicators of fair market value. Thus, after a thorough analysis to ensure comparability, the US used market prices for timber from the northern US border states as the starting point for the calculation of fair market benchmarks for each of the provinces, then analyzed the prevailing market conditions in Canada (e.g., obligations for road building, silviculture, and fire and disease protection) and adjusted the benchmark calculation accordingly to arrive at the fair market value of timber *in Canada*.

4.76 Canada itself acknowledged that price data from sources outside of the country of provision can be used as the basis for assessing fair market value in the country of provision. The issue at the heart of Canada's complaint is thus not whether Article 14(d) precludes the use of "out of country" prices (e.g., import prices) to assess fair market value in the country of provision. Rather, the issues at the heart of Canada's claim are questions of fact: (1) did the US have a reasonable basis to reject private prices in Canada as a basis for assessing fair market value; and (2) could price data for comparable timber in the northern United States provide a reasonable factual basis for assessing the fair market value of timber in Canada. As discussed below, the answer to both inquiries is yes; therefore, Canada's claim must fail.

⁷ Panel Report, *Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada II)*, para. 5.29 (emphasis in original).

Private Prices in Canada Did Not Provide a Reliable Basis to Determine Fair Market Value

4.77 As noted above, the Appellate Body and previous WTO panels have found that "the marketplace provides an appropriate basis for comparison"⁸ and that "the 'market' to which reference must be made is the *commercial* market, i.e., a market undistorted by government intervention."⁹ Prices suppressed by the government's financial contribution do not represent a commercial market price against which a benefit can be measured because they do not represent a "market undistorted by government intervention."

4.78 In the present case, the US sought evidence on non-government prices for Canadian timber. The record evidence demonstrates, however, that the limited non-government price data submitted by the Canadian parties was inadequate and that such prices were significantly affected by the financial contribution itself, i.e., the supply of provincial government timber. These observed prices were therefore simply uninformative of adequate remuneration, i.e., fair market value.

<u>Prices for Comparable Timber in Northern US States, Properly Adjusted, Provide a Reasonable Basis</u> for Assessing the Fair Market Value of Timber in Canada

4.79 As discussed above, there was no appropriate market price data from Canadian sources on which to base a fair market value assessment. Canada's claims notwithstanding, starting with prices for comparable timber of the same species immediately across the border and adjusting those prices, as appropriate, for provincial market conditions is a reasonable basis to assess the fair market value of timber in Canada. An examination of the underlying facts and the assessment performed by the US in this case demonstrates this point.

4.80 It is undisputed that the North American market for lumber is highly integrated. Canada, in fact, exports over 60 per cent of its softwood lumber to the US. US and Canadian timber are therefore supplying the same North American demand for lumber products. Thus, because of the derived nature of timber prices, market prices for US timber are a logical and reasonable starting point for an assessment of the fair market value of Canadian timber. US timber is also commercially available to lumber producers in Canada. Canada does not contest the fact that Canadian mills actually do purchase US timber – both on the stump and as logs – and consume it in their mills in Canada.

4.81 To compensate for any differences in species mix, the US calculated species-specific fair market value benchmarks. The US also used averages – an average, species-specific fair market value benchmark for each province and an average administered price for each province – to account for other differences that may affect the value of specific stands of timber. The use of averages is an accepted and widespread aspect of Canadian stumpage systems. In addition, the US made appropriate adjustments to the US price data to arrive at an assessment of the fair market value of timber in Canada. As evidenced in the Final Determination,¹⁰ the US conducted a thorough analysis of the conditions of sale in Canada and made necessary adjustments for obligations such as road building and silviculture that are conditions of sale in Canada. The result was a reasonable assessment of the fair market value of timber in Canada that is entirely consistent with Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement.

⁸ Appellate Body Report, *Canada – Aircraft*, para. 157.

⁹ Panel Report, *Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada II)*, para. 5.29 (emphasis in original).

 ¹⁰ See Notice of Final Affirmative Countervailing Duty Determination and Final Negative Critical Circumstances Determination: Certain Softwood Lumber Products From Canada, 67 Fed. Reg. 15545 (2 April 2002) ("Final Determination") (US - 2).

The SCM Does Not Define "Benefit" in Terms of Increased Output or Lower Prices for the Subject Merchandise and Does Not Create an Exception for Natural Resource Inputs

4.82 Without any justification in the text of the WTO agreements, Canada asserts that the Panel should graft onto the SCM a special rule for financial contributions that take the form of a government provision of a natural resource that is fixed in supply. According to Canada, the conditions that prevail in such a market are such that no failure by the government to collect adequate remuneration can result in increased output or have an adverse trade impact. Thus, Canada claims that "any benefit analysis should assess" the trade effects of the subsidy.

4.83 This argument is completely without foundation in the SCM Agreement. Article 14, which is titled "Calculation of the Amount of a Subsidy in Terms of the Benefit to the Recipient," provides that the existence of a benefit to the recipient, not the existence of demonstrable trade effects, is determinative of whether a benefit exists for purposes of Article 1.1. Nothing in Article 14 describes benefit in terms of the effect on the output of the recipient. If the government makes a financial contribution, and the recipient obtains a benefit, then the definition of a subsidy in the SCM Agreement is fulfilled. What Canada asserts "should" be added to this definition cannot supersede the actual text of the SCM Agreement.

(iii) The United States Calculated the Subsidy Rate in a Manner Consistent with the SCM and GATT 1994

4.84 In industries, such as softwood lumber, with an extremely large number of producers, it is not feasible, in an investigation, to examine the subsidies received by each individual producer. As reflected in Article 19.3 of the SCM Agreement, Members are accorded the flexibility to conduct investigations other than on a company-specific basis. In this case, rather than investigate specific producers, the US examined the government subsidy programmes at issue and, based on data supplied by the provincial and federal governments, calculated the aggregate amount of all subsidies to producers of the subject merchandise (the numerator). The US then allocated the aggregate subsidies over all sales of merchandise that benefitted from the subsidies (the denominator).

4.85 This type of aggregate subsidy investigation is entirely consistent with the SCM Agreement, and Canada does not argue to the contrary. Rather, Canada argues that the manner in which the US calculated the countervailing duty is inconsistent with Articles 19.1 and 19.4 of the SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. Canada has failed, however, to make a *prima facie* case.

4.86 Article 19.1 of the SCM requires a final determination of the amount of the subsidy and a final determination of injury as pre-conditions to the imposition of a countervailing duty. Article 19.1 does not, however, establish any requirements concerning how a subsidy or injury is to be determined. Those obligations are found elsewhere in the SCM Agreement.

4.87 Article 19.4 of the SCM establishes an upper limit on the amount of the countervailing duty that may be levied, i.e., the amount of the subsidy found to exist. The issue addressed by Article 19.4 expressly is the *levying* of duties *after* a subsidy has been "found to exist." The sole calculation requirement in Article 19.4 is a requirement to calculate the subsidy on a per-unit basis. Article 19.4 does not establish any other requirements concerning how the subsidy is to be calculated.¹¹ Canada, in fact, concedes that its claim under Article 19.4 is dependent upon the existence of an inconsistency with some other provision of the SCM that imposes obligations with respect to the subsidy calculation.

¹¹ Similarly, Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 establishes that the amount of the subsidy found is the upper limit on the amount of the countervailing duty that may be levied. Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 does not address how the subsidy is to be calculated.

4.88 Article 19.3 of the SCM establishes two obligations: (1) when countervailing duties are "imposed," they must be "levied" on a non-discriminatory basis; and (2) when an uninvestigated exporter is "subject to" countervailing duties, the exporter is entitled to an expedited review to establish an individual countervailing duty rate. Nothing in the text of Article 19.3 establishes any obligations concerning the methodology used to calculate the amount of the subsidy, either in the aggregate or with respect to a specific exporter.

4.89 Thus, while other provisions of the SCM contain obligations regarding the calculation of the benefit, Canada has failed to identify any such obligations in Article 19 or GATT 1994 in support of its claims concerning the subsidy calculation. It has, therefore, failed to establish a *prima facie* case of a violation.

4.90 Furthermore, to the extent Canada's claims relate to factual findings used to support the US methodology, the Panel may, of course, make an objective assessment of the facts. The Panel is not, however, charged with conducting a *de novo* review of the facts. Rather the Panel is to determine whether the US "evaluated *all relevant factors*, and . . . provided a *reasoned and adequate explanation* of how the facts support [its] determination."¹² The US findings of facts in this case were well supported and well reasoned.

(iv) Canadian Provincial Stumpage Subsidies Are Specific within the Meaning of the SCM

4.91 Under the SCM Agreement, a subsidy "shall be deemed to exist" where "there is a financial contribution by a government or any public body within the territory of a Member" and a benefit is thereby conferred. Pursuant to Article 1.2 of the SCM Agreement, a programme that otherwise meets the definition of a subsidy shall be subject to countervailing measures if it is "specific" within the meaning of Article 2 of the SCM Agreement. Article 2.1 of the SCM Agreement provides three principles that must be applied to determine whether a subsidy is specific to "an enterprise or industry or group of enterprises or industries" — referred to collectively by the SCM Agreement as "certain enterprises" — within the jurisdiction of the granting authority.

4.92 First, a subsidy is specific as a matter of law if the granting authority *explicitly* limits access to a subsidy to certain enterprises. Second, a subsidy is *not* specific as a matter of law where the granting authority establishes objective criteria or conditions governing eligibility for, and the amount of, a subsidy, provided that eligibility is automatic and the criteria or conditions are strictly adhered to. Third, even where the law under which the granting authority operates does not appear to create a *de jure* specific subsidy under the first two steps of the analysis, Article 2.1(c) of the SCM provides that other factors may be considered to determine if the subsidy is, *in fact*, specific. Thus, Article 2.1(c) establishes that, even if a subsidy has the "appearance" of being widely available throughout an economy, it may nevertheless be specific if, as a matter of fact, the subsidy is used only or predominantly or disproportionately by a limited number of certain enterprises.

4.93 The US acted consistently with its obligations under the SCM in finding that Canada's provincial stumpage programmes are specific. The subsidy at issue in this case is the provision of Crown timber to lumber manufacturers at below-market prices. Thus, the proper inquiry under Article 2.1(c) of the SCM is whether the actual recipients of Crown timber, whether considered on an enterprise, industry, or group basis, are limited.

4.94 The record clearly demonstrates that provincial stumpage subsidy programmes were used by a "limited number of certain enterprises" within the meaning of Article 2.1(c). The SCM does not define the term "limited number." As a factual matter, USDOC found that stumpage subsidy programmes were used by a single group of industries, comprised of pulp and paper mills, and the

¹² Appellate Body Report, US – Lamb, para.103.

saw mills and remanufacturers that produce the subject merchandise. Such a small number of users would count as "limited" by any reasonable definition.

Canada does not deny that there are no recipients of timber outside of the lumber and pulp 4.95 and paper industries. Instead, it attempts to redefine the specificity test. Canada would have this Panel ignore the plain language of the SCM Agreement, and instead establish obligations and requirements that exist nowhere in the SCM Agreement. First, Canada attempts to read an intent requirement into the SCM Agreement, notwithstanding that nothing in the text requires any findings as to the granting authority's intent to limit a subsidy. To the contrary, the very purpose of Article 2.1(c) is to let the facts speak for themselves. Article 2.1(c) refers simply to whether a limited number of enterprises use a subsidy, not why that is so. Next, without any foundation in the SCM Agreement, Canada claims that subsidies are not specific if they are "adopted in the context of a Member's broader economic and social policy framework, such as the sustainable exploitation of natural resources." A "policy" exception would, however, obliterate the specificity requirement to the extent that all subsidies fall within some broader social or economic policy framework. Finally, Canada seeks to create an exception to Article 2 that would explain away a finding of specificity where "the *inherent characteristics* of the alleged good limit the number of users of the programme, rather than any deliberate government favouritism." However, the "inherent characteristics" of the subsidized good are also not a factor under Article 2.1. The fact that a subsidized input has economic utility for a limited number of potential recipients does not and cannot exempt it from the disciplines of the SCM Agreement.

4.96 Canada also claims that the US undercounted the number of industries that used stumpage subsidies because it used an improper definition of the word "industry." Canada seeks to constrict the natural meaning of "industry" such that an industry would be identified not by the general class of products it produces, but by a particular product or narrow set of products. Canada further claims that a "group of industries" is similarly restricted to individual members that make similar products. There is absolutely no basis in the text, or logic, for Canada's argument. Canada's reading contradicts the ordinary meaning of the word "group," which in the context of Article 2.1 plainly and simply means "one or more" enterprises or industries; it does not require that all of its members be identical, or even similar, to be called a group.

4.97 The Panel should likewise reject Canada's argument that the term "domestic industry," as defined in Article 16.1 of the SCM Agreement, forms the context for understanding what is meant by "industry" in Article 2.1. Article 16.1 defines "domestic industry" within the context of the determination of the domestic "like product," whereas specificity determinations under Article 2 are not limited to particular "like products." There is no logical connection between defining the domestic industry that is injured by a specific imported product and determining whether a subsidy is limited to certain enterprises or industries.

4.98 Finally, the US explicitly found that "the subsidies provided by the[] stumpage programmes are not 'broadly available and widely used.' *The vast majority of companies and industries in Canada does not receive benefits under these programmes.*"¹³ No matter how Canada attempts to subdivide or redefine the industries that received the subsidy, the simple fact remains that the Canadian economy as a whole and each of the provincial economies are large and diversified, and provincial stumpage programmes are used by a single group of forest product industries within those diverse economies. Canada's claims with respect to the economic diversification provisions of Article 2.1(c) therefore should be rejected by the Panel.

¹³ Issues and Decision Memorandum: Final Results of the Countervailing Duty Investigation of Certain Softwood Lumber Products from Canada, 52 (emphasis added) (21 March 2002) (CDA-1).

(c) The Conduct of This Investigation Was Consistent with the Obligations of Article 12 of the SCM

4.99 The US conducted this investigation in full compliance with the obligations in Article 12 of the SCM Agreement. The US ensured that all parties were given notice of the information it required for the investigation, had ample opportunity to submit relevant information, had access to all information submitted to the US during the course of the investigation, and were informed of the essential facts under consideration. The US thus ensured that all interested parties had ample opportunity to defend their interests. Neither of Canada's two claims of error bears scrutiny under the facts of record.

4.100 The US fully complied with Articles 12.1, 12.3, and 12.8 of the SCM Agreement with regard to the selection of the benchmark for the stumpage programmes of Alberta and Saskatchewan. Consistent with Article 12.1, all interested parties were informed that the US required information on the US northern border states in order to choose appropriate benchmarks for the Canadian stumpage programmes. Because all information submitted to the US was actually served on all of the interested parties participating in the investigation, the US procedures were consistent with Article 12.3. Because the Preliminary Determination¹⁴ announced that the United States was using US northern border states as the benchmarks for the Canadian stumpage programmes, set forth the criteria the US used in selecting the benchmarks, identified Minnesota as one alternative USDOC might use, and because all information submitted to the US regarding Minnesota was provided to all of the interested parties, the US informed the interested parties of the "essential facts under consideration" and therefore acted consistently with Article 12.8.

4.101 The US conduct was also in full compliance with the SCM with regard to the Maine Forest Products Council ("MFPC") letter. The US provided copies of the MFPC letter to all interested parties and afforded them the opportunity to submit information "that clarifies, corrects or rebuts" the information contained in that letter. By providing copies of the letter to all of the interested parties, the US ensured that it met the requirements of Article 12.1. Moreover, the opportunities to comment on and rebut the information more than met the requirements of Article 12.3. Beyond the requirements of Article 12.8, the US specifically identified the information contained in the MFPC letter as "important to certain issues in the proceeding, and relate[d] to an ongoing exchange of expert advice on a technical matter." The US, therefore, informed the interested parties that the information in the MFPC letter was part of the "essential facts under consideration," and specifically provided them with the opportunity to use this information in the presentation of their case, or to submit additional information to clarify, correct, or rebut this information. Thus, the disclosure took place in sufficient time for parties to defend their interests.

(d) The United States Initiated the Softwood Lumber Investigation Based on Adequate Domestic Industry Support Consistent with the Requirements of Article 11.4 of the SCM

4.102 The softwood lumber petition contained uncontested evidence establishing that US softwood lumber producers representing 67 per cent of total US softwood lumber production supported the petition. That level of industry support unquestionably satisfies the criteria in Article 11.4 of the SCM Agreement. Canada does not contest this fact.

4.103 Canada is not challenging the provisions of US law governing industry support, but rather the specific factual determination of industry support in this case. Nevertheless, the sole argument presented by Canada is the unsubstantiated claim that the very existence of the Continued Dumping

¹⁴ Notice of Preliminary Affirmative Countervailing Duty Determinations, Preliminary Affirmative Critical Circumstances Determination, and Alignment of Final Countervailing Duty Determination with Final Antidumping Duty Determination: Certain Softwood Lumber Products from Canada, 66 Fed. Reg. 43186 (17 August 2001) (CDA-20) ("Preliminary Determination").

Subsidy Offset Act of 2002 induced support for the petition, thereby precluding an objective determination of industry support. In effect, Canada would inject a requirement into the SCM Agreement that investigating authorities examine the motives of prospective petitioners. In US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment), however, the Appellate Body unequivocally rejected this argument. Canada's claim is therefore without any support in the text of Article 11.4 or the facts of record.

4. Conclusion

- 4.104 Thus, the United States requests that the Panel reject Canada's claims in their entirety.
- C. FIRST ORAL STATEMENT OF CANADA
- 4.105 The following summarizes Canada's arguments in its first oral statement.

1. Financial Contribution

4.106 "Stumpage" refers to the right of a harvester to enter into a forest owned by a province, select a tree and harvest it. Provincial governments transfer stumpage to harvesters through tenure agreements or licences. Timber refers to the standing tree. Harvesters cut down timber and process it into logs that are processed further to produce softwood lumber and a wide variety of other products. Lumber and certain products manufactured from lumber are the subject merchandise. Lumber and logs, which are physical, tradable items, are goods. Standing trees and timber-harvesting rights are not tradable or physical items; they are not goods. The fact that from each of these rights a good may be produced does not make the right a good in itself.

4.107 In general, the provinces own forests and trees and enter into tenure or licence agreements to transfer to private persons the right to harvest trees. In return for this right, these agreements require tree harvesters to undertake a broad range of forest management responsibilities and significant inkind costs, as well as the payment of stumpage fees upon harvest.

4.108 At issue in this case, is the interpretation of the phrase "provision of goods" in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii). The plain meaning of the word "goods" is movable, tangible personal property. In ordinary usage the term "goods" does not cover intangibles, such as intellectual property rights, or real property interests. "Goods" does not include all property, or everything that has economic value or is an economic resource.

4.109 This plain meaning of "goods" is further supported by the *context* of this term. Nothing in the WTO Agreement justifies interpreting "goods" to encompass everything of economic value. Equally, nothing in the *object and purpose* of the SCM Agreement requires this Panel to interpret the word "goods" as anything other than its ordinary meaning. As the panel in *United States – Export Restraints* noted, the SCM Agreement regulates *certain* government actions, but not others. The *objective* of the SCM Agreement in general and Article 1 in particular, was not to govern all transfers of economic resources by a government.

4.110 As a matter of law, "goods" are movable personal property; for the purposes of the WTO Agreement, they are tradable items that are capable of bearing a tariff classification.

4.111 In the facts of this case, timber harvesting rights are intangible real property interests. As such, they do not fall under the "provision of goods" heading of Article 1.1(a)(1). The only way to fit the rights in question, or indeed standing trees, into the term "goods" is to suggest that the term encompasses all a person's legal rights of whatever description. The WTO Agreement does not support this proposition.

4.112 A right to harvest standing timber cannot bear a tariff classification, as it cannot be traded across borders. The transfer of stumpage rights does not constitute the provision of goods.

2. Benefit

4.113 In the CVD FD, USDOC compared provincial stumpage charges with stumpage prices on selected lands in its own territory. USDOC found US prices to be higher and concluded that the stumpage charges conferred a benefit through this cross-border comparison.

4.114 This approach to determining and measuring benefit violates the SCM Agreement. The plain meaning Article 14(d) requires that benefit must be determined and measured on the basis of prevailing market conditions in the country of provision. This is a *legal* issue. It is not a factual debate.

4.115 Canada's position is based on the ordinary meaning of Article 14(d), which provides that: "[A]dequacy of remuneration *shall* be determined in relation to *prevailing market conditions* for the good ... *in the country of provision*..."[emphasis added]. Nothing in the context, object and purpose or the negotiating history of Article 14 permits reading "in" as anything other than "in". As the panel in *US* – *Softwood Lumber III* found: "Article 14 (d) does not just refer to "market conditions" in general, but explicitly to those prevailing "in the country of provision" of the good."

4.116 Article 14(d) requires the use of "prevailing market conditions ... in the country of provision" to determine adequacy of remuneration. The ordinary meaning of the term "prevailing" is "as they exist". This requirement cannot be avoided by interpreting "in relation to" to mean "taking account of".

4.117 The SCM Agreement does not provide an authority with the discretion to reject in-country benchmarks. Instead, Article 14(d) requires the use of "prevailing market conditions ... in the country of provision". Notwithstanding this requirement, USDOC rejected in-country benchmarks arguing that government involvement allegedly suppresses private market prices making them unusable.

4.118 The US argues that (1) the information submitted was "limited" and that (2) the "observed prices were simply uninformative of adequate remuneration" because they were "significantly affected by the financial contribution itself." Both arguments are without merit.

4.119 First, there is no question that USDOC had before it extensive evidence regarding the prevailing market conditions in Québec, Ontario, Alberta and BC. This evidence was not "limited". Canada also submitted information demonstrating that stumpage systems are operated in a manner consistent with market principles. This information showed that all of the provinces were making substantial profits on the management of their forests.

4.120 Second, the SCM Agreement does not permit dispensing with prevailing market benchmarks because of "price suppression". This was confirmed by the panel US – Softwood Lumber III. Moreover, the US did no analysis to arrive at the conclusion that price suppression existed.

4.121 The United States' most recent attempt to justify its cross-border comparisons consists of an entirely new argument that relies on word substitutions, and on so called "logic" to replace the law. The argument – that Article 14(d) requires is that the "fair market value" ("FMV") of timber in Canada is the appropriate benchmark for measuring the benefit – is *wholly new*. It is found nowhere in the Preliminary or Final Determinations, US law or in the SCM Agreement.

4.122 The argument is the latest in a series of changing positions that the US has taken over the course of this dispute. In US – Softwood Lumber III, the US moved from arguing "in" means "out" to

arguing "out" really means "in". In anther attempt to argue for the use of US prices as an appropriate benchmark the US again asserts that "out" really means "in" – but this time with several twists.

4.123 The US begins by arguing that a benefit determination is a "but for" analysis that involves comparing the government's price for a good with what the price for that good would have been absent the financial contribution. In a provision of goods context, however, the marketplace is the prevailing market as it exists. The panel in US – *Softwood Lumber III* confirmed this interpretation.

4.124 Building on this erroneous understanding of "benefit", the US turns to Article 14(d) itself and argues that: "[A] benefit is something more favorable than would otherwise be available in the commercial market, i.e., fair market value. Logically, therefore, "adequate" remuneration is fair market value." It then argues that it had to look elsewhere for prices to calculate FMV benchmarks because prevailing market conditions in Canada are "unreliable indicators" of FMV. In doing so it turns Article 14(d) into a provision that measures adequacy of remuneration by comparing the government price to a constructed FMV, rather than to in-country prevailing market conditions.

4.125 In a final effort to refashion the requirements for a determination of "adequate remuneration", the US asserts that FMV "must" be determined "in relation to" "conditions of sale". The replacement of "*prevailing market conditions*" by "*conditions of sale*", is just another attempt by the US to again evade the plain meaning of "prevailing" which is "as they exist". The text of the agreement demands a determination that is grounded in existing Canadian market factors, not an adjustment to US prices based on an erroneous interpretation of "conditions of sale".

4.126 Interwoven through this is the now familiar argument that "in relation to" means "taking account of." Although the reasons for the US argument have changed, Canada's response is the same. The ordinary meaning of "in relation to" is "on the basis of". It is not "taking account of".

4.127 These word substitutions allow the US to interpret Article 14(d) as if it read: The fair market value shall be determined using a benchmark derived from a market undistorted by government intervention, taking account of conditions of sale for the good ... in the country of provision.

4.128 According to the US, this metamorphosis is so compelling that there is "no dispute" about any of it. Every step of this so-called "logic" is in dispute. No amount of word substitution can change the fact that Article 14(d) requires a determination of adequacy of remuneration using in-country prevailing market conditions.

4.129 USDOC also improperly rejected economic analysis that demonstrates that stumpage charges provide no trade advantage to lumber producers or harvesters. USDOC explained in its CVD FD that its task was to "quantify and remedy" distortion of the US market that was at "the heart of this inquiry". In response, Canada provided USDOC with detailed economic evidence that demonstrated that stumpage programmes do not cause trade distortion.

4.130 USDOC then claimed that it could not examine this evidence because of its "complexity". The US now contradicts its own investigating authority by claiming that the evidence is not relevant to a "benefit" determination and that Canada is attempting to "graft" a special rule onto the SCM Agreement. Canada is doing no such thing. Rather, Canada provided evidence to USDOC regarding an issue that USDOC itself stated was central to this case.

4.131 Any benefit determination relating to stumpage systems must take into account the fact that the market in this case is a rent market. This approach is consistent with panel and Appellate Body interpretations of Article 1.1(b) and the object and purpose of the Agreement. The Appellate Body has confirmed that the word "benefit" implies a comparison that is *market-based* and stated that this allows for identification of any "trade-distorting potential." As such, the analysis of remuneration in

relation to prevailing market conditions in this case should include consideration of whether stumpage charges are capable of causing trade distortion.

3. Pass-through

4.132 The US purports to have determined that provinces subsidize those who *harvest standing timber*. The US has imposed countervailing duties on *lumber*. Record evidence demonstrates, and the US does not contest, that there are lumber producers who obtained log or lumber inputs from unrelated sources other than government. The question before the Panel therefore is whether the US may legally presume, *as it did*, that such producers benefited from an alleged *timber harvesting* subsidy.

4.133 Under Article 1, to establish that a person is "subsidized" an investigating authority must establish that the person received a financial contribution, and that this confers a benefit. Where lumber producers do not harvest timber but obtain inputs from upstream producers, any alleged subsidy is by definition indirect. An indirect subsidy is established by demonstrating the existence of both an indirect financial contribution under Article 1.1(a)(1)(iv), and a benefit under Article 1.1(b). The Appellate Body has confirmed that in a countervailing duty investigation, the existence of any subsidy may never be presumed. The panel in the US - Softwood Lumber III case came to the same conclusion, finding that the obligation to establish the existence of a subsidy is not excused by conducting an investigation on an aggregate basis. Articles 10, 32.1, 19.1 and 19.4 of the SCM Agreement require the US to establish the existence of a subsidy before it imposes countervailing duties.

4. Specificity

4.134 In the CVD FD, USDOC found stumpage to be specific in fact by relying solely on an incorrect and perfunctory application of the "limited users" factor under Article 2.1(c) of the SCM Agreement. The phrase "is specific to" in Article 2 establishes a legal standard. The standard is whether government is limiting access to a programme, in law or in fact, to certain enterprises. Analyzing whether a subsidy is specific in fact under Article 2 is not different from analyzing whether a subsidy is contingent on export performance in fact under Article 3.1(a). A member may find specificity in fact only where the total configuration of facts allows it to infer that government is deliberately limiting access to the programme.

4.135 As a threshold issue, the US determination on the "limited users" factor is wrong. First, it assumes the conclusion. The CVD FD asserts that stumpage programmes "are limited to those companies and individuals specifically authorized to cut timber on Crown lands." USDOC's determination says nothing regarding the industries that actually use stumpage, and more fundamentally, whether their number was limited.

4.136 Second, it fails to provide any legal analysis of the meaning of the terms "industry" or "group of industries". The record evidence demonstrates that the many industries in which these companies operate are *not* the only users of stumpage and that the actual users are *not* limited in number. Moreover, an industry must be identified for the purposes of specificity with reference to the products it produces. The US argument amounts to an assertion that the term "industry" means whatever it needs to find a programme specific.

4.137 Third, it compares the purportedly sole users of stumpage to the entire Canadian economy. Using the entire economy as a benchmark misinterprets Article 2, as it ignores the fact that the universe of eligible users under Article 2.1(b) can be something less than "everyone". The benchmark is the universe of eligible users.

4.138 The determination is wrong on the facts because record evidence demonstrates that enterprises in more than 23 classes of industries manufacturing 201 distinct products use stumpage. Finally, even if the US had been correct in finding that stumpage was used by a limited number of industries, that finding by itself could not establish *per se* that the programmes are specific in this case, as the US is required to provide legal and factual analysis on this point. As Canada demonstrated in its First Written Submission, the US failed to address in the CVD FD that the purported finding of "limited users" is explained by the nature of the alleged "good" and the nature of the economic diversification of provincial economies.

5. Calculations

4.139 Where the amount of a subsidy has been improperly calculated and illegally inflated, a countervailing duty imposed in that amount violates Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. The US violated these obligations in three ways.

4.140 First, the US nearly doubled the amount of the alleged subsidy by using wrong conversion factors when comparing Canadian stumpage rates, calculated in dollars per cubic metre, to US timber prices, determined in dollars per thousand board feet.

4.141 Second, the US inflated the amount of the subsidy by considering the total volume of logs entering sawmill establishments as subsidized inputs into subject merchandise, even though not all of the output was subject merchandise. The US should have determined based on evidence the amount of the subsidy attributable to the volume of the log that actually goes into the production of the subject merchandise.

4.142 Third, the US inflated the per unit subsidy rate, and therefore the countervailing duties imposed by approximately US\$120 million per year, by spreading the alleged subsidy over an incorrectly determined low sales value.

6. Conduct of the Investigation

4.143 In the CVD PD, the US used data from Montana to establish a benchmark rate for Alberta and Saskatchewan. These provinces objected to this choice, both on legal and factual grounds. In the CVD FD, USDOC selected Minnesota as the benchmark state. At no point were the affected provinces made aware of USDOC's choice of Minnesota as the benchmark state. As a consequence, the US violated Articles 12.1, 12.3 and 12.8.

4.144 With respect to Québec, the investigation was inconsistent with Article 12.3 in two respects. First, USDOC itself requested and received important information from the Maine Forest Products Council concerning its benchmark determination for Québec. It sat on that information for two months. This denied parties the opportunity to see relevant information. Second, USDOC accepted and relied upon new factual information submitted by the petitioners criticizing the Council's information. Interested parties were then denied the opportunity to prepare presentations on the basis of this relevant information.

7. Initiation

4.145 Canada does not consider it appropriate to press its claim set out in paragraph 1 of its panel request.

8. Administrative Reviews

4.146 Canada has not abandoned the claim in paragraph 3(b) of its panel request. Canada understands that the US believes that it has the discretion to conduct company-specific administrative

reviews in this case; that the US will use its discretion to conduct such reviews of requesting exporters; that rates obtained by individual exporters in expedited reviews will not be superseded by an aggregate rate in an administrative review. Canada may advance additional arguments if its understanding of the US position is incorrect.

D. FIRST ORAL STATEMENT OF THE UNITED STATES

4.147 The following summarizes the United States' arguments in its first oral statement.

1. Opening Statement of the United States of America at the First Meeting of the Panel

(a) Financial Contribution

4.148 The first legal issue in this dispute is whether Canadian provincial timber sales systems constitute the provision of a "good" within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement. The text and context of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii), and the object and purpose of the SCM Agreement, all lead inexorably to the conclusion that standing timber is a "good."

4.149 Canada argues that "goods" is limited to items that are tradeable across borders and subject to tariff classification. To the contrary, the ordinary meaning of "goods" is broad, encompassing all property and possessions, including things to be severed from the land, such as standing timber. The sole exclusion in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) for "general infrastructure" underscores the intent that the provision sweep broadly. "Infrastructure" is not tradeable across borders. Nevertheless, infrastructure that is *not* "general" must fall within Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii). To conclude otherwise is to render the explicit exclusion for infrastructure that *is* "general" entirely meaningless.

4.150 The uncontested facts leave no doubt that the provinces sell timber. There is one reason and one reason only that companies enter into provincial timber contracts, which we generally refer to as "tenures." They do so to obtain the government-owned timber for their mills. Through tenures, the provinces are providing a good – timber – to lumber producers. Accordingly, the provinces provide a financial contribution within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

(b) Benefit

4.151 We turn to the methodology used to determine whether and to what extent the provinces confer a benefit on lumber producers through the sale of timber for less than adequate remuneration. This methodology poses two distinct issues. First, there is a question of legal interpretation of "benefit" within the meaning of the SCM Agreement. Second, there is the issue of the application of that legal concept to the particular facts of this case. It is imperative to examine the legal question before turning to the facts.

4.152 A financial contribution confers a "benefit" if it "makes the recipient 'better off" than it would otherwise have been, absent that contribution."¹⁵ In determining whether a benefit has been conferred, the "marketplace" is the appropriate basis for comparison, i.e., the issue is whether "the recipient has received a 'financial contribution' on terms more favourable than those available to the recipient in the market."¹⁶

4.153 The guidelines in Article 14(d) of the SCM state that a benefit is conferred if the government provides the good for "less than adequate remuneration." Article 14(d) also states that the adequacy of remuneration shall be determined in relation to "prevailing market conditions" for the good in the country of provision. The concept of a comparison "market" therefore is central to the concept of

¹⁵ Appellate Body Report, *Canada – Aircraft*, para. 157.

"benefit" generally, and to adequate remuneration specifically. The *Brazil–Aircraft* panel concluded that the concept of a comparison market necessarily means a "*commercial* market, i.e., a market undistorted by government intervention."¹⁷ The United States agrees.

4.154 As the EC states in its third-party submission, "market" conditions exist where prices are "determined by independent operators following the principles of supply and demand." Thus, as the EC implicitly acknowledges, not all observed prices are necessarily "market" prices. We agree. "Market" prices are prices between independent buyers and sellers in a competitive market where prices are determined by the forces of supply and demand. Such prices represent what is commonly referred to as "fair market value." It therefore follows logically that adequate remuneration is fair market value. That is also how the term adequate remuneration is defined in Canadian law.

4.155 Article 14(d) sets forth the principle underlying the adequate remuneration inquiry – it must be made "in relation to prevailing market conditions" in the country of provision. However, Article 14(d) does not set out rules governing the specific types of data that may be used in conducting that analysis.

4.156 Where reliable commercial market prices are available in the country of provision, ignoring such prices would be inconsistent with Article 14(d). Where, however, no such prices exist or are unreliable, an investigating authority may use prices commercially available on world markets as the basis for an assessment of the adequacy of remuneration, provided that those prices are informative as to the fair market value of the goods in the country of provision.

4.157 There is no real dispute that there are circumstances under which an investigating authority may look to sources *outside* the country of provision for data to assess the fair market value of goods *in* the country of provision. The US – *Softwood Lumber III* panel,¹⁸ Canada, the EC and Japan have all implicitly or explicitly acknowledged this. The real issue in this dispute is what factual circumstances warrant the use of price data from sources outside the country of provision to determine the fair market value of goods in the country of provision.

4.158 To determine the adequacy of remuneration in the underlying investigation, the United States calculated province-specific, species-specific market benchmark prices for stumpage. The United States requested data on private market transactions for stumpage in each province for the purpose of calculating those market benchmark prices. Three of the six provinces – Alberta, Manitoba and Saskatchewan – did not provide *any* data on private market prices for stumpage. Thus, there should be no dispute that the United States acted consistently with Article 14(d) in using commercially available prices from sources outside Canada to determine the fair market value of timber in those provinces.

4.159 British Columbia ("B.C.") submitted a survey containing a few average prices. The volume of the private timber on which those averages were based, however, represented less than one-half of one per cent of the total timber harvested by the survey respondents. Moreover, the survey did not contain the detail or underlying support that would be necessary to calculate market benchmark prices. Ontario provided a limited survey and analysis of private stumpage sales in the province. Similarly, Quebec submitted an average price for private stumpage in the province, which was based on a survey.

4.160 The United States determined that there were no commercial market conditions – that is, a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution – in any of the provinces. The evidence, including the governments' dominant market share, the lack of incentive for sawmills to pay more for private stumpage than they pay the government, and statements by provincial officials

¹⁷ Panel Report, *Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada II)*, para. 5.29 (emphasis in original).

¹⁸ See Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.48.

and forestry economists concerning the impact of the government prices on the sale of private timber, is more than adequate to support that determination. Thus, although there is data on observed prices in certain provinces, the record demonstrates that those observed prices are not commercial market prices. Therefore, the United States acted consistently with Article 14(d) in using data from sources outside of Canada as the starting point for determining the fair market value of timber in Canada. Moreover, numerous adjustments were made to reflect conditions of sale in Canada.

(c) Calculation Issues

4.161 Canada claims that the United States was required under Article 19 of the SCM and Article VI:3 of the GATT 1994 to conduct an "upstream" subsidy analysis. Canada makes this claim with respect to two distinct situations.

4.162 With respect to remanufacturers: The United States determined the total amount of the benefit, but did not determine what portion of the benefit individual sawmills or remanufacturers received. The United States allocated the total subsidy benefit over all sales of the products resulting from the lumber production process. The total amount of the subsidy benefit does not change, however, regardless of how the benefit is allocated. Thus, allocating a portion of the benefit to remanufacturers cannot overstate the total subsidy benefit. Moreover, nothing in Article 19 precludes this method of calculation. Article 19.3 specifically contemplates that a producer's exports may be subject to countervailing duties without knowing whether or to what extent that particular producer received a benefit. Article 19.3 simply obligates Members to provide expedited reviews for such exporters to calculate individual subsidy rates.

4.163 With respect to the second "upstream" subsidy situation, i.e., the alleged independent loggers: This is the only situation that could have any impact on the *calculation* – rather than the allocation – of the total amount of the benefit to producers of the subject merchandise. The record evidence indicates, however, that sales by independent loggers could only account for a very small portion of the volume of Crown timber entering sawmills. In addition, the evidence suggests that all or most of the sales by independent loggers may not be at arm's-length. Moreover, an upstream subsidy analysis requires company-specific data and analysis. Canada's claim that the United States was required to conduct this type of company-specific analysis in the investigation is without foundation in Article 19 of the SCM or Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

(d) Specificity

4.164 Pursuant to Article 2.1(c) of the SCM Agreement, a subsidy is specific when the *users* of the subsidy are limited to certain enterprises or industries or to a limited group of enterprises or industries. The users of provincial stumpage are limited to timber processing facilities, which constitute a very limited group of industries. In accordance with Article 2.1, therefore, the subsidy from provincial stumpage is specific. Canada's claims to the contrary are based on its own definition of specificity, not the definition in Article 2.1. Article 2.1 does not require an investigation into the motives of Members that provide subsidies, does not require an analysis of the number of products made by the users of the subsidy, and does not require that a subsidy be limited to the producers of the subject merchandise, or that a "group of industries" must share common characteristics.

2. Closing Statement of the United States of America at the First Meeting of the Panel

(a) Financial Contribution

4.165 Canada criticizes the United States' reliance on the definition of "goods" in *Black's Law Dictionary*, which cross-references the US Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC"). Canada, however, relies on that same definition. Nevertheless, Canada states that the UCC provision cross-referenced in *Black's* "expressly excludes" standing timber, "except in certain limited circumstances that do not

apply here." The UCC is, of course, not controlling in this forum. However, the relevant provision reveals that sales of standing timber are expressly "included" – not "excluded" – from the term "goods" as used in the UCC. We also refer the Panel to our first written submission, which quotes a similar definition of "goods" in the British Columbia Sale of Goods Act.

(b) Benefit

4.166 With respect to record evidence concerning private stumpage prices, Canada makes a number of statements at the first Panel meeting which we would like to comment on:

4.167 Canada asserts that Timber Damage Assessments are based on private transactions representing approximately 6 per cent of Alberta's timber harvest. According to Alberta's questionnaire response, however, only 1 per cent of the harvest in Alberta comes from private land.

4.168 Canada states that B.C. submitted evidence that demonstrates that B.C. operates its stumpage system consistent with market principles. That evidence merely established that B.C. made a profit on its timber sales, which does not mean that it is receiving adequate remuneration.

4.169 Regarding paragraph 58 of Canada's oral statement, we have several comments:

4.170 The Final Determination analyzes the reliability of Canadian private timber prices in detail.

4.171 The Economists, Inc. study that the United States relied on concludes that the "existence of an administered market that is willing to supply the preponderance of market demand at an artificially low price drives the price that can be attained in the non-administrative sector below the level that would obtain if the administered market were not subsidized."

4.172 The student thesis Canada refers to is actually a 1995 doctoral dissertation that analyzes data as recently as 1993.

(c) Market Distortion

4.173 Canada claims that the United States ignored Canada's evidence "and simply assumed trade distortion." Rather, the United States determined that US law does not require an analysis of whether a subsidy has market distorting effects. Likewise, there is no obligation in the SCM to find the existence of trade distortion to impose countervailing duties.

(d) Calculation Issues

4.174 Canada implies that Article 19.4 effectively imposes obligations with respect to the calculation of the subsidy. Canada, however, fails to cite to any language in Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4 or 32.1 of the SCM or Article VI:3 of the GATT 1994 establishing any such obligations.

4.175 Canada asserts that "there is no single log conversion factor", yet the Canadian Government itself publishes a single conversion factor. And if the United States had used Canada's published conversion factor, the calculated subsidy rate would have been greater.

(e) Administrative Reviews

4.176 With respect to administrative reviews, Canada improperly attempts to bring hypothetical future measures by the United States before this Panel. As the *US* – *Softwood Lumber III* panel stated,

"the WTO dispute settlement system allows a Member to challenge a law as such or its actual application in a particular case, but not its possible future application."¹⁹

(f) Conclusion

4.177 Canada went to great lengths to criticize the United States for interpreting the words in Article 14(d). For example, Canada criticized the United States for interpreting "adequate remuneration" to mean "fair market value" even though Canada's own regulations define adequate remuneration as "fair market value." Having criticized the United States for interpreting the language in Article 14(d), Canada then proceeded to criticize the United States for *failing* to interpret the specificity provisions in Article 2.1(c). In both instances, the United States interpreted the provisions in accordance with the ordinary meaning of their terms, in context, and applied the provisions accordingly.

E. SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF CANADA

4.178 The following summarizes Canada's arguments in its second written submission.

1. Financial Contribution

4.179 What is the scope of the word "goods" in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement? The word "goods" in Article 1, read in context and in the light of the object and purpose of the WTO Agreement, has the same meaning and scope as the word "goods" elsewhere in the WTO Agreement. And elsewhere in the WTO Agreement, the word "goods" has the same meaning and scope as the word "goods" has the same meaning and scope as the word "goods" has the same meaning and scope as the word "products" in Article II of GATT 1994. Therefore, interpreted in accordance with the principles of treaty interpretation, the word "goods" in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) refers to tradable items that are capable of bearing a tariff classification.

4.180 May the transfer of tree harvesting rights by provinces properly be characterized as "provision of goods" by a government within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii)? Provinces enter into tenure agreements or grant licences to harvest timber. Under these tenures or licences, the harvester has certain proprietary interests in standing trees and must undertake a series of obligations, some of which are related to the land and others to the volume of harvest. Under these tenure agreements and licences, the trees to be harvested are not identified and many of the obligations must be performed regardless of any harvest. This transfer of a right to harvest standing trees does not amount to the provision of goods.

4.181 After having argued that "goods" includes all property, the US now states that this case is not about "intellectual property" or other property rights; that its earlier assertions about "goods" encompassing all property rights were arguments in the alternative. Again misrepresenting the nature of the transactions at issue, it continues to argue that living trees with roots firmly in the ground are "goods" for the purposes of the SCM Agreement.

4.182 In its closing arguments at the First Substantive Meeting, the US suggested that sales of "standing timber" are included in the definition of goods in the UCC. This definition is in turn reproduced, albeit imperfectly, in the Black's Law Dictionary as one definition for the term "goods". The US has not credibly contested Canada's Vienna Convention analysis of the word "goods". The only issue appears to be whether a particular definition of "goods", found in the UCC, supports the US position. It does not.

¹⁹ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.157.

4.183 The UCC definition of "goods" provides that, "Goods' means all things, including specially manufactured goods, *that are movable at the time of identification* to a contract for sale and future goods. … The term does not include … *general intangibles*." [emphasis added]

4.184 The UCC further provides that, "A contract for the sale apart from the land ...[of] other things attached to realty and capable of severance without material harm ... or *of timber to be cut* is a contract for the sale of goods ... whether the subject matter is to be severed by the buyer or by the seller even though it forms part of the realty at the time of contracting, and the parties can *by identification effect a present sale before severance*." [emphasis added]

4.185 First, this definition flatly contradicts the US assertion that "goods" somehow includes all property rights, including the right to harvest timber. The basic definition is that of movable things; and the basic definition expressly excludes "general intangibles". Second, the reference to "timber to be cut" is not part of the ordinary meaning. Rather, it is a special provision covering certain "things" that are *not* ordinarily "movable" and that would not, absent the clarification, be covered by the ordinary meaning of the word "goods". Third, what *is* included in the UCC definition is not "standing timber", but "timber to be cut". "Timber to be cut" refers to individual trees *identified* to be cut in a sales contract, as indeed expressly set out in this definition. This is to be contrasted with standing trees that are subject to tenure agreements and licences. Those trees may or may not be cut during the term of the tenure, but in any event are not specifically identified to be cut; after all, they may not even have been planted.

4.186 The inclusion of "timber to be cut" in the UCC definition of a "good" implies the exclusion of all other timber – that is, timber subject to tenures and licenses – from the scope of the UCC definition. In US law, therefore, standing trees are not "goods". And because the definition of the word "goods" in the UCC does not cover "intangibles", in US law the right to harvest does not amount to "goods".

4.187 The US relies heavily on its incorrect assertion that tenure agreements and licences are "timber sales contracts". The US supports this assertion by arguing that the tenure agreements and licences result in the timber harvesters owning felled timber and paying for that timber. Canada has demonstrated that there is a distinction between tenure agreements and licences on the one hand, and "sales of goods contracts" on the other.

4.188 Under the SCM Agreement, this distinction makes a crucial legal difference. A timber sales contract concerns a contract that <u>identifies</u> individual standing trees to be cut and hauled away. In contrast, a tenure or licence grants a right of harvest in an area of land in return for certain rights and obligations. No trees are identified to be cut – and in fact, due to disease, fire and environmental reasons, it may well be that no trees <u>are</u> cut. And yet, certain forest maintenance and fire protection obligations continue to run for the length of the tenure or licence in the area covered by the tenure or licence.

2. Benefit

4.189 Canada demonstrated that USDOC's rejection of valid in-country benchmark evidence and its choice of cross-border benchmarks to determine adequacy of remuneration is inconsistent with Articles 1.1(b) and 14(d) of the SCM Agreement. Canada's submissions are based on three complementary points:

- first, Article 14(d) requires the use of benchmarks that are based on prevailing market conditions in the country of provision;
- second, substantial evidence of prevailing market conditions in Canada that could have been used as benchmarks to determine "adequacy of remuneration" was improperly rejected; and
- third, the US has offered no valid defence of its actions.

4.190 Canada's response to the United States' most recent assertions follows the same structure.

4.191 The US claims that this is a dispute over the factual circumstances that warrant the use of price data from sources outside the country of provision. It is not. This is a *legal* dispute over whether the plain meaning of Article 14(d) requires that benefit be determined and measured on the basis of prevailing market conditions in the country of provision – in this case Canada.

4.192 Article 14(d) provides that where a government has provided goods, a benefit is conferred if remuneration is not "adequate". It also provides that, "[A]dequacy of remuneration shall be determined in relation to *prevailing market conditions* for the good ... *in the country of provision*". [emphasis added]

4.193 First, the ordinary meaning of "in relation to" is "on the basis of" or "in comparison with". This phrase prescribes a comparison to "prevailing market conditions".

4.194 Second, the ordinary meaning of the term "prevailing" is "as they exist". Accordingly, Article 14(d) requires a comparison to *existing* market conditions.

4.195 Third, "in the country of provision" means "in the country of provision." It cannot refer to "prevailing market conditions" in *some other country*.

4.196 This interpretation is consistent with the Appellate Body's analysis of Article 1.1(b) in *Canada – Aircraft*. There, the Appellate Body found that in determining whether the financial contribution conferred a benefit on the recipient, the "marketplace is the appropriate basis for comparison." The Appellate Body also found that Article 14 provides context for Article 1.1(b). The marketplace, in a provision of goods context under Article 14(d), is the existing "market" in the country of provision.

4.197 Further contextual evidence that Article 14(d) does not permit cross-border comparisons is found in the Accession Protocol of China. The Protocol provides for the application of the SCM Agreement generally, but in language clearly indicating *exceptional* circumstances, it specifically permits the use of "methodologies for identifying and measuring the subsidy benefit which take into account the possibility that prevailing terms and conditions in China may not always be available as appropriate benchmarks." If Article 14(d) already permitted the consideration of conditions outside "the country of provision", Members would not have considered it necessary to provide for this exceptional treatment. This understanding is confirmed by the USTR on its official website.

4.198 In the CVD FD, USDOC concluded there were no usable benchmarks in Canada. This conclusion is flatly contradicted by the record. Canada provided extensive evidence to USDOC concerning prevailing market conditions in Canada. More specifically, this evidence included private timber sales, cost-revenue comparisons, an economic analysis of provincial stumpage charges, and private sector assessments of timber value. USDOC was obligated by Article 14(d) to use this evidence.

4.199 The reasons given by USDOC for rejection of this evidence are baseless. First, USDOC relied on the Preamble to its regulations to irrebutably presume price suppression. No analysis of actual price suppression was ever conducted. Second, the "economic" report which USDOC chose to use as support for its presumption of price suppression is purely theoretical and based on a flawed economic model. It did not include consideration of any actual transaction prices.

4.200 Canada submitted economic studies during the course of the investigation that demonstrated that it is the nature of the competition in the market that determines whether the market produces

market prices, not the size of the market. If the market has the indicia of a competitive market – which it does in this case – the size of the government presence does not affect private prices.

4.201 Finally, the US efforts to dismiss evidence provided on in-country benchmarks as either not useable or not representative, are not credible. This evidence includes evidence that satisfies the third benchmark – consistency with market principles – in the US regulations. The US itself confirmed that it uses this benchmark where "no world market price for [the goods in question are] commercially available in the countries under investigation". Here, there is no "world market price" for stumpage and US stumpage is not available in Canada. Accordingly, the evidence submitted by the Canadian provinces that demonstrated that their stumpage systems are operated in a manner consistent with market principles should have been considered by USDOC.

4.202 The US claim that it made adjustments that took into account the prevailing market conditions is not supported by the record. USDOC has admitted in previous lumber investigations that it would be "arbitrary and capricious" to use cross-border comparisons as it is not possible to identify a country or countries where some market conditions are the same as those in the country of provision and where all differences in market conditions can be identified and adjusted. These differences include: differences in economic conditions such wages, capital costs, taxes and government regulatory policies, comparative advantages in resources, timber characteristics, operating conditions, measurement systems and tenure rights and obligations.

4.203 Moreover, the US assertions respecting the adjustments that it did perform are incorrect. For example, the US claims that it "averaged the [US] price data by species to match the species in the relevant province." For several provinces there were little or no price data by species. In almost all (ninety-nine per cent) of the US sales used by USDOC as a benchmark for the B.C. coast, the purchaser bid a single lump-sum price for all timber of all species. The result of the use of these benchmarks was to overstate the value in the US sales of the lower-value species common in BC and other provinces.

4.204 In the case of Québec, adjustment categories considered by USDOC were not derived from an analysis of differences in market conditions between Québec's public forest and Maine's private forest, but from carefully surveyed cost differences between the public and private forests within Québec. If USDOC had attempted to analyze and compare market conditions in Québec and Maine, it would have discovered that much of the data needed to make necessary adjustments were unavailable.

4.205 In order to argue that it is "well established" that the Article 1.1(b) test for benefit is a "but for" test, the US focuses on the word "absent" in an excerpt from *Canada - Aircraft*. In doing so, the US both misinterprets the Appellate Body's statement and ignores the context of the sentence.

4.206 If the balance of the paragraph is considered, it is clear that the Appellate Body was saying that a "benefit", as used in Article 1.1(b), "implies some kind of comparison" and that the "marketplace" must be the basis for this comparison. The Appellate Body has therefore, directed a comparison that is to be informed by what the recipient could have actually obtained in the market and not a comparison to some artificial "undistorted" market, as the US asserts.

4.207 The Appellate Body then notes that, "Article 14, which we have said is the relevant context in interpreting Article 1.1(b), supports our view that the marketplace is an appropriate basis for comparison." As Article 14 provides relevant context in interpreting Article 1.1(b), the "marketplace" that is to be used for comparison purposes must be the markets referred to in Article 14. In a situation involving the government provision of goods, Article 14(d) refers to "*prevailing market conditions* ... in the country of provision". Accordingly, in this situation this refers to the in-country market as it exists.

4.208 Even though the US now contends that it has never advocated a "hypothetical undistorted market", its arguments indicate the contrary. In the NAFTA proceeding, for example, it specifically describes adequate remuneration as, "the price that the purchaser would pay in an open and competitive market *but for the government's financial contribution.*" [emphasis added].

4.209 Canada addressed what had been, to that point, the most recent attempt by the US to construct an argument that supported USDOC's use of US prices as the appropriate benchmark. Canada showed how the US was attempting, through an elaborate exercise in word substitution, to turn Article 14(d) into a provision that measures adequacy of remuneration by comparing the government price to a constructed "fair market value", rather than to prevailing market conditions in the country of provision.

4.210 The US has changed tack once again. It now asserts that where no "commercial market prices" exist in the country of provision or where they are "unreliable", an investigating authority may use, "prices commercially available on world markets as the basis for an assessment of the adequacy of remuneration provided that those prices are informative as to the fair market value of the goods in the country of provision". Accordingly, in the US view, the prices it uses "outside" the country of provision "to assess the fair market value of goods *in* the country of provision" need only to be available on the "world market" (and not in the country of provision). In support of this proposition, the US points to alleged acknowledgements by the US - Softwood Lumber III panel, Canada, Japan and the EC.

4.211 The US asserts that Canada has acknowledged that "the use of world market prices is appropriate in the case of a government monopoly for the good in question," and describes the EC regulation as providing that the use of world market prices is appropriate when "market benchmark prices in the country of provision do not exist or are unreliable." It goes so far as to claim that the "US regulations which Canada has not challenged establish essentially the same rule as that found in the EC regulation."

4.212 None of these sources supports the US position. First, the EC regulation refers to "world market" prices and "terms and conditions prevailing in the market of another country", and the US regulations to "world market price[s]", that are *available* to purchasers in the country of provision of the good. The United States' own regulation makes clear that before a "world market price" is used it must be "reasonable to conclude that such price would be *available* to purchasers in the country in question." Similarly, the EC regulation states that "when appropriate, the terms and conditions prevailing in the market of another country or on the world market which are *available* to the recipient shall be used."

4.213 Second, Canada has consistently taken the position that a price that is available to purchasers in the country of provision makes that price part of the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision. This is why Canada stated in US - Softwood Lumber III that in the context of a government monopoly over domestic production *import* prices for the same good if available to purchasers in Canada, could be used as a benchmark to measure adequacy of remuneration.

4.214 Third, the US mischaracterizes what was said by the Panel in US - Softwood Lumber III. In the paragraph cited by the US, the panel stated that "prices of *imported* goods in the market of provision can indeed form part of the prevailing market conditions in the sense of Article 14(d)". The Panel further stated that "the text of Article 14(d) SCM Agreement ... does not provide for ... a world market test".

4.215 Central to all of these positions is that regardless of whether domestic prices in the country of provision, "world market prices", import prices or other indicia of prevailing market conditions are used as benchmarks, such prices or conditions must be "available" in the country. If this requirement

is satisfied the benchmark will constitute part of the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision.

4.216 That is not the case here. US stumpage is not available in Canada. The good that USDOC contended was available in Canada at a world market price is *logs*, a product that is *produced from* standing timber. Canadian producers may purchase US timber "on the stump", but only where the stumps are – in the US. Stumpage is inherently local. The US is therefore reduced to arguing that prices in another country, not available in the country of provision, may be used because they are commercially available on the world market. This position is clearly inconsistent with the words of Article 14(d) and is not supported by Canada's earlier statements, the findings of the Panel in US - Softwood Lumber III r, or either of the EC or US regulations.

4.217 In its Closing Statement, the US asserts that it "did not simply assume trade distortion." Rather, it claims, it "determined that US law does not require an analysis of whether a subsidy has market distorting effects." At "the heart" of USDOC's final determination, however, was a conclusion that these charges result in countervailable market distortion in the US lumber market. According to USDOC, "the whole point of this investigation is to quantify and remedy the impact" of the Canadian "administered pricing" system on the US market, as its "mere existence" has "a resulting impact … on Canadian lumber production" that "distort[s] the US market." It may not now contend that "the heart" of the case – its "whole point" – was of no consequence to its determination.

3. Pass-Through

4.218 The pass-through issue in this case may be summarized as whether the US, in presuming rather than demonstrating the pass-through of the alleged stumpage subsidy to certain producers of subject lumber, has violated its obligations under the SCM Agreement and GATT 1994. The producers in question are those who buy log or lumber inputs at arm's-length. Canada has demonstrated in its submissions that a subsidy may never be presumed in a countervailing duty investigation. The US argument to the contrary is that the SCM Agreement allows it to presume the pass-through of a subsidy in aggregate investigations, regardless of any evidence establishing arm's-length transactions. However, there is no irrebuttable presumption in the SCM Agreement that allows a Member to disregard evidence establishing no subsidy. Because the US has failed to conduct any pass-through analysis regarding independent harvesters, the volume of Crown timber harvested by these entities and the amount of subsidy derived from that volume, for example, must therefore be excluded from the total amount of the subsidy. Further, no countervailing measure can lawfully be imposed on the products of lumber remanufacturers purchasing at arm's length.

4. Specificity

4.219 Even if the US had correctly determined that provincial stumpage programmes were a subsidy, it failed in the CVD FD to correctly determine that the programmes are "specific". The US finding under the "limited users" factor in Article 2.1(c) is incorrect. Even if there was a "limited number of users", the US nevertheless failed to determine that provincial stumpage programmes were "specific to certain enterprises" based on the total configuration of facts and evidence of the case.

4.220 Stumpage programmes are not used by a "limited number" of certain enterprises under Article 2.1(c). The record evidence in this case establishes that thousands of enterprises, in at least 23 standard industry categories, used provincial stumpage programmes during the period of investigation. The survey submitted by the Canadian parties showed that companies using provincial stumpage programmes during the period of investigation manufactured a minimum of 201 distinct products, many of which are not produced by USDOC's purported group of a "limited number of industries".

4.221 The US failed to analyze the record evidence regarding which enterprises and industries actually used and allegedly benefited from stumpage programmes. In the CVD FD, it simply asserted that "pulp and paper mills and the saw mills and remanufacturers which are producing the subject merchandise" were the sole users of stumpage programmes. While the US argues that "no other industries" use or allegedly benefit from stumpage, it can point to no evidence in support of its assertion. Indeed, this finding is directly contradicted by the US acknowledgement of significant amounts of log harvesting done by enterprises other than the supposed "sole users" of stumpage. The EC and Japan agree that the "limited users" finding is flawed.

4.222 Moreover, even if the US had properly identified the users of stumpage programmes, its impermissible use of the entire economy as a benchmark would mean that virtually all programmes would be specific, since virtually no programme is used by "everyone". In particular, every government programme involving the provision of a good would be specific. Unlike money, goods are not fungible and have a limited base of users who will expend the effort to procure the good. On the facts, therefore, the US determination is inconsistent with Article 2.1(c) and fails to satisfy the requirements of Article 2.4.

4.223 The existence of an alleged limited number of users does not *ipso facto* establish specificity in fact. The factors in Article 2.1(c) simply indicate that a subsidy may be specific despite being non-specific in law. A determination does not satisfy Article 2 unless it is clearly substantiated that the subsidy is in fact specific; this requires cogent reasoning and an assessment of all the evidence to translate a "limited users" finding into a determination that a government is restricting access to a subsidy in fact. Provincial stumpage programmes are not specific. The US failed to clearly substantiate its specificity determination, and has therefore violated its WTO obligations.

4.224 To determine that a subsidy is "specific" under Article 1.2 is to determine, under Article 2, that a government limits access to the subsidy to certain enterprises over other eligible enterprises. The ordinary meaning of the term "is specific to" is that the subsidy is made available to certain enterprises but not available to others. The specificity requirement is meant to capture instances where a government targets a subsidy to certain enterprises.

4.225 This is confirmed by the structure of Article 2.1; paragraph (c) must be read in the context of paragraphs (a) and (b). Under Article 2.1(a), a subsidy is specific in law where a government *explicitly* limits access to it. Article 2.1(b) provides an exception that where access is limited by objective and neutral eligibility requirements, the limitations do not establish the favouritism necessary to find specificity. Under Article 2.1(c), a subsidy is specific in fact where, instead of limiting access to a subsidy in law, a government does so through its implementation of the programme in fact. The "appearance of non-specificity", of which Article 2.1(c) speaks, is an appearance that government is *not* limiting access to a programme, when in fact it might be.

4.226 According to the US, specificity is deemed to exist where any one of the four factors in Article 2.1(c) is shown to exist without regard to why they might exist. This interpretation impermissibly reduces indicative factors to irrebuttable presumptions.

4.227 Article 2.1(c) provides that where there is an appearance of non-specificity in law, "other factors may be considered" to determine whether the government is limiting access to certain enterprises in fact. Unlike the US interpretation of paragraph (c), Canada's interpretation is based on the ordinary meaning of the word "specific", read in the context of paragraphs (a) and (b) and the chapeau of Article 2.1. For example, it would be nonsensical under Article 2.1(c) to find that a subsidy is specific in fact solely on the basis of "the manner in which discretion has been exercised by the granting authority in the decision to grant a subsidy", without any consideration of whether that manner directs the subsidy to certain enterprises. Likewise, the third factor is "the granting of disproportionately large amounts of subsidy to certain enterprises" by a government. Where there is no other explanation for the existence of such amounts, the inference under Article 2.1(c) is that the

government is directing the subsidy to certain enterprises. On a plain reading of the third and fourth factors, the analysis required under Article 2.1(c) goes to inferring government action in the application of the programme.

4.228 The specificity requirement deals with government action, and thereby requires direct evidence establishing such action. Where the government action limiting access to a programme is not explicit, evidence will necessarily be circumstantial – allowing an investigating authority to infer the targeting of a subsidy to certain enterprises based on the existence of the factors listed in Article 2.1(c). However, to "clearly substantiate" a determination under Article 2.4, an investigating authority must provide cogent analysis that establishes a high level of confidence. As the EC correctly observes, the distinction between *de jure* and *de facto* determinations is one of evidence; Article 2.1(c) does not create a different test for specificity. In assessing the evidence pertaining to the factors, the many reasons why there might be "limited users" or "predominant use", for example, are highly relevant. If these factors do not indicate government targeting action, the subsidy is not specific in fact.

4.229 The negotiating history surrounding Articles 1.2 and 2 of the SCM Agreement confirms Canada's interpretation that specificity relates to a determination that government action restricts access to the alleged subsidy. The specificity concept concerns government limitations on access, not simply patterns of "use" on the part of alleged recipients – the latter being merely indicative of the former.

4.230 The concept of "specificity" has been with the WTO and GATT for nearly two decades. It was first considered by the Committee on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures ("SCM Committee") in 1985, when the SCM Group of Experts provided it with *Draft Guidelines for the Application of the Concept of Specificity in the Calculation of the Amount of a Subsidy Other than an Export Subsidy* ("Draft Guidelines"). The Draft Guidelines set out a series of rules based on what government did to restrict the availability of a programme. Where access was restricted to certain enterprises based on non-neutral criteria, the programme was considered *de jure* specific. On *de facto* specificity, the lone paragraph (f) addressed government action affecting availability in terms of a "*de facto* deliberate[] granting [of] an advantage to certain industries." The draft language on *de facto* specificity evolved over the course of the Uruguay Round negotiations, but at all times remained concerned with the granting by government of selective access to a subsidy programme.

4.231 The US failed to convince other members to abandon the specificity requirement during the Uruguay Round. Accordingly, US countervailing duty law, the US application of the requirement in the CVD FD, and the US specificity arguments before this Panel, all attempt to re-write Article 2 of the Agreement for a "next-best" result: that a finding of "limited users" is dispositive of specificity. This interpretation of Article 2 is contrary to the ordinary meaning of the text of Article 2, read in context and in the light of the object and purpose of the Agreement and the negotiating record; it also renders the provision meaningless. The US has failed in the CVD FD to address the other explanations for any alleged pattern in the "use" of stumpage, and failed to explain why its incorrect finding of a "limited number of industries" means that stumpage is specific in fact to certain enterprises.

4.232 The US has also violated its obligations under the SCM Agreement because it failed to take into account, as explicitly required under Article 2.1(c), record evidence concerning the extent of diversification of provincial economies. In British Columbia, for example, forestry-related activity is responsible for a substantial share of economic activity. The value of forestry-related shipments totalled \$C20.2 billion in 2000, accounting for more than half the value of all manufactured shipments in the province. Forestry product sales were valued at \$C15.6 billion in 1998 and \$C16.8 billion in 1997. Indeed, since 1995, forestry product shipments have represented approximately half the value of manufactured shipments in British Columbia. The significant share of manufacturing shipments translates to a substantial contribution to provincial gross domestic product. In 1999, the various

forest products industries accounted directly for 24 per cent of the goods-producing industries' provincial GDP, and 6 per cent of the total provincial GDP. The Final Determination does not even address this significant factual information.

5. Other Claims

(a) Calculations

4.233 The US did not correctly determine the amount of the subsidy, did not correctly calculate the subsidy per unit rate, and therefore applied countervailing duties at a rate in excess of the alleged subsidization per unit of the "subsidized and exported product." By imposing these countervailing duties the US violated Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement. The errors of the US include:

- use of a manifestly incorrect log scale conversion factor;
- massive inflation of the subsidy amount used in the numerator in its subsidy per unit calculation; and
- understatement of the denominator in the flawed calculation methodology it chose.

4.234 In response to Canada's claims, the US simply argues that, "[t]he sole calculation requirement in Article 19.4 is a requirement to calculate the subsidy on a per-unit basis; Article 19.4 does not establish any other requirements concerning how the subsidy is to be calculated." The US position is untenable.

4.235 The US concedes that Article 19.4, "establishes an upper limit on the amount of the countervailing duty that may be levied" and that it requires calculation of the subsidy "on a per-unit basis." Thus, the US agrees with Canada that Article 19.4 establishes requirements in calculating a subsidy rate. However, the US claims that it has no obligation to *correctly* calculate that rate. The US is therefore arguing that a Member may impose countervailing duties at any rate it wishes, as long as it is not in excess of *a* subsidy per unit rate, *however arrived at*.

4.236 Article 19.4 is the sole provision establishing an upper limit to the countervailing duty rate to be imposed. Other provisions set out what constitutes a subsidy and what the total amount of that subsidy is; only Article 19.4 sets out any discipline on what the maximum *countervailing duty* rate may be. To give proper effect to Article 19.4, that discipline must require a per unit subsidy rate correctly calculated, based on a subsidy amount correctly derived, as against a practice correctly determined to be a subsidy.

4.237 The US alleges that the conversion factor mentioned in the Minnesota Public Stumpage Price Review and Price Index ("Price Report") "only applied to the data contained in Table 2", while the US used only "sawtimber data in Table 1." But the statement on the cover of the Price Report says that, "All reported volumes and values were converted to a sawlog and pulpwood basis for inclusion in Table 1."

4.238 Where "converted" data are based on a specific conversion factor, to ignore the specified factor is to render the data hopelessly distorted and therefore useless. In this case, as a result of the choice of conversion factor, subsidies were found where none existed; and, in any event, subsidies were found using an improper cross-border analysis. The use of a single, and incorrect, conversion factor highly inflated the alleged subsidy per unit rate.

4.239 A conversion factor was necessary in the first place because the US elected to compare tree volumes and values in certain US jurisdictions, to widely disparate trees across Canada. The effective use of a single factor for most of these conversions created significant distortions in the assessment of whether any stumpage benefit even exists, as well as in the subsequent subsidy calculations. The US had a draft report prepared by an economist of the US Forest Service on the record that demonstrates

the irrationality of its approach to conversion factors. The report notes that "[t]o properly compare prices, conversion factors must be tailored to the measurement system used in order to adjust for any bias that may have developed." The bias referred to is the tendency for contemporary prices expressed in board feet to underestimate lumber yield and boost stumpage prices to a degree that cubic measurements do not. In addition, the very publication that the US used to choose its conversion factors explicitly stated that smaller logs, like those in Canada, require use of much larger factors than the US used.

4.240 The alleged subsidy at issue was the provision of "timber" at less than adequate remuneration. The allegedly subsidized merchandise subject to the countervailing duty was softwood lumber and certain products manufactured from that lumber. The alleged subsidy per unit may not properly be calculated using more than the volume of wood actually used in the subject merchandise. The portion of a log that becomes sawdust is not used in the production of lumber; equally, logs destined for the production of posts are manifestly not used in the production of softwood lumber.

4.241 The alleged subsidy attributable to the subject merchandise was easy to trace and just as easy to calculate: out of the total volume of logs entering sawmills, the portion used in the manufacture of lumber created the only possible "subsidy" to the production of lumber and lumber products. Logs used in the production of posts or poles, and the portion of logs that ended up as chips, did not involve a subsidy attributable to softwood lumber.

4.242 An accurate calculation of the subsidy per unit rate of the exported product required that only the volume of logs used in the softwood lumber products be reflected in the numerator; the denominator would then be limited to the output lumber products from those logs. Because Article 19.4 refers to the subsidy per unit rate of the allegedly "*subsidized and exported* product", the proper starting point would have been for USDOC to have determined the correct amount of the subsidy attributable to the subject merchandise – softwood lumber products.

4.243 USDOC claims that it corrected for its overbroad numerator by expanding the denominator to include the value of the non-lumber products whose volumes had dramatically increased the numerator. USDOC failed to do this; however, even if it had, this approach would not cure the bias or the subsidy inflation. Non-lumber products account for a significant volume of products produced from softwood logs entering sawmills. Yet, typically, the value of non-lumber products such as chips or sawdust is low when shipped from the sawmill. Further, chips and sawdust are input products to other more expensive products such as pulp and paper. By including the volume of these non-lumber products while not accounting in the denominator for the full value of the products included in the numerator, the per unit subsidy calculation was significantly inflated.

4.244 The United States, having adopted a methodology that grossly inflated the subsidy amount, then did not include the value of all the non-lumber products in its denominator. It seriously understated the denominator because 1) it did not include softwood "residual" products produced in sawmills, and 2) it used a wholly inaccurate and understated sales value for remanufactured products.

(b) Conduct of the Investigation

4.245 With respect to its choice of Minnesota as benchmark state for Saskatchewan and Alberta, the US claims that the responding parties should have had notice of the possibility of that choice. For this reason, it argues, its failure to notify the responding parties of the change from Montana to Minnesota did not violate Article 12.8.

4.246 Canada recalls footnote 225 of the First Written Submission of the US. An oblique reference, *in a countervailing duty petition*, to the entirety of the US as a potential source of benchmark does not amount to the disclosure of the "essential fact" of Minnesota as a benchmark state by *the US*. Canada notes the new US argument that only a few of the fifty states were reasonably to be considered as

candidates for serving as benchmark. In this respect, Canada recalls the findings of the US in the Preliminary Determination in this case, where USDOC stated, "[I]nformation on the record indicates that stumpage in the United States along the border with Canada is comparable to Canadian stumpage we only compared stumpage prices in each Canadian province *with stumpage prices in states bordering that province.*" [emphasis added]

4.247 Canada also recalls the statement of the US to the panel in *US* – *Softwood Lumber III*, "Even within the United States, not all timber prices are appropriate. ... Commerce did not use prices from the large timber-growing areas in the southeast, *or from any non-contiguous state*, because as a matter of commercial reality, Canadian lumber producers do not consider it commercially viable to transport logs over that long a distance." [emphasis added]

4.248 The only notice given to the responding parties was that data from a state "bordering" the province in question would be used. A state that is at least 700 km from the closer of the two provinces is not a "contiguous" state. Minnesota is not a state that borders either Saskatchewan or Alberta. There was no notice of the choice of Minnesota as a benchmark state. The US violated Article 12.8.

F. SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES

4.249 The following summarizes the United States' arguments in its second written submission.

4.250 The standard of review set forth in Article 11 of the DSU applies to disputes arising under the SCM Agreement. Article 11 requires a panel to "make an objective assessment of the matter before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case and the applicability of and conformity with the relevant covered agreements." In conducting this inquiry, the Panel may only address those provisions of the covered agreements that Canada cited in relation to specific claims in its request for the formation of a panel. With few citations to the record, Canada recites a laundry list of facts and figures in support of its arguments, failing to note the substantial record evidence that contradicts its arguments. Canada is asking the Panel to step into the shoes of USDOC and engage in a *de novo* review and evaluate the facts. It is well-established, however, that panels may not engage in such an exercise.

4.251 The parties' answers to the Panel's questions have confirmed that companies enter into tenure agreements with the provinces for the sole purpose of obtaining timber. In return for fulfilling the tenure obligations and paying the stumpage fee, the tenure holder acquires ownership of the timber, not a "right" to harvest timber.

4.252 The ordinary meaning of "goods" is broad and encompasses, at the very least, all tangible property, including "growing crops, and other identified things to be severed from real property." Simply labeling standing timber a "natural resource" does not remove it from the ordinary meaning of the term "goods." Canada has acknowledged that provincial tenures identify specific, defined areas of forest from which the tenure holder may harvest trees. The identified trees to be severed from provincial land fall squarely within the ordinary meaning of the term "goods."

4.253 Canada's argument suggests that tenures are simply about forest management obligations that, almost incidentally, also confer an intangible "right" to harvest. Canada's analytical approach is based on the flawed premise that the existence of a financial contribution is a matter to be determined from the government's perspective. However, a financial contribution, as defined in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement, exists whenever the government provides a good. As the US - Softwood Lumber III panel recognized, the existence of a subsidy is determined from the perspective of the benefit to the recipient, not the perspective of the government. Specifically, the US - Softwood Lumber III panel found that in spite of the fact that the provincial governments have certain policy objectives, "the fact of the matter remains that from the harvesting company's point of

view, the only reason to enter into such tenure or licensing agreements is to cut trees for processing or sale."

4.254 As detailed in the United States' response to the Panel's questions, the record demonstrates that tenure holders do not acquire a freely transferable "right" to harvest. All provinces prohibit the transfer of tenures without government approval. Without any citation to record evidence, Canada asserts that the right to harvest is freely transferable, without approval. There is an obvious conflict, however, between the record evidence and Canada's suggestion that tenure holders may freely sell or subcontract the "right to harvest." Despite Canada's efforts to sever the right to harvest from the sale of the trees, the facts demonstrate that tenure holders are buying trees. In doing so, the provinces make a financial contribution within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

4.255 As the United States pointed out in its first written submission, the *Canada – Aircraft* panel stated that a benefit exists where "the financial contribution places the recipient in a *more advantageous position than would have been the case but for the financial contribution.*" In reviewing that report, the Appellate Body affirmed that a benefit exists where "the 'financial contribution' makes the recipient '*better off*' than it would otherwise have been, absent that contribution." In determining the existence of a benefit, therefore, the issue is the position of the recipient "but for" or "absent" the government's financial contribution.

4.256 Moreover, the Appellate Body has stated that the point of comparison is "the marketplace," i.e., a benefit exists where the financial contribution is received on terms more favorable than those available in the market. Finally, as the United States has pointed out, following the reasoning of the Appellate Body in *Canada – Aircraft*, the *Brazil – Aircraft* panel concluded that the concept of a comparison market necessarily means a "*commercial* market, i.e., a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution."

4.257 Canada erroneously argues that the *Brazil* – *Aircraft* report is inapposite because that panel was considering Article 14(b) of the SCM Agreement, which establishes commercial lending rates as the benchmark for a government loan. The panel found that the financial contribution at issue was in the form of a non-refundable payment, however, rather than in the form of a loan. Thus, as Canada argued in that case, the payments at issue were "essentially grants." In the passage cited by the United States, the *Brazil* – *Aircraft* panel was not discussing Article 14(b) of the SCM Agreement. In fact, there is no reference at all to Article 14 of the SCM Agreement in the panel's report. Rather, the panel was discussing the concept of benefit generally. The panel's reasoning, which follows logically from the findings of the Appellate Body, is compelling. Only by comparison to a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution is it possible to determine whether the recipient is better off than it otherwise would have been absent the financial contribution. That is true regardless of the form of the financial contribution.

4.258 Article 14 does not redefine the concept of benefit in Article 1.1(b), as interpreted by the Appellate Body and prior panels. Article 14 merely provides guidelines that must be followed in establishing "methods" for applying that concept to particular types of financial contributions. Each guideline in Article 14, including Article 14(d), must therefore be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the interpretation of the term "benefit" as used in Article 1.1(b) of the SCM Agreement.

4.259 When the government provides a good, Article 14(d) states that a benefit is conferred if the government receives "less than adequate remuneration" for that good. Applying the reasoning of the Appellate Body, "less than adequate remuneration" must mean a price less than would otherwise be available in the marketplace absent the government's financial contribution. The proper benchmark therefore is an independent market-driven price for the good, i.e., fair market value – which is also the standard applied under Canadian law.

4.260 Article 14(d) does not specify the type of evidence that must be used to establish the fair market value of goods in the country of provision. Rather, Article 14(d) establishes the general principle that adequate remuneration (fair market value) must be determined "in relation to prevailing *market* conditions" in the country of provision. There is no basis in the SCM Agreement to conclude that "benefit" means anything less when the government provides a good than when it makes any other type of financial contribution. Thus, "market" conditions must be interpreted in a manner consistent with the concept of benefit in Article 1.1(b) of the SCM Agreement. Following the reasoning of the Appellate Body and the *Brazil – Aircraft* panel, therefore, the point of comparison under Article 14(d) must be prevailing commercial market conditions, i.e., a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution, in the country of provision. It is the view of the United States that where such benchmark prices exist in the country of provision or are unreliable, a Member may, consistent with Article 14(d), rely on data from outside the country of provision to assess the fair market value of the goods in the country of provision. This is the case with respect to Canadian timber.

4.261 As the United States demonstrated in its response to the Panel's questions, the actual data on private stumpage prices is virtually non-existent for four of the six provinces. Canada does not dispute the fact that Manitoba and Saskatchewan did not provide any data on private stumpage prices. With respect to Alberta, as the United States explained in response to the Panel's questions, the record demonstrates that the Timber Damage Assessments ("TDAs") that Alberta provided are simply voluntary guidelines for settling disputes for damages. Moreover, TDAs are based on *log* prices and do not differentiate between private and Crown logs. With respect to B.C., Canada acknowledges that the evidence provided establishes that the private market for stumpage in B.C. is "limited" and that "nearly all private wood fibre sales are of logs rather than standing timber." The data on sales of standing timber accounted for only 0.1 per cent of the B.C. harvest.

4.262 Recognizing the lack of any private stumpage benchmark data for these four provinces (Alberta, B.C., Manitoba, and Saskatchewan), Canada continues to argue, without any basis in the SCM Agreement, that evidence demonstrating that the provinces made a profit on their timber sales suffices. A benefit, however, is not determined based on the cost to the government in making the financial contribution, e.g., whether the government incurred a loss. The issue is whether there is a benefit to the recipient.

4.263 With respect to Ontario and Quebec, as discussed in response to the Panel's questions, some data on private stumpage prices exists. However, prices that are distorted by the government's financial contribution do not reflect "market" conditions. It is undisputed that Canadian timber sales are overwhelmingly dominated by the provincial governments. The fact that the government is a price leader does not in and of itself establish the absence of independent commercial market conditions. As the Appellate Body has cautioned, however, governments have the ability to obtain certain results from the market by shaping the circumstances and conditions in which the market operates. The dominance of the government in the marketplace can, therefore, warrant further examination in determining the adequacy of remuneration for government-owned goods. Ultimately, as noted by the European Communities, the issue must be determined on a case-by-case basis.

4.264 The facts of this case demonstrate that the provincial governments not only dominate the Canadian timber market, but also that the governments do not participate in the market as commercial actors. Rather, the provincial governments administer the sale of the overwhelming majority of Canadian timber in a manner designed to further social policy goals. The evidence further demonstrates that, as a result, the administration of provincial timber sales systems distorts the small private timber market.

4.265 All of the provinces generally restrict the sale of Crown timber to purchasers that own a processing facility in the province. These local processing requirements artificially reduce the

demand for Crown timber. In addition, the vast majority of Crown timber is under some form of renewable ("evergreen"), long-term tenure. These tenures are not freely transferable. The existence of evergreen, non-transferrable tenures creates significant barriers to entry into the timber market. For example, Canada offers no support for its assertion that a newcomer in Quebec could obtain a provincial tenure, even though 100 per cent of the Crown timber is currently under tenure or reserved and not subject to harvest. Nor does Canada reconcile this claim with its subsequent statement that the vast majority of mills in Quebec are "shut out of the public forest." Moreover, "transfers" of tenure are, in fact, normally cases in which the entity that holds the tenure is acquired. No new tenure is created in such cases.

4.266 Other aspects of tenures artificially increase supply. For example, B.C. imposes minimum cut requirements and restricts mill closures, thus forcing tenure holders to harvest timber even in down markets and thereby artificially increasing the supply of Crown timber. Nevertheless, the record demonstrates that, during the period of investigation, tenure holders in all of the provinces except Alberta did not harvest their full AAC, thus demonstrating an ample supply of additional Crown timber available at administered prices.

4.267 Central to each of the provincial systems is, of course, administered rather than competitive pricing of that timber supply. The evidence demonstrates that the price leaders, i.e., the provincial governments, do not price to the market. Rather, they administer prices under systems designed to promote employment and keep mills operating even in down markets.

4.268 A study by Economists Inc. ("EI Study"), which the United States found compelling, addressed the impact of the administered provincial systems on the private market. The EI Study applied generally accepted economic analysis to demonstrate that when a single supplier controls the overwhelming portion of market share, that supplier will necessarily influence non-administered prices. It found that "[t]he lower the market share of the firms in the non-administered sector relative to the administered sector, the less the ability of the non-administered sector to raise price above the administered (subsidized) level." The essence of this analysis is that private (non-administered) sellers cannot increase prices significantly above administered price levels of the competing supply because, if they did, demand would shift to the administered sector. The study referred to record evidence establishing that provincial governments not only supply the vast majority of timber, but also are willing to provide yet more timber to the major licensees that comprise most of the demand. The study showed that if private landowners attempted to raise their prices significantly above government-set levels, the major licensees would rely relatively more on administered timber sales and less on private or auctioned timber. Therefore, while local variations will exist, overall the government price effectively sets the average province-wide price as well.

4.269 Canada criticizes this study and cites to other evidence it finds compelling. The issue, however, is not which evidence Canada finds persuasive. The issue is whether the record evidence supports the United States' determination. The EI Study and other record evidence, some of which is summarized in the United States' first written submission and oral statements at the first substantive meeting of the Panel, support that determination. There also is significant documentary evidence confirming this economic analysis and demonstrating that each provinces' system of public timber sales distorted private timber prices.

4.270 The evidence demonstrates that the provincial governments shape the timber market to achieve public policy goals, and that the government-controlled, public-policy driven sector of the timber market distorts the private timber market. There was therefore ample support for the United States' conclusion that there are no independent, market-driven timber prices available in Canada. The United States' use of data from other sources to assess the fair market value of timber in Canada was therefore warranted and was consistent with Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement.

4.271 The evidence also supports the United States' decision to use timber prices in the northern United States, properly adjusted to reflect conditions of sale in Canada, as an alternative source for assessing the fair market value of timber in Canada. The rationale for the United States' choice of data for establishing market benchmarks is sound. As the United States explained in its first written submission, the value of timber depends on the demand for the downstream products. US and Canadian timber satisfies the same demand in the integrated North American lumber market, and Canada has no comparative advantage in serving that demand. In addition, the record demonstrates that US timber is commercially available to lumber producers in Canada. The US timber is also comparable to Canadian timber, and the United States established species-specific, province-specific benchmarks to conduct the comparison.

4.272 In response to the Panel's questions, Canada stated that out-of-country benchmarks that are available to purchasers in the country of provision would be suitable benchmarks because they "would then form part of prevailing market conditions 'in' the country of provision." As discussed in the Final Determination, the evidence demonstrates that US timber is, in fact, commercially available to lumber producers in Canada. Further, Canada asserts that the United States could have used an alternate methodology, i.e., evaluation of the government's prices based on evidence of the government's costs and profitability. The standard is not the cost to the government, but rather the benefit to the recipient. We have demonstrated that the use of prices for US timber in the northern United States, adjusted for differences in conditions of sale in Canada, is consistent with Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement.

4.273 Canada cites to Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4, and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 as the basis for its calculation-related claims. As the United States previously indicated, Canada's claims under Articles 10, 19.1, and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement are necessarily derivative claims that cannot succeed because Canada has failed to establish that the United States has breached its obligations under another provision of the SCM Agreement.

4.274 Canada admits that neither Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement nor Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 contain any obligation regarding the methodology a Member may use in calculating the *ad valorem* subsidy rate. None of the provisions of the SCM Agreement that Canada cited in support of its claim establish the calculation obligations Canada suggests the United States has violated. Given that a panel's terms of reference "establish the jurisdiction of the provision of the process claims at issue in the dispute," and that the identification of the specific provision of the covered agreements is a "minimum prerequisite" for stating the legal basis of the claim, this Panel should reject Canada's attempts to bootstrap claims that the *ad valorem* rate calculation is inconsistent with other provisions of the SCM Agreement.

4.275 Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 merely provide that the countervailing duty rate imposed may not exceed the amount of the subsidy the investigating authority has found to exist. Neither provision contains particular calculation obligations of the sort Canada asserts have been violated. Canada, therefore, has failed to present a *prima facie* case on this issue.

4.276 The United States' calculation of the *ad valorem* subsidy rate is consistent with the SCM Agreement and the evidence developed through the investigation. The United States included in the numerator the volume of provincial softwood timber entering sawmills, multiplied by the benefit per cubic meter. This method captured the total value of the subsidy provided to sawmills. The United States then allocated that benefit over all sales of products that resulted from the lumber production process. This methodology accounted for the fact that the production process yields other products as well as lumber.

4.277 The United States conducted this investigation on an aggregate basis, calculating the total benefit provided by each province, as discussed above. Canada does not dispute the United States'

authority to conduct this aggregate analysis, but it continues to assert that the United States was obligated to conduct a pass-through analysis to establish the amount of any benefit received by certain producers of the subject merchandise, i.e., independent remanufacturers.

4.278 In Canada's first response to the Panel's questions, it acknowledged that, "[w]here the timber harvester and the producer of subject merchandise are the same 'recipient' of the alleged subsidy, no pass-through analysis would be required." This fact pattern describes the vast majority of the producers of the subject merchandise and includes both sawmills and remanufacturers. Thus, Canada's statement acknowledges that the United States was not required to conduct a pass-through analysis for at least the vast majority of the lumber at issue.

4.279 Canada also fails to address Article 19.3 of the SCM Agreement, which specifically allows Members to apply definitive countervailing duties to exports of an uninvestigated exporter or producer as long as the exporter or producer may obtain an expedited review to establish its own rate.

4.280 Additionally, Canada overreaches when it contends that a "[s]ubsidy pass-through analysis is required in every instance where the subsidy found to exist is allegedly bestowed on one person while the countervailing duty is imposed on the products of another." Canada's attempt to read such an obligation into Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement has no basis in the text. If Canada were correct, every time a Member investigates one or more companies and applies their subsidy rate to uninvestigated exporters or producers – a common practice – that Member violates the SCM Agreement. Such practices do not, however, violate the SCM Agreement, as evidenced by the last sentence of Article 19.3 of the Agreement.

4.281 Canada argues that the United States understated the denominator by failing to include the value of certain "residual products" in the denominator. Canada failed to submit any evidence from which the United States could separate the value of additional products resulting from the lumber production process from the broader residual products category. Accordingly, the United States did not include the residual products category in the denominator. Canada also disputes the value used to represent remanufactured products that the United States selected and used in the denominator. As noted above, the Panel should decline Canada's request to engage in a *de novo* review and re-weigh the evidence before the administering authority.

4.282 In its questions to the parties, the Panel requested Canada to address how the conversion factors that the United States used were based on "manifestly incorrect data." Canada failed to provide the information the Panel requested. Instead, Canada cited alternative sources of conversion factors. The existence of alternative sources, however, does not mean that the United States' selection was "manifestly incorrect."

4.283 Article 2.1(c) of the SCM Agreement contains clear and objective criteria for determining when a subsidy is specific. Where a subsidy programme is used by a limited number of "certain enterprises" – i.e., an enterprise, industry, or group of enterprises or industries – it is specific in fact. Other than considering the extent of diversification of economic activities and the length of time the subsidy programme has been operating, Members are not obligated to conduct any further specificity analysis.

4.284 The United States met its obligation to demonstrate that provincial stumpage subsidies are specific and thus actionable under the SCM Agreement. In the Final Determination, the United States found that the users of stumpage were a "limited group of wood product industries" that included "pulp and paper mills and the saw mills and remanufacturers which are producing the subject merchandise." The industries comprising this limited group fall squarely within the ordinary meaning of the term "industry," which identifies industries by general product, such as automobiles or textiles, or by the type of activity engaged in, such as mining or banking. Thus, the provincial stumpage subsidies are specific under Article 2.1(c) of the SCM Agreement.

4.285 Canada responds to this finding by attempting to rewrite the specificity test, seeking to redefine terms such as "industry" and "group," and to create exceptions that do not exist in Article 2. For example, Canada claims that the term "industry" requires a "product-based identification of industries," such that individual industries would be distinguished on the basis of a particular end product, or set of end products, that they make. By contrast, both in its ordinary meaning, and within the context of Article 2 of the SCM Agreement, "industry" is used broadly, referring to makers of a general class of products – such as "the steel industry" – regardless of the number or diversity of end products that the industry produces.

4.286 Canada itself admits, in response to question 27 from the Panel, that a subsidy to a single large industry *could* be found specific, even where its producers make a vast diversity of products, as in the steel, automobile, textile, and telecommunications industries. This admission contradicts Canada's argument that an "industry" must be defined narrowly on the basis of a particular end product or set thereof.

4.287 Canada likewise admits that a subsidy granted solely to auto and textile producers could be specific under Article 2.1, notwithstanding the dissimilarity of their end products. It nonetheless still insists that the two industries cannot form a single "group" of industries that is specific within the meaning of Article 2.1(c). Instead, Canada maintains that "the industries producing 'autos' and the industries producing 'textiles'" are actually "two groups of industries" that "appear to be a 'limited number' of certain enterprises," and thus specific. Notwithstanding Canada's acceptance of diversity in the product mix of an "industry," Canada finds such dissimilarity incompatible with its view of the term "group," which for Canada requires "similarity and relatedness" of output products. In its ordinary meaning, and in the context of Article 2 of the SCM Agreement, the definition of "group" is far more straightforward, meaning simply "more than one" enterprise or industry, without regard to the "similarity or relatedness" of their end products.

4.288 Canada continues to argue that each industry is defined by a narrow class of end products, claiming that the "immediate users of stumpage" include "at least 23 categories of industries, and the industries are as unrelated as lumber, agricultural chemicals, paper, and furniture." This argument is not only legally flawed, it rests on misleading evidence. Canada's key exhibit is a survey of forest product industries that lists 201 products made by tenure holders, categorized into 23 categories that Canada claims to be different industries. In reality, Canada's list of industries is little more than an exercise in hairsplitting – assigning multiple industries to a single sawmill based on its output.

4.289 The fact remains that the vast majority of tenures in Canada are entered into directly between the provincial governments and "wood processing facilities," and in most instances only wood processing facilities – such as sawmills that produce lumber – are eligible to obtain a tenure contract. The record clearly demonstrates that provincial stumpage is used by an extremely limited group of industries in Canada. Changing the definition of "industry" cannot change the objective facts.

4.290 The Panel likewise should reject Canada's attempt to create exceptions to the specificity test contained in Article 2.1(c) of the SCM Agreement. Nothing in the text of Article 2 permits an actionable subsidy to escape the disciplines of the SCM Agreement based on the intent of the granting Member or the "inherent characteristics" of a good provided at below market rates. Nor does Article 2 require the "limited number of certain enterprises" to be established relative to the "eligible users," as Canada claims. Finally, the Panel should dismiss Canada's contention that a finding on the "limited number" prong is not sufficient to support a determination of specificity under Article 2.1(c). Both the language and underlying logic of Article 2.1(c) make clear that it is unnecessary to make findings on all prongs of the test for a determination of specificity in fact. The provisions of the SCM Agreement are clear, and the United States has met those obligations. Canada should not be permitted to rewrite the Agreement in a manner more to its liking.

4.291 Canada claims that the United States' final decision, in response to comments from Canadian parties, to use data from Minnesota as the basis for calculating the market benchmarks for Alberta and Saskatchewan was inconsistent with Articles 12.1, 12.3, and 12.8 of the SCM Agreement. The United States' conduct of this investigation was entirely consistent with its obligations.

4.292 Canada's claim under Article 12.1 is premised on the assertion that parties were denied the right to present evidence because the use of alternative states, such as Minnesota, had not been an issue in this investigation. The use of northern US states generally, and the issue of the benchmark state to use for Alberta and Saskatchewan specifically, were very much at issue. Moreover, all parties had ample opportunity to present information and argument on this issue, as evidenced by Saskatchewan's proposal that the United States use Alaska instead of Montana.

4.293 Canada's claim under Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement is equally unfounded. Canada has failed to cite to a single piece of record information on market benchmarks to which the parties were denied access.

4.294 Finally, Canada acknowledges that nothing in Article 12 suggests that an investigating authority must engage in endless cycles of notice and comment. Nevertheless, Canada's claim under Article 12.8 is based on the erroneous premise that Article 12.8 requires the investigating authority to provide an opportunity for notice and comment with respect to the final decision made on each issue before the determination becomes final. Nothing in Article 12.8 imposes such a requirement.

4.295 In the context of the SCM Agreement, the "essential" facts are those that are necessary to determine whether definitive measures are warranted. A market benchmark is certainly essential to a determination of adequate remuneration, but all of the facts "under consideration" with respect to the calculation of the market benchmarks were made known to the parties. Significantly, Article 12.8 of the SCM Agreement refers to the "essential facts *under consideration*." Thus, by its own terms, Article 12.8 is concerned with the ongoing investigative process during which the investigating authority is still "considering" the facts. Article 12.8, therefore, cannot be interpreted to apply to the investigating authority's final decision, at which point the issues have been decided and the facts are no longer "under consideration."

4.296 Article 12.8 does not impose any specific method of informing the parties of the "essential facts under consideration." Rather, it specifies that the process used must inform parties "in sufficient time for the parties to defend their interests." The United States' procedural rules are designed to guarantee a very open and transparent process in order to accomplish this goal, which was achieved in this case.

4.297 The record establishes that the United States provided parties with ample opportunity to provide information and argument on whether the Maine stumpage price should include studwood and pulpwood. Quebec submitted considerable information and argument on this very issue. In the end, the United States agreed with Quebec and adjusted the benchmark calculation accordingly. Canada claims, however, that the United States withheld information from the parties and denied them the opportunity to prepare presentations on the basis of that information, in violation of Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement. The information allegedly withheld is the December 20, 2001, letter from the Maine Forest Products Council ("MFPC"). As discussed in response to the Panel's questions, this information was provided to the parties in time for them to prepare presentations on the basis of that information. Neither party was afforded an opportunity for sur-rebuttal and there is no obligation in Article 12 to provide such an opportunity.

4.298 The thrust of Canada's claim is a wholly unsubstantiated allegation that the United States intentionally withheld the MFPC Letter. The US regulations for the filing of information require the parties submitting the information to ensure that the information is placed on the record and provided to all interested parties. The MFPC Letter was not filed in accordance with those regulations.

Canada's claim that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement must therefore fail.

4.299 For the reasons set forth above as well as in the United States' first written submission, oral statements at the first substantive meeting of the Panel, and first response to the Panel's questions, the United States requests that the Panel reject Canada's claims in their entirety.

G. SECOND ORAL STATEMENT OF CANADA

4.300 The following summarizes Canada's arguments in its second oral statement.

1. Financial Contribution

4.301 The ordinary meaning of "goods" is movable, tangible items. Immovables – such as buildings, roads, mineral deposits and trees in the forest – are not goods. Intangible rights, whether concerning intellectual property or real property, are not goods. In the facts of this case, tenure agreements and licences convey a right to harvest trees in a defined area. This is a right in respect of real property, and with that right come obligations that run regardless of any harvest; the right exists even in respect of trees that have not yet been planted. This right is in respect of an immovable – a standing tree – that is not a good; and it is a right in respect of something that may not even exist at the time the right is conveyed. It is an intangible and therefore not a good.

4.302 The ordinary meaning of "goods" excludes intangibles. An intangible right does not become a "good" just because it is a factor enabling the creation of a good. An intangible right does not become a "good" just because the right holder's objective is to produce a good. Harvesting rights permit the holders to produce logs; however, rights are distinct from the trees to which they attach. Harvesting rights are also distinct from the good, the log, which is not produced until the harvester invests the effort and incurs the significant costs of harvesting and processing standing timber into logs. The provision of rights is not the same thing as the provision of goods.

4.303 The ordinary meaning of goods also excludes immovables subject only to limited exceptions. Among these exceptions are growing crops and "timber to be cut" that is identified in a sales contract. A timber sales contract covers specific *trees*; it does not cover just *any* trees that are or may be found in an identified area. Tenure agreements do *not* relate to identified trees, but as conceded by the US in its Second Written Submission, they relate to an identified *area*. Non-identified trees, whether or not they are in an identified area, are "immovables" and because they do not fit within the exception, they are not goods.

4.304 The definition of subsidy has two elements. Financial contribution relates to what the government does, benefit to what the recipient receives. Article 1.1(a)(1) does not require a determination as to what the recipient ends up with at the end of the day or why the recipient enters into a given relationship with a government; rather, it requires a determination as to what the government provides. The government, in this instance, does not provide "cut timber".

4.305 Harvesters subject to a tenure or licence assume a variety of forest management obligations for the period of the tenure or licence over the area covered by the tenure or licence. These obligations run regardless of the harvest of any trees. Tenures and licences do not involve the sale of anything – they involve the conferral of harvesting rights. The United States has admitted that tenures and licences involve identified areas. They do not involve identified trees. Standing trees under tenures and licences are not "goods" for the purposes of the SCM Agreement.

4.306 A right to harvest standing timber is an intangible interest in respect of real property and is therefore not "goods"; standing trees with roots firmly in the ground are immovables and therefore not "goods". Stumpage programmes do not provide goods and do not constitute a financial contribution.

2. Benefit

4.307 Article 14(d) requires that the adequacy of remuneration be determined and measured on the basis of "*prevailing* market conditions ... *in* the country of provision". Accordingly, benefit must be determined on the basis of existing market conditions in Canada. Article 14(d) does not permit benefit to be determined and measured using benchmarks that are outside the country of provision. It also does not permit an investigating authority to measure adequacy of remuneration by comparing the government price to a hypothetical "fair market value".

4.308 This interpretation of Article 14(d) is consistent with the Appellate Body's analysis of Article 1.1(b) in *Canada – Aircraft*. In that case, the Appellate Body directed a comparison that is to be informed by what the recipient can obtain in the market. The Article 1.1(b) "market" in a provision of goods context under Article 14(d) is the actual "market" as it exists in the country of provision.

4.309 The US reliance on an extract from the second implementation panel in *Brazil – Aircraft* to argue that the comparison market must be a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution is misplaced. First, *Brazil – Aircraft* did concern the standard set out in Article 14(b). At issue in that case was whether the PROEX payments made by the Brazilian government to certain banks resulted in a benefit to purchasers of Brazilian aircraft. In order to determine this, the panel looked at the impact of the PROEX payments on the terms and conditions of the *export credit financing* available to the purchasers of these aircraft. Therefore, though unstated, this part of the decision did in fact turn on the standard set out in Article 14(b).

4.310 Second, the reference to an undistorted market should be seen in its proper context – that is, against the background of the original case. The panel determined in that case that the comparison must be to the market for commercial lending rates and not another government market. The panel did not find that a commercial or private market rate or price cannot be used as a benchmark if there is government involvement in the marketplace.

4.311 The Appellate Body's decision in US – Countervailing Measures on Certain EC Products also provides no support for the rejection by the US of the in-country evidence submitted by Canadian provinces. First, the Appellate Body's decision was made in a different context that did not consider the explicit language of Article 14(d). Second, while that case involved consideration of the presumption at issue in arm's-length sales by government, the plain language of Article 14(d) governs this case. In the present case, the SCM Agreement's plain language requires a benefit determination based on benchmarks that reflect the "prevailing market conditions ... in the country of provision". This language establishes a clear rule, not a "presumption" that might be rebutted in limited circumstances.

4.312 The central issue before this Panel with respect to benefit is whether the SCM Agreement requires investigating authorities to use in-country evidence to determine adequacy of remuneration. Canada's purpose in presenting the in-country evidence on the record in this case is to demonstrate that (i) the record contained substantial evidence of prevailing market conditions in Canada that should have been used to determine adequacy of remuneration, and (ii) even if *arguendo* the US was permitted to reject this evidence, the reasons it offers fail to stand up to any objective scrutiny.

4.313 In its Second Written Submission, the US has again conceded that data on private stumpage in both Québec and Ontario exist. With respect to the TDAs, this data was developed by opposing commercial interests in Alberta to establish the market value of healthy standing timber. In addition, the four primary exporting provinces all provided evidence that showed that their stumpage programmes are administered consistent with market principles. Similarly, BC provided economic evidence that reinforced this conclusion. Finally, the United States' focus on alleged flaws in how public timber prices are set is misplaced as these are irrelevant to the benchmarks required under Article 14(d).

4.314 The US rationalizes the rejection of in-country evidence by discussing certain forest management practices that allegedly demonstrate that the provinces distort private timber markets. In particular, the United States makes selective reference to appurtenancy requirements, alleged restrictions on the transfer of tenures and annual allowable cuts in specific provinces. None of these practices were the subject of the investigation. Further the Final Determination contains no analysis that demonstrates that the provinces' management of their stumpage programmes distorted the market. Rather, USDOC relied on the Preamble to presume price suppression and supported this presumption with anecdotal evidence and a flawed economic analysis. In any event, as the panel in US - Softwood Lumber III found, Article 14(d) does not allow an investigating authority to decline to use in-country prices because they may be affected by the government's financial contribution.

4.315 Article 14(d) requires that adequacy of remuneration be determined using prevailing market conditions in the country of provision. Market prices available on the world market can become part of prevailing market conditions "in" the country of provision where there are imports of the good into the country of provision. If there are imports at a given price, then the price is no longer an out-of-country price, but rather is part of the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision.

4.316 The US prices used by USDOC as benchmarks do not fall within this category. USDOC found that the subsidized "good" was either standing timber or the right to harvest standing timber. US stumpage is not, and cannot, be made "available" in Canada. Standing trees growing in the US cannot be harvested in Canada, and the right to harvest these trees growing in the US cannot be exercised in Canada. Logs are not timber-harvesting rights, nor are they standing timber. Standing timber in the US cannot be transported across the border, as it must be cut in the US.

4.317 Also, contrary to the United States' assertion, USDOC did not compare prevailing market conditions in Canada with those in the US. USDOC ignored a host of differences in market conditions, and as for the adjustments it did make, failed to adequately take into account differences between individual provinces and US comparison areas.

4.318 The US dismisses the provincial evidence demonstrating that stumpage programmes are operated in accordance with market principles as not relevant to a benefit analysis. This is so, it argues, because the "standard is not the cost to government, but rather benefit to the recipient." The US thus dismisses the third benchmark under the regulations it adopted to implement the results of the Uruguay Round. There is no question that the United States believed, at the time of adoption, that this benchmark was consistent with the analysis contemplated by Article 14(d), and was not, as the US now argues, based on a "cost to government" standard.

4.320 USDOC also expressly refused to consider evidence demonstrating that provincial stumpage systems cannot confer a trade advantage. This economic evidence demonstrated that, for *in situ* natural resource markets, receipt of the input for a lower fee or charge does not affect the supply curve

²⁰ Steel Wire Rod from Germany, 62 Fed. Reg. 54,990, 54,994 (Dep't Commerce 22 Oct. 1997) (final determination).

for the exported product. In this instance, USDOC assumed the existence of trade distortion rather than considering evidence that demonstrated that there was no effect on the marginal cost or supply. This evidence demonstrates that provincial stumpage programmes neither increase the production of logs and lumber, nor lower their prices relative to a private competitive market.

3. Pass-through

4.321 The pass-through issue in this dispute is not simply about calculating the amount of the alleged stumpage subsidy; it is *first* about determining whether a subsidy exists. This means making the required determinations of an indirect financial contribution and of a benefit conferred thereby. The amount of a subsidy cannot be calculated, aggregated or allocated until a subsidy is first determined to exist.

4.322 The United States does not contest that arm's-length transactions exist and that no subsidy has been determined to exist in those instances. The United States impermissibly presumed subsidization in all cases other than alleged direct subsidization, asserting incorrectly that all producers of subject lumber were "direct recipients" of Crown stumpage. There is no exception in the SCM Agreement that allows a Member to presume subsidization in a countervailing duty investigation.

4.323 The United States has countervailed softwood lumber, not standing timber. The subject lumber products are a few examples of the many downstream products produced in many distinct industries that receive the alleged subsidy directly. If the subsidy to timber harvesters is presumed to have passed through to downstream producers of the subject lumber, then it must be presumed to have passed through to producers of *all* downstream products. The question then is how the stumpage subsidy could be limited to the mills upstream in the US specificity finding, when all products and industries downstream are presumed to have received it. US arguments on pass-through make US arguments on specificity impossible, and internally contradictory.

4. Specificity

4.324 There are two central errors in the US approach to specificity: first, it applied the wrong standard; and second, it incorrectly found that stumpage was used by a limited group of industries.

4.325 First, sole reliance on the "limited users" factor, as interpreted and applied by the United States, renders the specificity requirement meaningless. The factors set out in Article 2.1(c) do not, in and of themselves, establish specificity. Nowhere in that provision does it say, "a subsidy is de facto specific if one or more of the following factors exist"; nowhere does it say, "where the users of the subsidy are limited in number, no matter the reason, the subsidy shall be deemed to be specific". Article 2 requires not automaticity, but clear substantiation on the basis of positive evidence.

4.326 Second, the words "industry" and "group of industries" require an objective analysis of the record evidence in terms of the products produced by the users of a programme. In this case, an objective assessment of the products produced by the thousands of actual immediate users of stumpage identifies at least 23 standard categories of industries. When the analysis is extended to include indirect users of stumpage, as the US has done in its impermissible pass-through presumption, many more and varied industries are added.

4.327 The US interpretation reads the word "group" out of Article 2 altogether. However, as the United States itself put it recently in US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment), the issue is "how small and homogenous a group of beneficiaries must be in order to qualify as a 'a group of enterprises or industries", not whether the subsidy is used by the entire economy, or simply by more than one enterprise or industry. The products produced by stumpage users are as numerous and diverse as those produced in the agricultural sector, which in the view of the United States is neither a "single

large industry" nor even a group of industries. Again, in US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment), the United States argued that groupings "such as 'all manufacturing' and 'all agriculture,' are too broad to qualify as a 'group of enterprises or industries' for specificity purposes." Stumpage is used by many varied industries because it is a right of access to exploit a natural resource. That natural resource is not altered in any way by governments.

4.328 Moreover, the purpose of countervailing duties is to protect domestic producers from injury caused by subsidized imports of like products. Logically, therefore, the level of aggregation used to identify the user industries for specificity purposes (through the products they produce) should be commensurate with the level of aggregation used to identify the allegedly injured domestic producers (through the products they produce). To do otherwise impermissibly concentrates for specificity purposes an otherwise broad alleged subsidy and imputes it solely to producers of the subject merchandise – exactly what the United States did in the Final Determination.

5. Calculations

4.329 Canada's Article 19.4 claims rest on two legal foundations. First, and as the US agrees, Article 19.4 requires that a countervailing duty rate must not exceed the subsidy per unit rate found in respect of exported and subsidized goods. Second, the subsidy per unit rate must be calculated correctly, based on a correctly determined subsidy amount, and a correctly determined subsidy. The United States disagrees. It argues that Article 19.4 requires nothing more than a reconciliation of a subsidy per unit rate, however determined, with the countervailing duty rate actually imposed. Such an outcome renders the obligation in Article 19.4 meaningless.

4.330 The Panel must determine whether the United States has met its legal obligation, under Article 19.4, to limit the amount of the countervailing duty rate to the correctly determined alleged subsidy per unit. The United States has a legal obligation to ensure that any countervailing duty imposed does not go beyond the purposes of a countervailing duty – to offset injurious subsidization. It may not escape its obligations by characterizing every issue as a matter that is within the unfettered discretion of investigating authorities.

6. Conduct of the Investigation

4.331 Canada's claims concerning the conduct of the investigation at issue are independent from its claims regarding the illegality of the Final Determination of subsidy. In conducting this investigation, the United States violated its obligations under Article 12, and the countervailing duties imposed on the basis of this tainted investigation therefore violate Articles 10 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement.

4.332 First, USDOC determined that its benchmark states would border the relevant provinces. The US appeared before the WTO and argued that its benchmarks were valid because they were "contiguous" to the relevant provinces. The United States switched the benchmark state to compare with Alberta and Saskatchewan from Montana – a contiguous state – to Minnesota – a non-contiguous state – without giving interested parties notice or any opportunity to comment on the specific choice of the benchmark. The United States thus violated Articles 12.1, 12.3 and 12.8.

4.333 Second, a senior USDOC official specifically requested information vital to USDOC's use of Maine as a benchmark state for Québec. The Maine Forest Products Council sent a letter in response. USDOC did not put the letter on the record for months. The petitioners then submitted new evidence – and the United States admits that new evidence was submitted – in response to USDOC's request for comments on the letter. USDOC refused to permit interested parties to respond to the petitioners' new evidence despite the fact that USDOC relied on it in making its Final Determination. The United States failed to provide a timely opportunity to see relevant information; it failed to provide an opportunity for interested parties to prepare presentations on the basis of that relevant new information. It thus violated Article 12.3.

H. SECOND ORAL STATEMENT OF THE UNITED STATES

4.334 The following summarizes the United States' arguments in its second oral statement.

4.335 The record demonstrates that the provinces own timber and, through provincial tenures, provide timber to lumber producers. There should therefore be no question that the provinces provide a financial contribution within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

4.336 The ordinary meaning of "goods" includes standing timber. Canada's argument to the contrary is reduced to the assertion that tenures are not sales of "timber to be cut," within the meaning of the US UCC, even though the sole reason for acquiring a tenure is to harvest timber, and the tenure holder pays for and receives title to only the timber it cuts. Moreover, the UCC provides that the sale of timber to be cut is always a contract for the sale of goods, regardless of whether the timber is "identified" at the time of the contract. More to the point, however, the provinces "provide" a "good" within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

4.337 Canada also suggests, without citation to record evidence, that many tenures create freely transferable "rights to harvest." The record evidence establishes, however, that the provinces retain control over tenures, which cannot be transferred without the provinces' approval. The subcontracting of harvesting operations is not the sale or transfer of a "right to harvest." The tenure holder, not the subcontractor, remains at all times the province's contracting party.

4.338 It is the substance of what occurs in the provincial tenure systems that is controlling, i.e., whether a provision of goods takes place. As discussed in our previous submissions, the ordinary meaning of the terms "provides" and "goods or services other than general infrastructure" sweeps broadly. No matter how Canada characterizes provincial tenures, the fact remains that the provinces are providing timber to lumber producers. A financial contribution therefore exists.

4.339 The key legal issue in this dispute is whether Article 14(d) of the SCM precludes, in all cases, the use of data from sources outside the country under investigation to determine the adequacy of remuneration. As the Appellate Body has stated, the issue is whether "the 'financial contribution' makes the recipient 'better off' than it *would otherwise have been, absent that contribution*."²¹ In other words, the Appellate Body recognized that in order to determine whether a financial contribution confers a benefit, it is essential to compare the position of the recipient with the financial contribution. Moreover, the Appellate Body's statement provides the context for the Appellate Body's conclusion that the point of comparison is the "marketplace." Thus, as the *Brazil – Aircraft* panel concluded, looking to the marketplace to determine whether the recipient is better off than it would otherwise have been absent the financial contribution necessarily means looking to a marketplace undistorted by the government's financial contribution.²²

4.340 It is the view of the United States, as well as the European Communities, that Article 14(d) does not prohibit Members from relying on data from sources outside the country of provision to determine the adequacy of remuneration if reliable, market-driven pricing data does not exist in the country of provision. We will not repeat the arguments supporting that conclusion, but will comment on Canada's flawed three-pronged analysis of Article 14(d).

4.341 First, Article 14(d) provides that the adequacy of remuneration must be determined "in relation to" prevailing market conditions in the country of provision. Canada, however, substitutes "in relation to" with "on the basis of" or "in comparison with." The more reasonable interpretation is that the broader phrase "in relation to" was agreed to by Members because Article 14 explicitly sets

²¹ Appellate Body Report, *Canada – Aircraft*, para. 157.

²² Panel Report, Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada II), para. 5.29.

out "guidelines," i.e., general principles, not detailed rules. "In relation to" is sufficiently broad to allow for various means of performing a comparison that relates to market conditions in the country under investigation, rather than limiting Members to analyses "on the basis of," or "in comparison with," certain types of data. Permitted methods can include analyses that rely on data from sources outside the country, if the data is probative of the fair market value for the good in the country of provision.

4.342 Second, Canada ignores the word "market" in the phrase "prevailing market conditions," as if any conditions are "market" conditions. The Panel, however, must give meaning to the word "market." In that regard, the logic of the *Brazil – Aircraft* Panel Report is compelling. In determining whether the government's financial contribution confers a benefit – i.e., whether the recipient is better off with the financial contribution than it would otherwise have been absent the financial contribution – the "market" conditions must be conditions that are undistorted by the government's financial contribution.

4.343 Third, adequacy of remuneration must be determined in relation to prevailing market conditions "in the country of provision." That begs the question, however, whether there are in fact "market" conditions for the good "in the country of provision" that provide probative evidence for determining adequacy of remuneration. Where such evidence does not exist in the country of provision, as in this case, nothing in Article 14(d) precludes a Member from relying on market data from sources outside the country that is probative of fair market value in the country of provision.

4.344 The importance of using market benchmarks, even if they are based on data from sources outside the country of provision, is underscored by Article 15(b) of the *Protocol on the Accession of the People's Republic of China*²³, which is cited, but misinterpreted, by Canada. The United States negotiated Article 15(b) of the China Protocol because the United States, along with other Members, recognized that China was in transition from a state-controlled economy to a market economy. Although Article 14(d) of the SCM permits the use of market data outside China, it only applies in countervailing duty cases under Part V of the SCM Agreement. Recognizing the importance of "market" benchmarks, the Members incorporated the language that Canada references in Article 15(b) of the SCM Agreement, and also to ensure that such data can be used in proceedings under Parts II and III of the SCM Agreement.

4.345 Other provisions in the China Protocol likewise repeat obligations already binding on WTO Members. For example, the China Protocol provides that "China shall ensure that internal taxes and charges . . . shall be in conformity with the GATT 1994."²⁴ The inclusion of this provision does not mean that other Members need not ensure that their internal taxes conform to GATT 1994, yet this is effectively Canada's argument.

4.346 With respect to the facts of this case, the United States has, in its prior submissions and oral presentations, demonstrated that four of the six provinces did not provide private prices for timber that could be used for market benchmark purposes. Canada has failed to refute that fact. Rather, it argues that evidence that the provinces earn a profit on timber sales is sufficient to establish that they do not provide a benefit, even though those profit calculations do not include any cost or value for the trees themselves. More importantly, however, a sale for less than adequate remuneration – even a profitable one – confers a benefit.

4.347 The record evidence also demonstrates that the overwhelming state control of timber sales in Canada distorts sales in the private sector. Canada responds to this evidence by inviting the Panel to

²³ See Accession of the People's Republic of China: Decision of 10 November 2001, WT/L/432, Article 15(b) (23 November 2001) ("China Protocol") (CDA-139).

²⁴ China Protocol, Article 11(2) (US - 93).

conduct *de novo* review. Canada argues, for example, that the United States "ignored" evidence of market conditions in Canada. The record in this case demonstrates that the United States in fact considered and weighed all of the evidence and was persuaded by economic analyses, which are cited to in the Final Determination, and other documentary evidence that the state-controlled timber sales systems distorted the private market.

4.348 Canada also now states that it has "consistently taken the position . . . that a price that is available to purchasers in the country of provision makes that price part of the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision."²⁵ Given that US timber prices are available to purchasers in Canada, the United States' benchmark calculation is consistent with the position Canada now endorses. Canadian lumber producers can purchase US timber, cut it (or have it cut), and transport it to their mills in Canada.

4.349 The United States has also established that the calculation of the market benchmarks included appropriate adjustments for conditions of sale in Canada. Canada's attempts to call those adjustments into question do not withstand scrutiny.

4.350 Finally, Canada has not made a *prima facie* case that the United States erred in failing to conduct a market distortion analysis. Canada has failed to identify any obligation in the SCM to conduct such an analysis because no such obligation exists. The United States' benefit calculation is consistent with Article 14. Nothing further is required, and obligations that are not found in the Agreement may not be imposed on the United States.

4.351 Under Article 2.1 of the SCM Agreement, a subsidy is specific if it is used by a limited number of industries or group of industries. The unrefuted record facts demonstrate that provincial tenures are used by a very limited group of timber processing industries. To construct an argument that these provincial programmes are, nonetheless, not specific, Canada artificially inflates the very limited group of industries.

4.352 Canada interprets the term "industry" so narrowly that almost every product becomes an industry unto itself. Canada's dissection of the timber processing industries flies in the face of the ordinary meaning of "industry" as the term is used in Article 2. Moreover, Canada's position with respect to the timber processing industries is inconsistent with its acknowledgement that a subsidy used by a single large industry, such as automobiles or textiles, may be specific notwithstanding the diverse range of products the industry produces.

4.353 Canada also challenges the United States' specificity finding by inventing criteria that do not exist. Nothing in Article 2.1(c) requires an investigating authority to consider the government's intent or the "nature" of the good when determining whether a subsidy is specific. It is entirely permissible to find specificity based *solely* on the limited number of users.

4.354 Canada cites the negotiating history of the SCM in an effort to overcome the lack of any support in the text of Article 2.1(c) for its claim that Article 2.1(c) requires consideration of factors such as the "inherent characteristics" of the good and evidence of intentional targeting. In fact, the negotiating history that Canada cites demonstrates that such concepts ultimately were *not* adopted by the Members. The Members abandoned language on intent and "inherent characteristics" after the second Cartland draft, and such factors may not be read into the SCM Agreement.

4.355 The only additional factors that a Member must take into account under Article 2.1(c) are the extent of diversification of economic activities within the granting authority's jurisdiction and the length of time the subsidy programme has been in operation. No one argued that the number of subsidy recipients is limited because the programme had not been in operation long enough to be

²⁵ Canada's Second Written Submission, para. 41.

more widely distributed. The issue of economic diversification was raised only by British Colombia ("B.C."). The evidence B.C. submitted, however, demonstrated that the timber processing industries accounted for approximately 6 per cent of B.C.'s economy. Thus, based on B.C.'s own data, 94 per cent of B.C.'s economy did not use the provincial tenure system.

4.356 The United States' views on Canada's claims regarding the calculation of the ad valorem rate and the conduct of the investigation have been presented in our prior submissions and statements. We would like to make only a few additional points in response to Canada's second submission.

4.357 First, Canada mischaracterizes the United States' views on Article 19.4 of the SCM Agreement. Article 19.4 provides that the countervailing duty rate must be calculated on a per-unit basis. It also provides that the countervailing duty levied may not exceed the subsidy found to exist. That is the extent of the obligations in Article 19.4. The United States' argument that Canada has failed to identify any obligation in Article 19.4 to conduct an upstream subsidy analysis or to allocate subsidies by volume rather than by value is a far cry from arguing that a Member may impose countervailing duties at any rate it wishes. The fact remains, however, that Canada has failed to identify any obligation in Article 19.4 that supports its claim.

4.358 Second, the United States calculated the ad valorem duty rate by dividing the subsidy by the value of the output of the lumber production process. Canada argues that the numerator in that ad valorem rate calculation was impermissibly inflated by the inclusion of that portion of the Crown timber that ended up as products other than lumber. Canada's numerator argument is simply an argument that the United States was required to allocate the subsidy on the basis of volume rather than on the basis of value. As discussed previously, Article 19.4 simply obligates Members to calculate the countervailing duty rate on a per-unit basis. There is no requirement to allocate an input subsidy based on volume rather than value.

4.359 Third, Canada continues to suggest that the Minnesota Public Stumpage Price Report ("Minnesota Price Report") specifies a conversion factor of 6.25 for converting from thousand board feet to cubic meters. It does not. The Minnesota Price Report contains sawtimber prices reported in thousand board feet and pulpwood prices reported in cords. The price report contains a factor that Minnesota uses to convert between cords and board feet. The United States, however, only used the sawtimber prices, which are bid, sold, and reported in thousand board feet, and therefore needed to convert from board feet to cubic meters. The Minnesota Price Report does not contain such a conversion factor. We note, however, that the timber sales manual of the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources ("Minnesota Timber Sales Manual"), which publishes the Minnesota Price Report, was on the record. The Minnesota Timber Sales Manual provides a conversion factor of 3.48 cubic meters per thousand board feet. Canada does not, however, advocate using that conversion factor. Rather, Canada derived its own conversion factor from selected information in the Minnesota Price Report.

4.360 There is no one conversion factor that is universally accepted. The record evidence suggested a wide range of possible conversion factors, ranging from 3.48 to 8.51. The United States considered all of that evidence and provided a reasoned explanation for its decision to rely on the factors in the report by the International Trade Commission. The choice of conversion factor is therefore entirely consistent with the SCM Agreement.

4.361 Finally, Canada suggests that, even though the provinces knew the criteria the United States was using to select the benchmark states and had all the data on the states under consideration, Alberta and Saskatchewan were not on notice of the possibility that the United States could select a state more than 1,000 kilometres away. That assertion is contradicted by the record of the investigation. Alberta and Saskatchewan both argued that the United States should not use Montana as a benchmark state because of differences in the species mix. Saskatchewan also proposed using data from Alaska, which is more than 1,000 kilometres from, and obviously not contiguous with,

Saskatchewan. Thus, it is evident that the provinces knew that factors such as climate, terrain, and species mix – not proximity – were the key considerations, and that a non-contiguous state might be selected for the benchmark. The record of the investigation therefore establishes that the provinces knew the essential facts under consideration.

4.362 For the reasons discussed above and in our prior submissions and presentations to the Panel, the United States asks the Panel to dismiss Canada's claims.

V. **ARGUMENTS OF THE THIRD PARTIES**

5.1 The arguments of the third parties, the European Communities, India, and Japan, are set out in their written submissions and oral statements, and are summarized in this section. Third parties' answers to questions are annexed in full to this report (see List of Annexes, page v).

A. THIRD PARTY WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

1. Claims Relating to the Existence of a Subsidy within the meaning of Article 1 of the **SCM Agreement**

Financial contribution (a)

5.2 The European Communities agrees with the United States that the term "goods" includes any economically valuable right. The ordinary meaning of the word "good" is commonly defined as, *inter* alia, "property or possessions; esp. movable property, saleable commodities, merchandise, wares"²⁶ or "tangible or moveable personal property, other than money; esp., articles of trade or items of merchandise²⁷. Accordingly, the French text of the SCM Agreement uses the term "biens", which is defined, *inter alia*, as "domaine, possession, propriéte".²⁸ Finally, the Spanish version uses the word "bienes", which encompasses "inmobiliario" as well as "mobiliario.²⁹ From the ordinary meaning of the word "goods" it follows, therefore, that this term not only applies to "movable" but also to "immovable" goods, including "land".

This understanding is further corroborated by the immediate context in Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of 5.3 the SCM Agreement, which refers to

(...) goods or services other than general infrastructure (...)" (emphasis added)

5.4 According to this wording infrastructure such as streets, railways or channels – which are all immovable objects – are to be considered as a "good" to the extent that they are not "general". It follows a contrario that any "individual" immovable object that is provided by the government may also be covered by Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

The European Communities notes that the Panel in US – Softwood Lumber III confirmed that 5.5 the phrase "goods or services other than general infrastructure"

is intended to ensure that the term financial contribution is not interpreted to mean only a money-transferring action but encompasses as well an in-kind transfer of resources, with the exception of general infrastructure.³⁰

²⁶ The New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, 1993, Vol. I, p. 1116.

²⁷ Black's Law Dictionary, 7th edition, 1999.
²⁸ Le nouveau Petit Robert, 1998, p. 219.

²⁹ Moliner, Diccionario de uso del Espanol, 1988, p. 374.

³⁰ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.24.

5.6 The European Communities considers that this clarifies that the term "goods and services" can also refer to immovable property or any other property right such as, e.g., intellectual property rights. Such interpretation is also supported by the purpose of Article 1.1(a)(1) of the SCM Agreement which is intended to cover a wide variety of financial contributions made by governments, which "will also exist if the government does not collect revenue which it is entitled to or when it gives something or does something for an enterprise or purchases something from an enterprise or a group of enterprises".³¹

5.7 Indeed, subsidies may take the form of very complex bundles of rights combining, e.g., rights to a movable or immovable good (e.g., land) a service (scientific or technical research) or intellectual property (patents, copyrights). Depending on the combination of different elements and the modes of supply, such transfers of economic resources, may involve the provision of "goods or services", or the foregoing of "government revenue". If such complex economic transactions were not covered by the disciplines of the SCM Agreement, there would be considerable scope for circumvention.

5.8 Regarding the specific question of whether stumpage is covered by Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement, the EC does not consider it necessary to comment separately on the different forms of stumpage rights (*profit à prendre*, servitudes, timber harvesting licenses, and similar rights), because they all involve economically valuable harvesting rights and USDOC explained in its final determination why such rights are goods or at least services within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

5.9 In short, the European Communities agrees with the United States that the stumpage programmes are financial contributions within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(iii) of the SCM Agreement.

(b) Benefit

5.10 The key legal issue in this dispute is whether the United States has violated Articles 1 and 14 of the SCM Agreement by applying a "cross-border" methodology to establish and measure a benefit.

5.11 The European Communities considers that the determination of the correct market benchmark requires considerable care and would offer the following comments:

5.12 First, contrary to what the United States argues, the text of Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement does not refer to "*fair* market value" or "*true* market prices" that are "independent of the distortions caused by the government's action".³² Such analysis would contradict the explicit wording of Article 14(d) which requires the analysis of "*prevailing market* conditions in the country of provision" (emphasis added).

5.13 The adjective "prevailing", which means "as they exist"³³ clarifies that the investigating authorities have to base their benefit determinations on existing reference prices that the producer would have had to pay if it had to buy the goods (now provided by the government) from a different and independent seller in the country of provision, including imports.³⁴

5.14 Read contextually with the term "*market* conditions" in Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement (and other paragraphs of Article 14) the treaty language clarifies that only in situations where there are no *market* conditions, i.e., prices determined by independent operators following the principle of supply and demand, the in-country benchmark set out by Article 14(d), second sentence of the SCM

³¹ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.24.

³² United States First Written Submission, paras. 42 ff, 72 (emphasis added).

³³ Concise Oxford Dictionary, Ninth Edition, p. 1084.

³⁴ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.52.

Agreement does not apply. Only in such rare situations, the adequacy of the remuneration may be determined following a reasonable method according to Article 14(d), first sentence of the SCM Agreement, including, where necessary, world market prices.

5.15 Thus, as the Panel confirmed in US – Softwood Lumber III, Article 14(d) does not permit investigating authorities to dismiss actual in-country prices <u>merely</u> because they might be affected by the financial contribution.³⁵

5.16 Second, the European Communities does not consider the reference by the United States to recent amendments of its Regulation (EC) 2026/97 relevant for the resolution of this dispute.³⁶ As noted by the United States, these amendments concern a situation where "no such prevailing market terms and conditions" exist and where, consistently with Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement, investigating authorities may, therefore, apply an alternative benchmark.

5.17 By contrast, under its methodology as applied in the final determination on softwood lumber, the United States continues to consider itself entitled to dismiss existing alternative reference prices in the country of provision and to use petitioner's prices simply on the basis that in-country prices "were significantly affected by the financial contribution itself"³⁷. This is different from establishing that there are <u>no market</u> conditions in the country of provision.

5.18 Thus, the problem with the "cross-border" methodology attacked by Canada is not that it eventually allows consideration of world market prices, but under which <u>conditions</u> recourse may be had to alternative benchmarks. The European Communities fully agrees with the panel US – *Softwood Lumber III* where it dismisses the "hypothetical undistorted market" methodology as contradictory with the text of Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement. However, the European Communities would respectfully ask this Panel to clarify that there is no absolute rule prohibiting recourse to world market prices to determine the adequacy of the remuneration, if it can be established in exceptional cases that there are no prevailing market conditions within the meaning of Article 14(d) second sentence of the *SCM Agreement*, so that that rule cannot be applied in order to establish the existence of a benefit.

5.19 Finally, as to the correct application of the above rules to the final determination in this case, the European Communities as a third party is obviously not in a position to comment on the availability of independent market-driven prices for non-governmental stumpage (be it from private Canadian land or imported). However, the European Communities notes that USDOC itself acknowledged that private stumpage markets have a share between 2-17 per cent in Canada.³⁸ The sole rational for rejecting them in the final determination is the mere assertion that such prices are driven by the stumpage prices on Crown land, i.e., the flawed "hypothetical undistorted market" methodology.

5.20 The European Communities also notes that USDOC has recognised "extensive record evidence that Canadian lumber producers had actual imports of US logs and purchased US stumpage during the POI".³⁹ This finding in itself contradicts USDOC rejection of a competitive timber/and or lumber market in Canada.⁴⁰

³⁵ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, paras. 7.50 and 7.52.

³⁶ United States First Written Submission, para. 55.

³⁷ United States First Written Submission, para. 65.

³⁸ Final Determination, p. 37 and 38. (CDA - 1).

³⁹ Final Determination, p. 40. (CDA - 1)

⁴⁰ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.49, footnote 86.

(c) Failure to Examine and Determine the Existence of a Benefit to all Producers of the Subject Product ("Pass Through")

5.21 The European Communities agrees with Canada that the final countervailing duty determination is flawed because it assumes that the alleged financial contribution to timber harvesters through the stumpage rights conferred a benefit on the downstream producers of softwood lumber, although a significant portion of harvesting is done by entities operating at arm's-length from the lumber producers. Instead of conducting a "pass-through" analysis, USDOC applied an irrefutable presumption that the alleged benefit received by stumpage holders has passed through to all lumber producers harvesters.⁴¹

5.22 The United States does not contest that some producers of the subject merchandise operate at arm's-length, but defends itself by arguing that the final CVD determination was made on an <u>aggregate basis</u> under Article 19.1 and 19.3 of the SCM Agreement, thereby exempting the competent authority from making a "pass-through" analysis.⁴²

5.23 The European Communities considers that the panel in US – Softwood Lumber III correctly found that neither Article 19 nor any other provision of the SCM Agreement authorises investigating authorities to depart from the requirement to correctly establish the amount of subsidisation if they chose to conduct the investigation on an aggregate basis.⁴³ As already clarified by the Appellate Body in US – Lead and Bismuth II⁴⁴, and confirmed by the panel in US – Softwood Lumber III, an authority may not assume that a subsidy provided to producers of the "upstream" input product automatically benefits unrelated producers of downstream products, especially if there is evidence on the record of arm's-length transactions between the two.⁴⁵ Thus, USDOC was "required to examine whether, in certain transactions covered by the investigation, some or all of the alleged benefit to the tenure holders from the stumpage programmes was passed through to the producers of the subject merchandise exported to the US".⁴⁶

5.24 The Panel also correctly clarified that conducting the investigation on an aggregate basis versus a company-by-company basis is "irrelevant" to this issue and cannot dispense USDOC from its obligation to carry out a pass-through analysis so as to correctly establish the amount of the subsidy benefiting the producers of the subject merchandise, (i.e. the numerator).⁴⁷

2. Conclusion

5.25 In short, the European Communities considers that the final determination now before this Panel correctly established the existence of a financial contribution within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)((1)(iii)) of the SCM Agreement by interpreting the term "goods and services" so as to include any economically valuable right, *in casu*, the right to a good (whether that good is movable or immovable).

5.26 However, the measure before the Panel is inconsistent with Articles 1.1(b), 10 and 14 of the SCM Agreement because USDOC applied a flawed "hypothetical undistorted market" methodology to establish the alleged benefit and did not conduct a proper "pass-through" analysis to demonstrate that all producers of the subject merchandise received the alleged benefit.

⁴¹ Canada First Written Submission, paras. 128, 129 and 135.

⁴² United States First Written Submission, paras. 102-106.

⁴³ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, paras. 7.74 and 7.75.

⁴⁴ Appellate Body Report, US – Lead and Bismuth II, para. 68.

⁴⁵ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.71.

⁴⁶ Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.69.

⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 7.77.

B. THIRD PARTY ORAL STATEMENT OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

1. Financial contribution

5.27 The European Communities has already explained why it considers that the United States correctly established that the granting of stumpage rights is a financial contribution within the meaning of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) of the SCM Agreement, because that provision covers any economically valuable right.

5.28 This is in line with the ruling by the panel in US – Lumber III confirming that the phrase "goods or services other than general infrastructure"

(...) encompasses as well an in-kind transfer of resources, with the exception of general infrastructure.⁴⁸

5.29 The European Communities would like to reiterate that the term "goods and services" can also refer to immovable property or any other property right such as, e.g., intellectual property rights. Subsidies may take the form of very complex bundles of rights combining, e.g., rights to a movable or immovable good (e.g., land) a service (scientific or technical research) or intellectual property (patents, copyrights). Depending on the combination of different elements and the modes of supply, such transfers of economic resources, may involve the provision of "goods or services", or the foregoing of "government revenue". If such complex economic transactions were not covered by the disciplines of the SCM Agreement, there would be considerable scope for circumvention.

2. Benefit

5.30 The key legal issue in this dispute is whether the United States has violated Articles 1 and 14 of the SCM Agreement by applying a "cross-border" methodology, i.e., US prices as benchmark for the determination of a benefit.⁴⁹

5.31 The European Communities agrees with Canada and the panel in $US - Lumber III^{50}$ that the US determination of benefit violated Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement because the United States dismisses existing in-country prices <u>merely</u> because they might be affected by the financial contribution. However the European Communities is concerned that some of the findings of that panel might be misunderstood as an absolute rule prohibiting recourse to world market prices to determine the adequacy of the remuneration even if it can be established in exceptional cases that there are no prevailing market conditions within the meaning of Article 14(d) second sentence of the SCM Agreement.

5.32 The problem with the "cross-border" methodology attacked by Canada is not that it eventually allows consideration of world market prices, but under which <u>conditions</u> recourse may be had to alternative benchmarks. Article 14 (d), second sentence, does not apply, where there simply is no market. In such rare situations which must be properly established by the investigating authorities, the adequacy of the remuneration may be determined following a reasonable method according to Article 14(d), first sentence of the SCM Agreement, including, where necessary, world market prices.

3. Specificity

5.33 Canada also challenges the US finding that the stumpage programmes are *de facto* limited to "pulp and paper mills and the same mills and remanufacturers which are producing the subject

⁴⁸ Panel Report, US – Lumber III, para. 7.24.

⁴⁹ Final Determination, p. 40.

⁵⁰ Panel Report, US - Lumber III, paras. 7.50 - 7.52.

merchandise" and therefore *de facto* specific subsidies.⁵¹ The European Communities considers that because this finding is based on the flawed determination of the beneficiaries of the alleged financial determination it cannot be upheld. However, in case the Panel were to consider the issue of specificity, the European Communities would like to note the following.

5.34 In essence, Article 2.1 of the SCM Agreement requires an investigating authority to determine that a subsidy is specific because its availability is either limited by law to certain enterprises (Article 2.1(a and b)), or the same limiting effect can be established on the basis of evidence concerning the use of the subsidy (Article 2.1(c)). The European Communities notes that USDOC did not make a *de jure* specificity determination although certain stumpage programmes were restricted to certain enterprises owning saw mills.⁵²

5.35 Canada challenges the USDOC determination because it applies a general availability test, i.e., whether the use of the subsidy is limited to certain groups of industries as opposed to a subsidy that is "broadly available and widely used throughout an economy".⁵³

5.36 The European Communities considers that the ordinary meaning of the terms "certain enterprises" in Article 2.1 of the SCM Agreement read in light of their context and their object and purpose, in essence, requires a "general availability" determination, that is a determination of whether a subsidy selectively benefits certain industrial sectors or certain enterprises, or is rather a broad economic policy measure, such as the reduction of corporate taxes.

5.37 The broad definition of "certain enterprises" in Article 2.1 of the SCM Agreement as "an enterprise or industry or group of enterprises or industries" indicates that the specificity determination must not precisely identify separate industries and sub-industries as required for the injury determination under Article 16. It is sufficient to show that the subsidy is made available or used only by a limited number of industries as opposed to the overall economy. The immediate context in Article 2.2 of the SCM Agreement confirms the "general availability" test by clarifying that the "setting or change of generally applicable tax rates" shall not be deemed to be a specific subsidy.

5.38 Canada also claims that consideration must be given to the fact that the limitation of users is due to the inherent characteristics of the good rather than any deliberate government favouritism.⁵⁴

5.39 The European Communities fails to see any basis in the SCM Agreement for Canada's contention that Article 2.1 of the SCM Agreement excludes a specificity finding if the limitation of the use is due to the inherent characteristics of the good. Such an interpretation would lead to circumvention of the subsidy disciplines. Subsidy programmes could be tailored so as to benefit only certain industries that can use certain goods or services. Obviously stumpage rights are useless for the computer industry while the provision of research for computer chip materials would not be of interest for the softwood lumber producers.

4. Violation of Article 12.3 and 12.8

5.40 Turning now to the alleged violations of procedural due process rights, the European Communities would like to offer the following comments on the legal interpretations of Articles 12.3 and 12.8 of the SCM Agreement.

⁵¹ Final Determination, p. 52. (CDA – 1)

⁵² United States First Written Submission, footnote 193.

⁵³ Canada First Written Submission, paras. 149, 152, 161. Final Determination, p. 52. (CDA – 1)

⁵⁴ Canada First Written Submission, paras. 155, 156.

(a) Violation of Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement

5.41 Canada claims that USDOC has not given timely opportunity to the respondents to see a report on the quality categories for logs in Maine and to rebut counter-reports prepared by the petitioners.⁵⁵

5.42 The United States admits that only two months after it received the Maine report, that document was placed on the record and parties were given 10 days to comment after the record had already been closed.⁵⁶ In defence, the United States invokes the practicability clause in Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement arguing that "it was simply not practical" to give Quebec an earlier opportunity to see the report in time to be able to also rebut the petitioners' counter reports.⁵⁷

5.43 The terms "whenever practicable" in Article 12.3 of the SCM Agreement do not address the question of "whether" the investigating authority must grant access to the file, but exclusively the question of "when" to do so.

5.44 The term "timely" means "occurring, or made at an appropriate or suitable time; opportune; Occurring or appearing in good time, early".⁵⁸ A contextual reading clarifies that the time must be sufficient not only to *see* the information but also to_*prepare presentations* on the basis of this information. The plural "presentations" supports that there must be possibility for at least one rebuttal.

5.45 Article 12.8 makes clear that, although the investigating authority is not required to make the file permanently accessible to the public, and to exchange in an endless cycle of comments and surrebuttals, it must grant access to the file as early as practicable, rather than, for example, once at the end of the investigation thereby excluding the possibility of making at least one counter-rebuttal.

5.46 A Member claiming that timely access to the record and sufficient time to make presentations is not practicable faces a heavy burden. The instances where a Member could refuse legitimately the possibility of timely access to the file would be "exceptional". The European Communities notes that the precise circumstances of the disclosure of the Maine report are still being clarified between the parties and is therefore not in a position to comment on whether there were such exceptional circumstances. However, merely claiming non-practicability is certainly not sufficient.

(b) Violation of Article 12.8 of the SCM Agreement

5.47 The second procedural violation concerns the disclosure of essential facts. Canada complains that USDOC switched from Montana stumpage prices, which it had used as benchmark for two Canadian provinces in the preliminary determination to Minnesota prices on which it based its final determination. Both parties agree that these stumpage prices are essential facts.⁵⁹ However, the United States appears to argue that the respondents were aware of the essential facts through the preliminary determination and that because the respondents "prevailed on this points" causing USDOC to switch to Minnesota prices, they cannot "credibly claim surprise"⁶⁰

5.48 Article 12.8 of the SCM Agreement imposes upon the investigating authorities a duty "to inform" the interested parties. The ordinary meaning of that term ("to give knowledge of something", to tell", to acquaint with")⁶¹ demands a positive action from the investigating authorities. The EC

⁵⁵ Canada First Written Submission, para. 220.

⁵⁶ United States First Written Submission, paras. 175-176.

⁵⁷ United States First Written Submission, para. 180.

⁵⁸ The New Shorter Oxford Dictionary, p. 3314.

⁵⁹ United States First Written Submission, para. 165.

⁶⁰ United States First Written Submission, paras. 164 and 169.

⁶¹ Webster's New World Dictionary, Third College Edition.

agrees with the United States⁶², that Article 12.8 does not prescribe any particular method of disclosure. Thus, for instance, the investigating authority may choose to make the disclosure in a written document sent to the parties (the usual practice in the EC) or in any other form. However, Article 12.8 of the SCM Agreement, requires a certain <u>result</u>: the interested parties must be informed of the facts "which form the basis for the decision whether to apply definitive measures". The Panel in *Argentina –Ceramic Tiles*, in interpreting the analogue provision in the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* clarified that the disclosure must contain

the essential facts which, being under consideration, are anticipated by the authorities as being those which *will form* the basis for the decision whether to apply definitive measures. (emphasis added)⁶³

5.49 Indeed, the relative clause "which *form* the basis for the decision whether to apply definitive measures" qualifying the phrase "essential facts under consideration" is of crucial importance for the correct interpretation of Article 12.8. The use of the term "form" indicates that the investigating authority is required to identify which facts will be relied upon in the final decision whether to impose measures.

5.50 Disclosure of the "essential facts" forming the basis of a preliminary determination is clearly inadequate in circumstances where the factual basis of the provisional measure is significantly different from the factual basis of the definitive measure. This was confirmed by the Panel ruling in Guatemala - Cement II clarifying that disclosure of the

"essential facts" forming the basis of a preliminary determination is clearly inadequate in circumstances where the factual basis of the provisional measure is significantly different from the factual basis of the definitive measure.⁶⁴

5.51 The European Communities considers that the United States cannot escape from its obligation by claiming that the switch between benchmarks is less significant than the switch between threat and actual injury in the Guatemala cement case. Decisive is only that the facts are "essential" to the final determination and whether the respondents knew that the Minnesota stumpage prices would form the basis of the final determination. That the facts relating to Minnesota were on the record does not change that appreciation. The respondents could not know that they would be "essential" for the final determination, as they had advocated other alternative benchmarks.

5.52 Finally, the United States cannot defend itself by invoking practicability concerns⁶⁵. While Article 12.3 contains a "whenever practicable" exception, the obligation to disclose the essential facts under Article 12.8 is without qualification.

C. THIRD PARTY ORAL STATEMENT OF INDIA

5.53 This is one of half a dozen disputes raised by Canada on the same merchandise/product, *viz.*, softwood lumber. As in other disputes, India has systemic interest in this dispute as well. In an earlier dispute, US - Softwood Lumber III, India expressed concerns on application by the US of 'cross-border' methodology to determine existence of benefit under Articles 1 and 14 of the SCM Agreement. We have similar concerns in this dispute as well.

⁶² United States First Written Submission, para. 162.

⁶³ Panel Report, Argentina - Ceramic Tiles, para. 6.125.

⁶⁴ Panel Report, *Guatemala – Cement II*, para. 8.228.

⁶⁵ United States First Written Submission, para. 169.

5.54 More importantly, India has systemic concern about the Panel's decision to accept amicus curiae briefs and consider their arguments to the extent that such arguments raised by the parties and third parties to the dispute.

5.55 India considers that the WTO panels and the Appellate Body do not have a right to accept and consider any briefs or arguments submitted by anyone other than the parties or third parties to the dispute. WTO panels, however, under Article 13 of the DSU, could seek information or technical advice or opinion of any individual or body on certain aspects of the matter or factual issues concerning scientific or technical matter raised in a dispute. We do not consider that 'arguments' of uninvited bodies or individuals would fall into such category.

5.56 India is aware of the Appellate Body's view on amicus curiae briefs and the so-called "case law" developed by it. India does not agree with the Appellate Body's view that whatever is not prohibited by the DSU or other covered agreements is permissible and, therefore, the Appellate Body and the panels have authority to accept amicus briefs. There is no textual or other legal basis for such assertions. Therefore, India requests the panel refrain from accepting or considering the unsolicited amicus curiae briefs submitted to it.

D. THIRD PARTY WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF JAPAN

1. Introduction

5.57 The Government of Japan welcomes this opportunity to present its view in this proceeding on *United States - Final Countervailing Duty Determination with Respect to Certain Softwood Lumber from Canada.* This dispute concerns the countervailing duties imposed by the United States on certain Canadian softwood lumber products. Japan decided to participate in the current proceedings as a third party in view of the systemic importance of the dispute. The Canadian government has control in administration of wood production in Canada through the stumpage programme of public-owned forest, which covers most of forests in Canada, and Canada is the world largest wood exporting country, covering 20 per cent of world wood products exports. Japan respectfully requests the Panel to pay due attention to the fact that Canadian government has a strong influence on wood products market and thus the result of this dispute will have significant implications. Although Japan has no intention to argue on the assessment of underlying facts in the specific circumstances of this case, Japan would like to respectfully submit the following comments.

2. Legal Arguments

5.58 Japan considers that Canada must avoid trade distortion, when it tries to achieve sustainable management of its forestry resources through the stumpage programme. And Japan is of the view that the log price should be determined through the market mechanism in the trade between an independent tenure holder and an unrelated lumber mill, in the same way as the lumber price is determined. Having these in mind, Japan would like to submit the following points.

(a) Provision of "goods"

5.59 Canada argues that the stumpage programme is a system of interlocking rights and obligations between the Crown (provincial and federal governments) and harvesters⁶⁶. It also insists that the stumpage programme provides "rights" rather than "goods⁶⁷." It is true that "rights" are not "tangible

⁶⁶ Canada First Written Submission, para.25

⁶⁷ Canada First Written Submission, paras.21-58

or movable personal property other than money 68,n , and cannot be categorized into tariff classification 69 , as Canada points out.

5.60 However, the "right to harvest standing timber on Crown land⁷⁰," which is given in exchange for the "stumpage (price paid for harvesting)," is equivalent to the property right of standing timber (except for land). Furthermore, such "right" is exercised during a specific period, to produce logs which are "tangible or movable personal property other than money". Therefore, it could be understood that, in this case, "provision of goods" is equivalent to "provision of property rights."

5.61 In this respect, US - Softwood Lumber III panel report acknowledges that "The word 'goods' in this context of 'goods or services' is intended to ensure that the term financial contribution is not interpreted to mean only a money-transferring action, but encompasses as well an in-kind transfer of resources, with the exception of general infrastructure⁷¹." In the context of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) of the SCM Agreement, Japan considers that "goods or services" is a broad concept parallel to monetary transfer and, it is doubtful that the meaning of "goods" should be limited as Canada suggests. Since "goods" in Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) are provided by the government to domestic producers, Japan hesitates to interpret, as Canada does, that "goods" must be "tradable item with an actual or potential tariff classification" in general. Canada seems to base this claim on Article 3.1 (b). However, the provision covers only export subsidy.

(b) A Benefit Conferred

(i) "Cross-Border" Benchmarks

5.62 In order to determine if the stumpage programme could be understood as a "subsidy" as defined in the SCM Agreement, it is required to evaluate whether the programme constitutes a financial contribution by the Canadian government in providing "goods" as referred to in Article 1.1 of the SCM Agreement, and whether a benefit is conferred by the stumpage programme through proper method which complies with Article 14(d) of the SCM Agreement.

5.63 Article 14(d) provides that whether a benefit is conferred must be determined by comparing the price for the provision of goods or services and "adequate remuneration." It also provides that the "adequate remuneration" shall be determined in relation to prevailing market conditions for the good or service in question "in the country of provision". It is not disputed that USDOC used "Cross-border analysis" and this seems inconsistent with this article since it compared the stumpage in Canada with the stumpage (or price for standing timber) in the United States. In this case, however, it is noted that there is difficulty in finding market conditions to be compared in Canada, since most of forests in Canada is managed by the stumpage programme and private forest area is very limited, and even in the private forest area, as standing timbers are mostly harvested and produced into logs by owner companies, market of standing timbers rarely exists.

(ii) Stumpage Level

5.64 Even assuming that Cross-border comparison is permitted to be used to determine whether the stumpage is less than adequate remuneration, such comparison should not be conducted by simply comparing "stumpage" prices in Canada and those in the United States. It needs evaluation of various differences of their systems which affect their stumpage prices. The difference of forest management systems between the United States and Canada may be one of such factors to be considered. For example, if the Canadian government obligates harvesting

⁶⁸ Canada First Written Submission, para.31

⁶⁹ Canada First Written Submission, para.33

⁷⁰ Canada First Written Submission, para.26

⁷¹ WT/DS236/R, para.7.24

companies to share the substantial part of the burden for sustainable forest management and thus the stumpage paid by those companies is kept low, the cost for fulfilling the obligation should be added on the price of Canadian stumpage for fairness of comparison.

(c) A Pass-through of an Alleged Subsidy

5.65 Regarding wood and wood products market, there is standing timber market, log market, lumber market, and processed wood products market. In each market, price is determined in accordance with the relationship between demand and supply. Therefore, in principle, product prices are determined in the market, independently from production costs.

5.66 Some Canadian softwood lumber is harvested and produced by lumber producers which hold stumpage rights. In this case, lumber producers would be able to produce lumber with lower costs, taking advantage of the stumpage programme. However, lumber producers in Canada do not necessarily ensure all log input supply from their own stumpage⁷². As Canada points out, some lumber producers may purchase logs from unrelated log harvesters that do not own a mill. In that case, even if the log harvesters produce logs at lower costs through the stumpage programme, the price would be determined in accordance with the relationship between demand and supply because the log sellers pursue the maximum profit. Therefore, it would be unreasonable to assume that logs with lower producers. This would also apply to transactions of softwood lumber between lumber producers and final consumers. Further, since a wide variety of products are produced from softwood logs⁷⁴, the alleged subsidy would be passed through to lumber producers of wood products including pulp and plywood, if the subsidy is passed through to lumber producers.

5.67 The United States should fully investigate how much of the alleged subsidy is passed through to all producers of wood products in Canada and how much of it is passed through to softwood lumber producers in Canada through the stumpage programme, when imposing countervailing duty on Canadian softwood lumber. Japan expects that the Panel determines if the US final determination of countervailing duty is based upon sufficient analysis of a pass-through of an alleged subsidy, and how much of the alleged subsidy was passed through to lumber producers.

VI. INTERIM REVIEW

6.1 On 10 June 2003, the United States and Canada submitted a written request for review by the Panel of particular aspects of the interim report issued on 27 May 2003. Canada commented on the United States' request for interim review on 17 June 2003. The United States did not comment on Canada's request for interim review. Neither party requested an additional meeting with the Panel.

6.2 We have reviewed the comments presented by Canada and the United States and the reaction to the United States' comments by Canada and have finalized our report. We note in this regard that, throughout the report, we have corrected typographical and other clerical errors, including those identified in the parties' interim review comments.

6.3 Canada requested changes to the description of its argument concerning the definition of "goods" in the Uniform Commercial Code in footnote 80 of the interim report. In a similar vein, Canada requested changes to footnote 136 of the interim report to more accurately reflect Canada's argument concerning the use of prices that do not form part of the prevailing market condition in the country of provision. Finally, Canada further requested changes to paragraph 7.108 of the interim

⁷² Canada First Written Submission, paras. 140 and 141

⁷³ They are inputs to the production of softwood lumber, the subject merchandise.

⁷⁴ Canada First Written Submission, para.127

report to more accurately reflect its argument concerning specificity. We have amended these footnotes and this paragraph to reflect the comments made.

6.4 The United States requested a change to the first sentence of paragraph 7.56 of the interim report concerning the United States' interpretation of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement to more accurately reflect its position. The United States also requested a change to the first sentence of paragraph 7.132 summarizing the US argument concerning the factor provided in the Minnesota Price Review for conversions between board feet and cords. We have amended these paragraphs to reflect the comments made.

6.5 Finally, the United States also took issue with the Panel's discussion in paragraphs 7.81 through 7.99 of the interim report concerning the pass-through of the alleged subsidy. The United States commented that the Panel's characterization of the Canadian industry in paragraph 7.84 of the interim report was partly inaccurate as it suggested that re-manufactured softwood lumber products were only produced by re-manufacturers from lumber purchased from sawmills, although, the US noted, some such re-manufactured products also were produced by tenure holding Canadian sawmills. The United States stated that it was concerned that this alleged factual misunderstanding underlay the Panel's conclusion in paragraphs 7.97 and 7.98 of the interim report that the total subsidy provided through the provincial timber programmes to Canadian softwood lumber mills cannot be allocated across all sales (domestic and export) of the output of those mills (both primary and remanufactured lumber), absent an upstream subsidy analysis of certain of those transactions. In response to this US comment, Canada argued that this perceived factual misunderstanding provided no basis for reconsideration of the Panel's analysis since the US concern did not go to the circumstances of the Panel's substantive analysis in the cited paragraphs. Canada stated that while a few re-manufacturers have access to Crown timber, the vast majority do not.

6.6 We disagree with the US that our consideration of the pass-through analysis in respect of remanufactured products is based on any misunderstanding of the factual situation, and note that the sentence commented on by the US is intended simply to describe what is meant by the term "remanufactured products", and not, as the US suggests, to characterize the nature of the transactions for lumber inputs between sawmills and re-manufacturers. Our analysis and conclusion in respect of the pass-through issue explicitly indicate that the question is relevant only to those cases in which the recipient of any subsidy from stumpage sells inputs (logs or lumber) to unrelated downstream lumber producers producing the subject merchandise. Contrary to the US comment, we did not suggest that <u>no</u> re-manufactured products were produced by tenure-holding sawmills. Rather, our conclusion was that a pass-through analysis was required where that was not the case (and both parties acknowledged that some re-manufactured products were produced by re-manufacturers that did not hold tenure). We therefore did not consider it necessary to amend this part of our report.

VII. FINDINGS

7.1 Canada challenges the United States Department of Commerce ("USDOC") final countervailing duty determination with respect to certain softwood lumber from Canada ("USDOC Determination" or "Final Determination") of 21 March 2002. Canada brings seven claims against the USDOC Determination. The first three claims relate to the USDOC's finding that the Canadian stumpage programmes constitute financial contributions which confer a benefit on producers of the subject merchandise and are thus subsidies. The fourth claim concerns the USDOC's determination of specificity of the alleged subsidies. The fifth claim concerns various specific aspects of the calculation of the subsidy rate. The sixth claim is of a procedural nature and concerns the alleged failure by the USDOC to provide a timely opportunity to see all relevant information and to give adequate notice of the essential facts of the investigation. The seventh and final claim relates to the alleged inconsistent initiation of the investigation by the USDOC as a consequence of the application

of the Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act of 2000 (the "Byrd amendment"). We will address these claims in the order they have been presented to us by Canada.⁷⁵

A. CLAIM 1: INCONSISTENT FINDING OF THE EXISTENCE OF A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION

1. Arguments of the parties

(a) Canada

7.2 Canada considers that the USDOC erred in determining that "stumpage" is a financial contribution in the form of the provision of a good by the government.⁷⁶ According to Canada, stumpage is the conferral of the *right to harvest* standing timber. Canada submits that the conferral of this right to exploit an *in situ* natural resource cannot be equated to the provision of a good or a service by the government and therefore does not constitute a financial contribution in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) of the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures (the "SCM Agreement"). Canada claims that the USDOC, by imposing definitive countervailing measures without properly determining the existence of a subsidy, acted inconsistently with Articles 10, 32.1, 19.1, 19.4 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 GATT 1994.

7.3 Canada is of the view that stumpage is not a good because the ordinary meaning of the term "good", as reflected in Black's Law Dictionary, is "tangible or movable personal property, other than money".⁷⁷ According to Canada, an intangible real property right such as stumpage is thus not a good. Canada submits that an intangible right does not become a good just because it is a factor enabling the creation of a good, nor because the right holder's objective is to produce a good. Moreover, in Canada's view, the term "goods" in the context of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement has the same meaning and scope as "goods" or "products" used elsewhere in the SCM Agreement and the WTO Agreement, in particular Article II of GATT 1994, i.e. tradable items with an actual or potential customs classification.⁷⁸ Canada submits that a right to exploit a resource cannot be traded across borders and cannot be assigned a tariff classification.⁷⁹

7.4 Canada further argues that, even assuming that USDOC was correct that the stumpage programmes provide *standing timber* rather than the right to harvest such timber, the Canadian provincial stumpage programmes still do not involve a financial contribution. Canada argues that the ordinary meaning of "goods" is *movable*, tangible items, and that *immovables* such as trees in the

⁷⁵ In addition to these seven claims, we note that Canada's request for establishment of a Panel also included a claim relating to expedited and administrative reviews. Canada did not advance any arguments in respect of this claim, and therefore we will not address this undeveloped claim.

⁷⁶ USDOC Final Determination, p. 29. (CDA-1)

⁷⁷ Black's Law Dictionary, 7th ed. (St. Paul: West, 1999), p. 701. (CDA-16).

⁷⁸ Canada also points to Article 3.1 (b) of the SCM Agreement, which refers to the use of domestic over *imported* goods, as confirmation for its view that goods need to be capable of being imported and should therefore be tradeable. Canada asserts that the term "goods" does not include intellectual property rights, or services, as is evidenced by the fact that the GATS and TRIPS Agreements are not part of Annex 1. Canada is of the view that there is therefore nothing in the letter or the context of the WTO Agreement which justifies interpreting "goods" to encompass everything of economic value. Canada First Oral Statement, paras. 23 - 24.

⁷⁹ Canada notes that the Panel in the US - Export Restraints case confirmed that the SCM Agreement "was drafted with the express purpose of ensuring that not every government intervention in the market would fall within the coverage of the Agreement" (Panel Report, US - Export Restraints, para 8.63). According to Canada, the object and purpose of Article 1.1 (a)1(iii) SCM Agreement is not to capture all potential in-kind transfers of economic resources that a government may provide. The fact that the drafters used the term "provision of goods" rather than, "property rights" or "economic resources" confirms that the objective of the SCM Agreement was not to govern all transfers of economic resources. Canada First Oral Statement, paras. 25 - 26.

forest are not "goods".⁸⁰ Therefore, according to Canada, standing timber – i.e. trees firmly rooted in the ground - is not a "good" in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, as it is an *in situ* natural resource that is not capable of being traded across borders.

7.5 Canada rejects the United States assertion that tenures and licences are merely contracts for the sale of goods because at the end of the day tenure and licence holders end up with a good (cut timber). Canada considers that the definition of subsidy has two elements, financial contribution and benefit. Financial contribution relates to what the government does, benefit relates to what the recipient receives. Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement does not require the Panel to determine what the recipient ends up with at the end of the day or why the recipient enters into a given relationship with a government, but it requires a Panel to determine what the government provides. Moreover, the provision of stumpage rights cannot be equated to the sale of goods. According to Canada, a timber sales contract identifies individual standing trees to be cut and the resulting felled timber to be hauled away. In contrast, a tenure or licence grants a right of harvest in an area of land in return for certain obligations, but no trees are identified to be cut.⁸¹ Stumpage rights are conferred and obligations are assumed regardless of whether any trees are actually cut, and even though the trees that are cut may not even have been planted at the time the rights and obligations are assumed. Tenures and licences, in Canada's view, do not involve identified trees, they involve identified areas. In sum, what the provinces provide is not simply trees in return for a fee, but harvesting rights in the context of tenures or licences that impose elaborate and long-term obligations on timber harvesters.⁸²

7.6 In sum, Canada submits that the transfer of the right to harvest standing trees through the Canadian provincial stumpage programmes does not amount to the provision of a good within the meaning of Article 1 SCM Agreement. For these reasons, Canada claims that the USDOC determination of the existence of a subsidy in the form of the provision of a good through the Canadian provincial stumpage programmes is inconsistent with the obligation to make a proper subsidy finding before imposing countervailing measures as set forth in Article 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 GATT 1994.

(b) United States

7.7 The United States submits that the USDOC determination that Canadian provincial stumpage programmes provide a financial contribution in the form of government provision of a good is consistent with Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement. The United States is of the view that the Canadian stumpage programmes provide standing timber, and the stumpage programmes thus constitute the provision of a good in the sense of that Article. According to the United States, the ordinary meaning of the term "goods", as reflected in Black's Law Dictionary for example, includes an "identified thing to be severed from real property"⁸³ which clearly covers standing timber.⁸⁴ The

⁸⁰ Canada refers to Black's Law Dictionary to argue that the ordinary meaning of "goods" is "tangible or movable personal property other than money". Black's Law Dictionary, 7^{th} ed. (St. Paul: West 1999), p. 701. (CDA-16). Canada argues that Black's Law Dictionary in fact reproduces, albeit imperfectly, the Uniform Commercial Code of the United States. Canada asserts that the UCC definition of "goods" excludes "general intangibles", and that the basic UCC definition of "goods" refers to movable things. Canada notes that the UCC specifically addresses "timber to be cut" in a separate provision, and that this phrase is limited to individual trees identified to be cut in a sales contract. In Canada's view, all other timber, such as standing trees which may or may not be cut during the term of the tenure and which in any event are not specifically identified, is thus excluded from the UCC definition of "goods". According to Canada, the UCC, if at all relevant, thus supports Canada's interpretation of the term "goods" in the SCM Agreement. Canada Second Written Submission, paras. 11 - 12.

⁸¹ Canada Second Written Submission, para. 15.

⁸² Canada Second Oral Statement, paras. 15-19. Canada notes that a volumetric stumpage charge, also referred to as a stumpage fee, is not money paid to obtain the right to harvest timber, it is rather a levy on the exercise of the existing right to harvest timber.

⁸³ Black's Law Dictionary, 7th ed. (St. Paul: West, 1999), p. 701-702. (CDA-16).

United States asserts that the context in which the term "goods" is used in Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, i.e. "goods or services other than general infrastructure", confirms the broad meaning of the term. The United States asserts that it is evident from Article 1.1 SCM Agreement that the Members recognized that governments have a wide variety of mechanisms at their disposal to confer an advantage on specific domestic enterprises and that they intended to bring those mechanisms within the disciplines of the SCM Agreement. According to the United States, the fact that "products" are "goods" and that "imported goods" are necessarily also "goods", does not logically give rise to the inferences Canada is drawing that nothing else can come within the meaning of goods. Thus, the United States submits that while the term "goods" in Article 1.1 (a)(1) (iii) SCM Agreement certainly includes tradeable products, there is no basis to limit its meaning to such products when neither the text nor the context in which the term is used suggests such a limitation.

7.8 According to the United States, Canada is elevating form over substance when it argues that stumpage only confers the *right* to harvest timber. In the view of the United States, there is no meaningful distinction between the government granting a right to harvest timber and the government actually supplying the timber through the holder's exercise of that right.⁸⁵ The only way to provide standing timber (the good in question) is by providing the right to harvest the timber. According to the United States, the clear purpose of the programme is thus to provide timber to Canadian mills that make lumber or wood pulp.86 The fact that tenure holders are required to fulfill certain forest management obligations as a condition of sale does not convert these sales of timber into forest management contracts or into the sale of a "right" to harvest.⁸⁷ The United States argues that all ownership rights in the forest remain vested in the Canadian provinces, and that the tenure holder only acquires ownership of the trees it harvests and pays for. The United States asserts that the record demonstrates that tenure holders do not acquire a freely transferable "right" to harvest, as all provinces prohibit the transfer of tenures without government approval.⁸⁸ In sum, the United States submits that, in spite of Canada's efforts to sever the right to harvest from the sale of the trees, the facts demonstrate that tenure holders are buying trees. Tenure holders are not forest management companies, they are mills which need timber. The provinces provide it and this, according to the United States, constitutes a financial contribution within the meaning of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement.

2. Analysis

7.9 Canada claims that the USDOC erred in finding that the provision of stumpage by Canadian provincial governments constitutes a financial contribution in the form of the provision of a good in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement. According to Canada, the USDOC thus failed to properly determine the existence of a subsidy to the producers of the subject merchandise as defined in Article 1 SCM Agreement, and the measures imposed on the basis of this flawed subsidy determination are therefore inconsistent with Articles 10, 32.1, 19.1, 19.4 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 GATT 1994.

7.10 Canada's claim thus concerns the definition of a subsidy in Article 1.1 SCM Agreement, and the existence of a financial contribution under Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement in particular. Our analysis of Canada's claim begins of course with the text of that Article. Article 1.1 SCM Agreement provides that:

⁸⁴ The United States notes that the term "goods" is similarly defined in Canadian law, and refers in particular to the British Columbia Sale of Goods Act. (US - 4).

⁸⁵ The United States notes that the Panel in the case US – Softwood Lumber III agreed with this analysis. Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.17.

⁸⁶ In this respect, the United States notes that participation in the programme is restricted to Canadian mills or companies that have a contract with Canadian mills to process the harvested timber

⁸⁷ United States Second Written Submission, para. 17.

⁸⁸ United States Second Written Submission, para. 18. United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-2), para. 19.

Article 1 Definition of a Subsidy

- "1.1 For the purpose of this Agreement, a subsidy shall be deemed to exist if:
 - (a)(1) there is *a financial contribution by a government* or any public body within the territory of a Member (referred to in this Agreement as "government"), i.e. where:
 - a government practice involves a direct transfer of funds (e.g. grants, loans, and equity infusion), potential direct transfers of funds or liabilities (e.g. loan guarantees);
 - (ii) government revenue that is otherwise due is foregone or not collected (e.g. fiscal incentives such as tax credits);
 - *(iii) a government provides goods or services other than general infrastructure, or purchases goods;*
 - (iv) a government makes payments to a funding mechanism, or entrusts or directs a private body to carry out one or more of the type of functions illustrated in
 (i) to (iii) above which would normally be vested in the government and the practice, in no real sense, differs from practices normally followed by governments;

or

(a)(2) there is any form of income or price support in the sense of Article XVI of GATT 1994;

and

(b) a benefit is thereby conferred."

7.11 In the Final Determination, the USDOC found that the Canadian provinces provide a good to Canadian producers of softwood lumber through the licence and tenure agreements concluded with companies that harvest standing timber. Canada focuses on the terms of the tenure agreements which confer *harvesting rights* to log producers. According to Canada, such a *right* is not a "good", it certainly is not timber. The United States is of the view that this is form over substance: what Canada is really doing is providing cheap timber to the lumber producers as it allows such producers access to cheap timber through agreements that provide harvesting rights.

7.12 The Final Determination first discusses the meaning of the term "stumpage" and examines the ordinary meaning of the term "goods" to conclude that "stumpage, i.e. timber, is a 'good' within the meaning of section 771 (5) (B) (iii) of the Act".⁸⁹ The USDOC then rejects the argument that the provincial governments are not providing timber (a good) but are merely granting a right to harvest timber as it considers that the sole purpose of the tenure systems is to provide lumber producers with timber.⁹⁰ The USDOC concludes that the provision of stumpage by the provincial governments constitutes the provision of a good under Section 771 (5) (D) (iii) of the Act.

⁸⁹ USDOC Final Determination, p. 29 (CDA-1).

⁹⁰ USDOC Final Determination, p. 29 - 30 (CDA-1).

(a) What do the stumpage programmes provide: the *right* to harvest or *standing timber* ?

7.13 Canada asserts that a tenure or licence carries current and future obligations such as forest management planning, fire protection, etc. which are independent of any harvest, and the right to harvest Crown timber is thus fundamentally different from the simple ownership right in trees. Canada argues that a timber sales contract identifies individual standing trees to be cut, while, in contrast, a tenure or licence grants a right of harvest in an area of land in return for certain rights and obligations, but that no specific trees are identified to be cut. The tenure agreements may even concern trees which have yet to be planted.

7.14 We asked Canada to explain what it considers to be the distinction between the provision of the right to harvest a tree and the right to own the harvested tree. In response, Canada stated that "most forms of tenure confer a right to harvest standing timber that is *in the nature of a proprietary interest*".⁹¹ We read Canada's acknowledgement that the right to harvest timber is in the nature of a proprietary interest, to imply that the tenure holder which has the right to harvest the timber, in fact receives proprietary rights over the standing timber. Canada further discussed, in response to our questions, how various types of tenures or licences operate and when ownership of the timber is transferred to the tenure holder. In light of Canada's answers, it appears that the United States is correct when it argues that "there is no record evidence of stumpage contracts under which the contracting party (tenure holder or licensee) does not have ownership rights to the harvested timber".⁹²

We also asked Canada whether the contractual rights to harvest could be sold without the 7.15 permission of the provincial governments. Canada stated that the answer to this question varies from province to province, and it provided information concerning British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario and Quebec.⁹³ On the basis of this information provided by Canada we conclude that, in fact, in each province such rights cannot be sold without government permission, and that various types of tenures or licences are not transferable at all. We wish to emphasise that for purposes of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, the exact legal nature of the stumpage contracts is not what is important. Rather, what is important for purposes of the Agreement is whether, through the stumpage programmes, the Canadian provincial governments are "providing a good" to the timber harvesters. We consider that, in essence, the stumpage programmes provide *standing timber* to the harvesters. Canada acknowledges that the provinces own the forests and the trees that grow in them.⁹⁴ The only way for harvesters to obtain the trees standing on government-owned Crown land for harvesting and processing is by concluding stumpage agreements (tenures or licences) with the governments concerning these trees. The only way for the government to provide the standing timber that it owns to the harvesters and the mills for processing is by allowing the harvesters to come on the land and harvest the trees. Such legal rights and obligations are transferred through the stumpage agreements. It is thus through the stumpage agreements that the governments provide the standing timber to the harvesters.⁹⁵ The price to be paid for the timber, in addition to the volumetric stumpage charge for the

⁹¹ Canada Response to Questions of the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 8. Also see for example Section 16 (2) of Alberta's Forests Act which provides in relevant part that "ownership of all Crown timber on land subject to a forest management agreement or forest management lease is, during the term of the agreement or lease, vested in the holder of the agreement or lease". (CDA-115)

⁹² United States Response to Questions of the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-2), para. 9.

 $^{^{93}}$ Canada Response to Questions of the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-1), paras. 17 – 23.

⁹⁴ Canada First Oral Statement, para. 13.

⁹⁵ We note that this was also the view held by the Panel in the US – Softwood Lumber III case:

[&]quot;7.18 In sum, and in the context of Article 1.1(a) (1)(iii) SCM Agreement, we are of the view that where a government allows the exercise of harvesting rights, it is providing standing timber to the harvesting companies. From the perspective of the harvesting company the situation is clear: most forest land is Crown land, and if the company wants to cut the trees for processing or sale, it will need to enter into a stumpage contract with the provincial government, under which it will have to take on a number of obligations in addition to paying

trees harvested, consists of various forest management obligations and other in-kind costs relating to road-building or silviculture for example. In return, the tenure holders receive ownership rights over the trees during the period of the tenure.⁹⁶ In other words, with the stumpage agreements, ownership over the trees passes from the government to the tenure holders. Standing timber has thus been provided to the tenure holders.

7.16 This conclusion does not change whether one looks at it from the perspective of the recipient, the tenure holder, or from the perspective of the provider, the government. As noted by the Panel in the US - Softwood Lumber III case, from the perspective of the tenure holder, the only reason to enter into tenure agreements with the provincial governments is to obtain the timber.⁹⁷ The minimum cut requirements for tenure holders under certain stumpage programmes, the requirements to qualify as a tenure holder, such as the requirement to own a processing facility and other processing requirements. are just some examples that demonstrate that the provision and processing of standing timber is what the stumpage programmes are all about. This is not to say that the governments may not at the same time be pursuing certain other social, economic or environmental policies by imposing certain forest management obligations as conditions of sale. However, these conditions of sale or the costs that companies assume for obtaining the stumpage cannot alter the fundamental conclusion that the stumpage programmes provide standing timber, and not just a right to harvest such timber, to the tenure holders. In return, the tenure holders accept to pay a volumetric stumpage fee for the trees actually harvested and assume certain management and other obligations in order to obtain such timber.

7.17 In our view, the right to harvest standing timber is not severable from the right over the standing timber and providing the right to harvest timber is therefore no different from providing standing timber. In this respect we find illustrative the example given by the United States of someone who wants to buy the trees in his neighbour's backyard and the neighbour agrees that he can have the trees if he paints that person's house and pays him \$100. As the United States correctly points out, "inherent in the contract is the buyer's right to cut down the trees and haul them away, if he fulfils the conditions of purchase, i.e., paints the house and pays the \$100. Nevertheless, this is a contract for the sale of goods – the standing trees in the neighbour's backyard – not the sale of the 'right' to harvest the trees".⁹⁸

7.18 We do not consider relevant the distinction that Canada makes between a contract which identifies individual trees to be cut, and an agreement concerning harvesting rights over a certain area of forest land. In our view, in both cases, trees are provided. In any case, it appears to us that, although a tenure agreement may not provide for a precise number of identified trees to be cut, the tenure holder knows all too well how many trees and which species of trees can be found on the area of land covered by his tenure.⁹⁹ In sum, we consider that in this context there is no meaningful

Panel report, US - Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.18.

⁹⁶ This is evidenced for example in Alberta's Forests Act which provides that "ownership of all Crown timber on land subject to a forest management agreement or forest management lease is, during the term of the agreement or lease, vested in the holder of the agreement or lease". (CDA – 115). See Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 11.

⁹⁷ Panel report, US - Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.16. We note that Canada acknowledged before that Panel that the main interest of tenure holders is the end-product of the harvest. Panel report, US - Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.16, fn. 46.

⁹⁸ United States Second Written Submission, para. 16

⁹⁹ In this regard, we note that there is a clear difference between tenure agreements concerning standing timber and the granting of extraction rights in the case of minerals or oil, or fishing rights where the owner of

a stumpage fee for the trees actually harvested. We thus view the service and maintenance obligations, the obligations to undertake various forestry management, conservation and other measures, combined with the stumpage fees required by the stumpage agreements, as the price the tenure holder has to pay for obtaining and exercising its harvesting rights. (footnotes omitted)

distinction between the provision of a right to harvest timber and the provision of standing timber itself, and therefore find that the Canadian provincial stumpage programmes provide standing timber to the tenure or licence holders.

(b) Is standing timber a "good" in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement?

7.19 In order to determine whether the USDOC correctly found that through these stumpage programmes Canadian provincial governments provide goods in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, we next consider whether standing timber is a "good" in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement.

7.20 Canada argues that standing timber, i.e., trees rooted in the ground, are not "goods" within the meaning of Article 1.1 SCM Agreement. In Canada's view trees do not fall within the ordinary meaning of the term "goods". Moreover, Canada is of the view that the term "goods" in the particular context of Article 1 SCM Agreement refers to tradeable products with an actual or potential tariff line and standing timber which cannot be traded across borders is therefore not a good in the sense of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement.

7.21 According to the United States, standing timber is clearly included within the broad ordinary meaning of the term "goods". In the view of the United States, the context in which the term is used in the WTO Agreement and the SCM Agreement in particular does not provide a basis to limit its application, for the purpose of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, to products for which there is an actual or potential tariff line.

7.22 We recall that Article 3.2 DSU requires a panel to interpret the Agreement in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law, which, it is well-accepted, include in particular Articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties provides that "a treaty shall be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in light of its object and purpose". We will thus examine the ordinary meaning of the word "goods" used in Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement – in its context and in light of the object and purpose of the Agreement.

7.23 The New Shorter Oxford Dictionary defines "goods" as, *inter alia*, "saleable commodities, merchandise, wares".¹⁰⁰ Black's Law Dictionary, to which both parties refer in search of the ordinary meaning of the term "goods", defines "goods" as follows:

"1. Tangible or movable personal property other than money; esp. articles of trade or items of merchandise <goods and services>. The sale of goods is governed by Article 2 of the UCC. 2. Things that have value, whether tangible or not <the importance of social goods varies from society to society>.

"Goods' means all things, including specially manufactured goods that are movable at the time of identification to a contract for sale and future goods. The term includes the unborn young of animals, growing crops, and other identified things to be severed from real property The term does not include money in which the price is to be paid, the subject-matter of foreign exchange transactions, documents, letters of credit, letter-of-credit rights,

the right is not at all certain what and how much of it he will find, and what he pays for is the right to explore a particular site and the chance of finding something. In so noting, we do not mean to express a view as to what extent, if at all, this uncertainty would be relevant to a determination whether the granting of such extraction rights represented the provision of goods within the meaning of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, an issue which is not before us.

¹⁰⁰ New Shorter Oxford Dictionary, edited by Lesley Brown, Clarendon Press Oxford, 1993, p.1116.

instruments, investment property, accounts, chattel paper, deposit accounts, or general intangibles." UCC $\S 2 - 102$ (a) (24).

7.24 The ordinary meaning of the term "goods" as "tangible or movable personal property other than money" is thus very broad and includes standing timber, as trees are tangible objects which are capable of being owned. This is further confirmed by the explanation in Black's Law Dictionary that a "good" includes "an identified thing to be severed from real property". Standing timber indeed seems to us to be an excellent example of an identified thing that can be severed from real property. We note that in its Sale of Goods Act, the Canadian province of British Columbia, the prime exporter of softwood lumber to the United States, itself defines "goods" as including "growing crops, [...], and things attached to or forming part of the land that are agreed to be severed before sale or under the contract of sale".¹⁰¹ In our view, this definition of a good certainly includes standing timber.

7.25 Article 31 Vienna Convention requires the interpreter to determine the ordinary meaning of the terms of the treaty *in their context and in the light of its object and purpose*. The immediate context of the term "goods" in Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement is "goods or services, other than general infrastructure". We note that the term "goods" in this context is not qualified in any way and its use in the combination "goods or services", in our view, confirms that the term is to be understood broadly. We find further confirmation of this broad meaning in the fact that the drafters of the Agreement considered it necessary to explicitly exclude "general infrastructure". This implies that "goods or services" is sufficiently broad as to include "general infrastructure"; if not, there would have been no reason to explicitly exclude it. At the same time, "general infrastructure" is the only "good or service" which is excluded from the broad scope of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement. In our view, if the drafters had wanted to exclude other items such as natural resources or non-tradeable goods, they would have also explicitly excluded such "goods or services".

7.26 Article 1.1 SCM Agreement defines a subsidy for the purposes of the SCM Agreement. It provides that the first element of a subsidy is a "financial contribution by the government". Subparagraphs (i) through (iv) explain that a financial contribution can exist in a wide variety of circumstances including of course the direct transfer of funds.¹⁰² A financial contribution will also exist if the government does not collect the revenue to which it is entitled or when it does something for ("provides a service") or supplies something to ("provides a good") a recipient. We are of the view that Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, in its context, clarifies that a *financial* contribution also exists where, instead of a money-transferring action, goods or services are provided. The context in which the term "goods" is used in Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement as well as the purpose of Article 1 SCM Agreement in our view confirm the broad and unqualified meaning of the term "goods".

7.27 We consider Canada's interpretation, that the reference in Article 1.1 SCM Agreement to the provision of "goods" refers to tradeable products for which there is a tariff line, to be excessively narrow. We understand Canada to argue that, since on several occasions in the SCM and other WTO Agreements the term "goods" is qualified as "imported" or is understood to be tradable, and since for many goods there exists a tariff line, this necessarily implies that all "goods" have to be capable of being imported, and must therefore be tradeable.

7.28 We consider that the ordinary meaning of the term "goods", in its context and in light of the object and purpose of the Agreement, does not place the limitations on the meaning of the term suggested by Canada ("tradeable products with a potential or actual tariff line"). In our view, that in many cases in the GATT and the WTO Agreements the general term "good" is used as an equivalent of the term "products", does not imply that this is necessarily always the case. Precisely because of its broad ordinary meaning, the specific content of the term will be determined by the adjective

¹⁰¹ Sale of Goods Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, ch. 410, section 1. (US –4)

¹⁰² See also Panel Report, US – Lumber III, para. 7.24

accompanying the term as a sort of qualifier. In the absence of any such limitations placed on the term, as in Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, we consider that the term "goods" keeps its broad ordinary meaning. All that the text of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement suggests is that the goods or services are capable of being *provided* by a government; it does not address whether they can be imported or traded. The fact that the SCM Agreement relates to subsidies in the trade in goods context only, and does not cover services, does not mean that the "goods" provided by the government necessarily have to be goods that can be traded or that are covered by the GATT as products under Article II. We note in this respect that Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement also mentions the provision of *services* by the government as constituting a financial contribution while the disciplines of the SCM Agreement, as discussed, only apply to trade in *goods*.

7.29 We agree with Canada that the definition of a subsidy in Article 1 SCM Agreement reflects the Members' agreement that only certain types of government action are subject to the SCM Agreement, and also that not all government actions that may affect the market come within the ambit of the SCM Agreement.¹⁰³ When the government provides goods or services, however, such action is clearly covered by the SCM Agreement. Standing timber, a physical and tangible object, is the log and lumber producers' prime input, and the action by the government to supply this input to the producers of logs and lumber, is the provision of a good and therefore covered by the SCM Agreement.¹⁰⁴

7.30 In the absence of any textual basis for limiting the broad ordinary meaning of the term "goods" in the context of Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, we find that the USDOC Determination that the Canadian provinces are providing a financial contribution in the form of the provision of a good by providing standing timber to the timber harvesters through the stumpage programmes is not inconsistent with Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement. We therefore reject all of Canada's claims of violation of the SCM Agreement and GATT 1994 in this respect.

B. Claim 2: inconsistent determination of benefit under Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement

1. Arguments of the parties

(a) Canada

7.31 Canada asserts that the USDOC found that Canadian provincial stumpage programmes conferred a benefit on Canadian stumpage holders by comparing the "price" paid for provincial stumpage *in Canada* with stumpage prices *in the United States*. Canada argues that such a cross-border analysis using transactions in a country other than the country of alleged provision of the good to determine the existence of a benefit, and measure it, is inconsistent with Article 1 and Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement. In Canada's view, for the purposes of Part V of the SCM Agreement, the proper benchmark in a provision of goods context is the home market price of a good, and not its price in some other market, nor some hypothetical construct. According to Canada, whether a "benefit" is conferred by the alleged provision of goods by the government through the stumpage programmes depends on whether the stumpage tenure or licence holders were better off than other purchasers who buy the same good from other sources *in Canada, the country subject to the investigation*.

¹⁰³ Canada First Written Submission, para. 20. See Panel report, US - Export Restraints, para. 8.63.

¹⁰⁴ We note that the Panel in the US – *Softwood Lumber III* case came to a similar conclusion: "7.29 [...] Standing timber is the valuable input for logs which may be processed by sawmills into softwood lumber. In light of our finding that there is no basis in the text of the SCM Agreement to limit the term "goods" to tradeable products with a potential or actual tariff line, we consider that standing timber, trees, are goods in the sense of Article 1.1(a)(1)(iii) SCM Agreement". (footnotes omitted) Panel report, US – *Softwood Lumber III*, para. 7.29.

7.32 Canada considers that the USDOC rejected record evidence pertaining to benchmarks in Canada for the alleged good provided, based on an unfounded assumption that it could legally reject in-country benchmarks and an unsupported factual conclusion that "there are no useable marketdetermined prices between Canadian buyers and sellers"¹⁰⁵ because prices were allegedly suppressed as a result of government involvement. In response to the US argument that private stumpage prices in Canada were distorted by the alleged government financial contribution and could therefore not be used as a benchmark, Canada submits that there is nothing in the text, context, or object and purpose of the Agreement that suggests that the market conditions referred to in Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement as the benchmark for measuring the adequacy of the remuneration received by the government for the good provided are those of a perfectly competitive market isolated from the effect of a financial contribution. According to Canada, by replacing "adequate remuneration" with "fair market value", the United States turns Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement into a provision that measures adequacy of remuneration by comparing the government price to a constructed "fair market value" rather than to the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision, contrary to the plain meaning of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement.¹⁰⁶

7.33 According to Canada, the record provided the USDOC with ample information regarding prevailing market conditions in Canada, such as private timber sales, cost-revenue comparisons, an economic analysis of provincial stumpage charges, competitive auction prices and private sector assessments of timber value.¹⁰⁷ In sum, Canada submits, there was sufficient useable information on the record concerning private stumpage prices which could have been, and should have been, used by USDOC in calculating the alleged benefit.

7.34 Canada rejects the United States argument that such Canadian price information could not be used because of alleged price suppression due to the Canadian government's involvement in the market. According to Canada, there is nothing in the SCM Agreement or WTO jurisprudence that mentions "price suppression" as a reason for dispensing with market benchmarks. Moreover, Canada submits, the USDOC did no analysis whatsoever to arrive at the conclusion that price suppression existed because of government presence in the Canadian market, but simply assumed that government market share demonstrated price suppression.¹⁰⁸

7.35 Canada considers flawed the US argument that stumpage prices in the United States form part of the prevailing market conditions in Canada because US stumpage is available to Canadian loggers. According to Canada, stumpage prices *in the United States* cannot be considered to constitute part of the prevailing market conditions for stumpage *in Canada*. Canada is of the view that, even if in certain areas of the United States Canadian producers can legally bid on certain cutting rights in the United States, harvest US timber and import US logs for milling, US standing timber – the alleged good provided, not logs produced from the standing timber - is still not available "in" Canada. In addition, Canada argues, there are a number of factual differences between the rights and obligations involved in acquiring harvesting rights in the United States and in Canada which invalidate the use of US stumpage prices as a benchmark and which demonstrate that cross-border comparisons make no

¹⁰⁵ USDOC Final Determination, p. 36. (CDA-1)

¹⁰⁶ Canada First Oral Statement, para. 68.

 $^{^{107}}$ The actual information provided is discussed in detail in Canada's First Written Submission, paras. 94 – 110, and in Canada's First Oral Statement, paras. 50 - 54.

¹⁰⁸ Canada First Oral Statement, para. 58. According to Canada, the USDOC simply relied on the Preamble to its Regulations to presume price suppression based on government involvement in the marketplace (USDOC Final Determination, p.47 (CDA-1)). Canada argues that the economic report which the USDOC used as support for its presumption was purely theoretical and based on a flawed economic model, and most importantly, did not include consideration of any actual transaction prices. The remaining mainly anecdotal "evidence" relied on by the USDOC did not include any analysis of actual sales transactions either. Canada Second Written Submission, para. 26.

economic or common sense.¹⁰⁹ Canada asserts that the United States claim that it made adjustments to take into account these differences is not supported by the record.¹¹⁰

7.36 Finally, Canada argues that studies on the record demonstrate, consistent with classical economic theory, that the market for stumpage is an "economic rent" market, in which, for an input that is fixed in supply, such as an *in situ* natural resource like standing timber, the level of charges or fees for access to that resource will not lead to greater production of the output (logs or lumber), or lower prices for them than in a private competitive market. According to Canada, the USDOC ignored this evidence that stumpage charges do not provide lumber producers with an advantage in trade. In Canada's view, any determination of whether provincial stumpage systems confer a benefit must take into account the fact that the market at issue in this case is an economic rent market, and any analysis of adequate remuneration in relation to prevailing market conditions should have included a review of whether provincial stumpage fees or charges are capable of causing trade distortion in downstream markets, which the USDOC failed to do.

7.37 In sum, Canada argues that the USDOC Determination which found that the Canadian provincial stumpage programmes conferred a benefit was inconsistent with Articles 14 and 14 (d) SCM Agreement. Canada submits that, since the United States failed to make a proper subsidy determination in accordance with the SCM Agreement, the countervailing measures imposed on the basis of this flawed determination are inconsistent with Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4, 32.1 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 GATT 1994.

(b) United States

7.38 The United States argues that a benefit is something better than the market would otherwise provide, absent the financial contribution. According to the United States, it is well established that a benefit from a governmental financial contribution is to be determined in comparison to the commercial market, and that the commercial market used for this comparison must, necessarily, be undistorted by the government's intervention.¹¹¹ The United States considers that the appropriate benchmark for measuring benefit in this case would normally have been the fair market value of timber in Canada.¹¹² However, the United States asserts, the record evidence demonstrated that the small non-government sector of the Canadian timber market was not a "commercial" market, i.e. a market undistorted by the government intervention, and Canadian private stumpage price information could thus not be used as the benchmark. Therefore, the USDOC used prices for comparable timber from alternate sources – the bordering regions of the northern United States – to determine the benefit

¹⁰⁹ Canada asserts that a wide variety of complex factors affect stumpage rates, such as locational characteristics, timber characteristics, measurement systems, operating costs, differences in economic conditions and tenure holders' rights and obligations. In Canada's view, the USDOC failed to make proper adjustments and ignored other obvious differences between the two markets. Canada discusses the problems relating to the use of US benchmarks in this case at length in its first written submission, paras. 82 - 91. Canada argues that this cross-border analysis is not consistent either with the USDOC's previous determination in the *Lumber I – III* cases, in which the USDOC explicitly recognized that cross-border comparisons are inherently "arbitrary and capricious" (CDA-26, *Lumber I*, p. 24, 168).

¹¹⁰ Canada argues that if the United states had attempted to analyze and compare market conditions in Quebec and Maine for its cross-border analysis, it would have discovered that much of the data needed to make the necessary adjustments were unavailable. Canada Second Written Submission, para. 31.

¹¹¹ The United States refers to Appellate Body report, *Canada – Aircraft*, para. 157 and Panel report, *Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada II)*, para. 5.29.

¹¹² According to the United States, "adequate remuneration" in the context of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement must mean remuneration that is sufficient to eliminate any benefit. Benefit is something more favourable than would otherwise be available in the commercial market, i.e. fair market value. Logically, therefore, "adequate" remuneration is fair market value. United States First Written Submission, para. 42. The United States asserts that the proper benchmark is thus an independent market-driven price for the good, which is also the standard applied under Canadian law. United States Second Written Submission, para. 26. See Canadian Special Import Measures regulations, C.R.C SOR/84-927. (US –10).

conferred by the provision of standing timber from Crown land adjusted to reflect market conditions in Canada, in accordance with Articles 1 and 14 (d) SCM Agreement.

The United States asserts that Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement provides that the adequacy of 7.39 the remuneration and the existence of a benefit must be determined "in relation to" the prevailing market conditions (such as the conditions of sale, price, etc.) in the country under investigation, i.e. "with reference to" or "taking account of" market conditions in the country of provision. The United States considers that Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement is silent on the data to be used to determine "adequate remuneration", and the choice of data is therefore up to the investigating authority. According to the United States, Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement does not restrict that data to "in-country" sources.¹¹³ Rather, what is important is that the method used must result in a fair market value assessment that *relates to* conditions of sale (i.e. prevailing market conditions) in the country of provision. The United States argues that Members such as the European Communities¹¹⁴ also permit the use in certain circumstances of prices on the world market to assess adequate remuneration, and that Canada itself acknowledges that, in case of a government monopoly, prices of imports could be used.¹¹⁵ In addition, the United States submits, the object and purpose of the SCM Agreement, which is to provide a remedy to offset an artificial advantage provided by the government, requires an interpretation of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement that permits the use of external evidence of fair market value when it is shown, based on positive evidence, that domestic prices are heavily distorted by the very financial contribution whose benefit is being measured.

7.40 The United States asserts that the limited non-government price data submitted by the Canadian parties in this case was inadequate¹¹⁶ and that such prices were significantly affected by the financial contribution itself, i.e. the supply of provincial government timber. A price artificially suppressed by the government's financial contribution is not a "market" price, that is, a price between buyers and sellers responding to market forces of supply and demand.¹¹⁷ According to the United States, the record demonstrates that Canadian government timber sales were dominant relative to private timber sales, ranging from 83 to 98 per cent of the total market, and that, given the circumstances, it would not have been reasonable to conclude that the small amount of private timber sales was unaffected by the dominant government-supplied timber.¹¹⁸ The United States argues that studies by economists and other experts demonstrated that private timber prices in Canada were depressed and distorted by the overwhelming volume of government-supplied timber in the provinces.¹¹⁹ The United States concludes that there did not exist a reliable source of market-

¹¹³ The United States notes that the Panel in the US - Softwood Lumber III case acknowledged that import prices can be used to determine adequate remuneration. Panel report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.48.

para. 7.48. ¹¹⁴ European Communities Third Party Submission, para. 29. Notification of laws and regulations under Article 32.6 of the Agreement, European Communities, G/SCM/N/1/EEC/2/Suppl.3 (18 November 2002). (US – 15).

⁽US - 15). ¹¹⁵ The United States refers to answers provided by Canada to questions from the Panel in the US -*Softwood Lumber III* case. (US - 17).

¹¹⁶ The United States provides an overview of the information on non-government market prices submitted per province in its first written submission. United States First Written Submission, para. 66.

¹¹⁷ United States First Oral Statement, para. 16. According to the United States, market prices are prices between independent buyers and sellers in a competitive market where prices are determined by the forces of supply and demand – not driven by the government's financial contribution. United States First Oral Statement, para. 15.

para. 15. ¹¹⁸ United States First Written Submission, paras. 69 – 70. According to the United States, evidence demonstrates that the provincial governments administer prices under systems designed to promote employment and keep mills operating even in down markets, and are shaping the conditions under which the timber market in Canada operates, including artificially decreasing demand for and increasing the supply of Crown timber.

¹¹⁹ These studies are referenced in the United States First Written Submission, footnotes 94 - 100. In addition, the United States notes that the tenure holders' needs can be met from their own provincial tenures and as a general rule, mills will thus not have to resort to the private market which suggests that private sellers must tailor their prices to the predominant government-administered price.

determined prices in Canada which could have been used by the USDOC as a basis for the benefit determination.

7.41 In the absence of a reliable source of market-determined fair market value prices in Canada, the USDOC used prices for comparable timber from alternate sources – the bordering regions of the northern United States – which are commercially available to Canadian lumber producers, as the "starting-point" for its fair value assessment, and made adjustments to those US prices (e.g. for the road-building, silviculture, and fire and disease protection obligations under Canadian stumpage contracts).¹²⁰ According to the United States, the USDOC made such adjustments based upon the "prevailing market conditions" in Canada to arrive at the fair market value of timber *in Canada*, in accordance with the text, context, object and purpose of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement. The United States submits that the use of United States source data for comparable timber of the same species immediately across the border, as a starting-point, and adjusted as appropriate for provincial market conditions was justified and formed a reasonable basis to assess the fair market value of timber in Canada.¹²¹

7.42 Finally, the US submits that the SCM Agreement does not define benefit in terms of increased output or lower prices for the subject merchandise and does not create an exception for natural resource inputs as Canada is arguing on the basis of the economic rent theory. Rather, the "benefit" referred to in Article 1.1(b) SCM is a benefit to its *recipient*, and this benefit, whether it is cash or natural resource inputs, is in no way dependent upon the downstream effects of the subsidy. The United States argues that Canada failed to identify any obligation in the SCM Agreement to conduct a market distortion analysis as part of the benefit determination, and asserts that no such obligation exists.

2. Analysis

7.43 Canada's claim concerns the benchmark used by the USDOC for determining "benefit". According to Canada, the USDOC used stumpage prices *in the United States* as a benchmark for determining benefit to *Canadian* lumber producers, instead of non-government prices *in Canada*. Canada argues that as a matter of principle such a cross-border price analysis is not permitted under Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement, which requires that the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision, i.e. in Canada, be used as the benchmark for determining the adequacy of the remuneration received by the government for the good allegedly provided. In sum, Canada submits that Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement does not allow an authority to base its determination of benefit on market conditions or prices from outside the country under investigation, as the USDOC did.

7.44 The United States asserts that in this case it was not possible to assess the adequacy of the remuneration on the basis of in-country prices. According to the United States, the government completely dominates the stumpage market and there is evidence on the record of price suppression due to the government's involvement which makes it impossible to use the small amount of private stumpage prices as a basis for any comparison. In sum, the United States argues that although incountry prices are normally the preferred benchmark for determining benefit, in this case private market prices in Canada are not reflective of the "fair market value" of timber in Canada, due to the near-total dominance of the government in the Canadian timber market. According to the United States, it would be a completely circular reading of Article 14(d) SCM Agreement that the government-administered price for timber would need to be compared to the price charged by private

¹²⁰ United States First Written Submission, para 82. The United States notes in this respect that Canadian lumber producers can purchase US timber, cut it (or have it cut), and transport it to their mills in Canada, and that some Canadian mills have done so, in spite of the abundant supply of provincial timber available in Canada at below market prices. United States Second Oral Statement, para. 19.

¹²¹ The United States provides a brief rebuttal of Canada's argument that there are too many practical differences in comparing Canadian and US timber prices in attachment 2 to its first written submission.

timber sellers in Canada, as these latter have no choice but to align their prices to the administered prices set by the government. Thus, in effect, a comparison of the government price with the private price would amount to a comparison of the government price with itself. Moreover, according to the United States, the USDOC used the US stumpage prices as a "starting-point" and adjusted such prices, to reflect Canadian "prevailing market conditions", and it thus acted in a manner consistent with Article 14(d) SCM Agreement. Finally, the United States argues that the provinces did not provide sufficient information on private stumpage sales in order for those to be used as a benchmark for determining benefit.¹²²

7.45 Article 1 of the SCM Agreement provides that a subsidy in the sense of the SCM Agreement exists when a financial contribution, like the provision of a good or a service by the government, *confers a benefit*. Article 14 SCM Agreement, and Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement in particular, govern the benefit analysis an investigating authority is to perform in order to determine the existence and amount of a subsidy in cases, such as the one before us, where the financial contribution at issue consists of the provision of a good or service by the government. In this respect, we recall that the USDOC found that the Canadian provincial stumpage programmes provide a good, standing timber, to stumpage holders. Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement provides as follows:

Article 14

Calculation of the Amount of a Subsidy in Terms of the Benefit to the Recipient

For the purpose of Part V, any method used by the investigating authority to calculate the benefit to the recipient conferred pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article 1 shall be provided for in the national legislation or implementing regulations of the Member concerned and its application to each particular case shall be transparent and adequately explained. Furthermore, any such method shall be consistent with the following guidelines:

- (a) government provision of equity capital shall not be considered as conferring a benefit, unless the investment decision can be regarded as inconsistent with the usual investment practice (including for the provision of risk capital) of private investors in the territory of that Member;
- (b) a loan by a government shall not be considered as conferring a benefit, unless there is a difference between the amount that the firm receiving the loan pays on the government loan and the amount the firm would pay on a comparable commercial loan which the firm could actually obtain on the market. In this case the benefit shall be the difference between these two amounts;
- (c) a loan guarantee by a government shall not be considered as conferring a benefit, unless there is a difference between the amount that the firm receiving the guarantee pays on a loan guaranteed by the government and the amount that the firm would pay on a comparable commercial loan absent the government guarantee. In this case the benefit shall be the difference between these two amounts adjusted for any differences in fees;
- (d) the provision of goods or services or purchase of goods by a government shall not be considered as conferring a benefit unless the provision is made for less than adequate remuneration, or the purchase is made for more than adequate remuneration. The

¹²² We wish to note in this respect that there does not appear to be any dispute between the parties that the provinces were aware of the fact that such information had been requested.

adequacy of remuneration shall be determined in relation to prevailing market conditions for the good or service in question in the country of provision or purchase (including price, quality, availability, marketability, transportation and other conditions of purchase or sale).

7.46 Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement thus establishes that the provision of goods by a government shall not be considered as conferring a benefit unless the provision is made for less than *adequate* remuneration. The adequacy of the remuneration charged by the government shall be determined "in relation to the prevailing market conditions for the good or service in question in the country of provision or purchase".

7.47 In accordance with the customary rules of interpretation of public international law, our analysis of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement begins with the specific words of the provision, as the text is the most authentic expression of the intention of the drafters of the Agreement. We recall that Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties provides that "a treaty shall be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in light of its object and purpose". As the Appellate Body has stated on various occasions, a proper interpretation is first of all a textual interpretation, and the task of interpreting a treaty provision must begin with the specific words of that provision.¹²³

7.48 We note that the text of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement provides that the standard for determining benefit is whether "adequate remuneration" has been received by the government providing the good. The term "adequate" is defined as "sufficient, satisfactory" in the New Shorter Oxford Dictionary.¹²⁴ It is clear that "adequacy" is a relative concept; what is "adequate" in one given set of circumstances is not "adequate" in another. The set of circumstances to which the term relates in Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement are the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision. In our view, the term "in relation to" - or "*par rapport aux*" in the French version of the text – in this context means "in comparison with"¹²⁵ and Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement thus provides that the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision are the benchmark against which to judge the adequacy of the remuneration received by the government for the stumpage provided.

7 4 9 The United States argues that the broad phrase "in relation to" allows for various means of performing a comparison that relates to market conditions in the country under investigation. The United States is of the view that Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement does not specify the methods for performing such an analysis or the types of data that may be used, because it sets out "guidelines", i.e. general principles, not detailed rules.¹²⁶ We do not consider that Article 14 (d) does not specify the data that may be used for determining adequate remuneration. To the contrary, Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement uses the term "shall" to indicate that adequacy of remuneration must be determined in relation to, i.e. compared with, the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision, and the data to be used are those which reflect the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision. The precise detailed method of calculation is not determined, in that sense Article 14 (a) - (d) SCM Agreement are guidelines, but the framework within which this calculation is to be performed is clearly determined and limited in a mandatory manner by the prevailing market conditions in the country of provision.

¹²³ Appellate Body Report, Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II, page 18. Also see, for example, Appellate Body Report, US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment), para. 281.

¹²⁴ New Shorter Oxford Dictionary, Edited by Lesley Brown, Clarendon Press – Oxford, ed. 1993, p. 26.

¹²⁵ Harrap's Shorter French – English Dictionary, Chambers Harrap Publishers Ltd 1996, p. 761. The New Shorter Oxford Dictionary defines "in relation to" as "as regards", New Shorter Oxford Dictionary, Edited by Lesley Brown, Clarendon Press – Oxford, ed. 1993, p. 2534. ¹²⁶ United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the Second Meeting (Annex B-2), para. 23.

Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement refers the authority to the "prevailing" market conditions, i.e. 7.50 the market conditions "as they exist" or "which are predominant"¹²⁷ in the country of provision. Therefore, according to Article 14 (d), the price of the good provided, its quality, availability, marketability, transportation and other conditions of purchase or sale which are used as the benchmark for determining the adequacy of the remuneration have to be such as are prevailing in the country of provision. In sum, a plain reading of the text of Article 14 (d) leads us to the initial conclusion that the market which is to be used as the benchmark for determining benefit to the recipient is the market of the country of provision, in this case Canada.¹²⁸We note that the United States itself acknowledges that the adequacy of remuneration must be determined in relation to the prevailing market conditions "in the country of provision".¹²⁹ According to the United States, that begs the question whether there are in fact "market" conditions for the good in the country of provision that provide probative evidence for determining the adequacy of the remuneration. According to the United States, the Panel must give meaning to the word "market" and it asserts that the point of comparison under Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement must be prevailing commercial market conditions, i.e. a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution, in the country of provision.¹³⁰ The view of the United States thus appears to be that, when actual prices prevailing in the market are distorted by the government's financial contribution, and thus do not represent the "fair market value" of the goods in question, "prevailing market conditions" may be established on a basis other than actual prices prevailing in the country of provision.

As we have indicated above, our analysis has to be based on the text of the Agreement, as a 7.51 proper interpretation is first of all a textual interpretation. The text of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement does not qualify in any way the "market" conditions which are to be used as the benchmark. As such, the text does not explicitly refer to a "pure" market, to a market "undistorted by government intervention", or to a "fair market value". Rather, Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement identifies the market conditions which shall be used to determine adequacy of remuneration as those which are "prevailing" in respect of the price of the good, its quality, availability, marketability, transportation, and other conditions of purchase or sale, in other words, the market conditions "as can be found". Such market conditions must be those found in the country of provision, in this case Canada. Thus, the text of Article 14 (d) indicates that the analysis the authority is to perform is whether the government, when providing a good, is receiving a remuneration which is adequate, when compared to the price of the good in the market of that country, taking into account the quality of the good, its availability, marketability, transportation and other conditions of sale that apply in the country of provision. We see nothing in the text of Article 14 (d) that would justify disregarding those prices on the grounds that they were "distorted" or did not reflect the "fair market value" of the goods provided.

¹²⁷ New Shorter Oxford Dictionary, Edited by Lesley Brown, Clarendon Press – Oxford, ed. 1993,

p. 2347. ¹²⁸ We consider it relevant to recall in this respect the context of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement. Article 14 SCM Agreement provides specific rules for calculating benefit in four situations of a financial contribution provided by the government. Articles 14 (b) and 14 (c) SCM Agreement concern the government's provision of a loan and a loan guarantee. In both cases, the benchmark to be used for the calculation of benefit is the "comparable commercial loan" and the "comparable commercial loan absent the government guarantee". The market for obtaining this loan is not limited to the market of the country of the government providing the loan or the loan guarantee. In the case of the government providing equity capital, the benchmark under Article 14 (a) SCM Agreement is the usual investment practice of private investors in the territory of that Member. Contrary to the two cases identified above, Article 14 (a) SCM Agreement thus specifically ties the usual investment practices to the territory of the Member making the investment decision. Similarly, under Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement, the Agreement explicitly and specifically limits the scope of the inquiry into the adequacy of the remuneration to the "prevailing market conditions in the country of provision". In our view, if the drafters of the Agreement had wanted to allow consideration of conditions outside the market in question, they could have explicitly done so, as they did in the case of loans and loan guarantees. They did not do so in the case of the government provision of a good.

¹²⁹ United States Second Oral Statement, para. 12.

¹³⁰ United States Second Written Submission, para. 27. United States Second Oral Statement, para. 11.

7.52 The United States finds support for its argument that the "prevailing market conditions in the country of provision" have to be those of a *commercial* market undistorted by the government's financial contribution in the report of the Appellate Body on Canada – Aircraft and in the report of the Panel in the case Brazil - Aircraft. According to the United States, only by comparison to a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution is it possible to determine the trade distorting potential of the subsidy by assessing whether the recipient is better off than it would otherwise have been absent the financial contribution.¹³¹

7.53 We recall that the Appellate Body in the *Canada – Aircraft* case clarified what it considers to be the analysis that is to take place in order to determine whether the financial contribution conferred a benefit to the recipient:

"157. We also believe that the word "benefit", as used in Article 1.1(b), implies some kind of comparison. This must be so, for there can be no "benefit" to the recipient unless the "financial contribution" makes the recipient "better off" than it would otherwise have been, absent that contribution. In our view, the marketplace provides an appropriate basis for comparison in determining whether a "benefit" has been "conferred", because the trade-distorting potential of a "financial contribution" can be identified by determining whether the recipient has received a "financial contribution" on terms more favourable than those available to the recipient in the market." 132

7.54 We agree with the general principle expressed by the Appellate Body that a benefit analysis is to be conducted against the background of the marketplace in order to determine whether the recipient was better off than it would have been absent the financial contribution. We note, however, that the language quoted above formed part of the Appellate Body's general discussion about "benefit" under Article 1.1 (b) SCM Agreement. The Appellate Body was not addressing the particular wording of the text of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement. Nor was the Appellate Body in that case addressing the issue before us in this dispute. To the contrary, the Appellate Body's statement in Canada – Aircraft was made in the context of an argument by Canada that the Panel had erred in considering that the notion of "cost to government" was not relevant to the interpretation and application of the term "benefit". The Appellate Body decided that it was the marketplace, and not the cost to government, that was the appropriate basis for comparison; the question whether the term "market" means a market undistorted by the government's financial contribution was simply not before it, and there is no indication that the Appellate Body had any intention of addressing it. Thus, we do not consider that this statement of the Appellate Body, which related to the interpretation of a different article of the SCM Agreement and was made in the context of a very different issue than the one before us in this dispute, sheds much light on the issue before us here.

It is certainly correct that the Panel in the Brazil – Aircraft case stated that the "market" 7.55 referred to "must necessarily be a 'commercial' market, i.e. a market undistorted by government intervention".¹³³ However, that Panel also was addressing a very different question from the one before us here. The Panel rejected a particular argument by Brazil by clarifying that the "market" to which reference was made should not include other governments' export credit practices, but only those of non-government entities, as it could well be that other governments were also granting export credits at a subsidized rate.¹³⁴ In other words, the thrust of the Panel's statement was that it would not

¹³¹ The United States asserts that "Applying the reasoning of the Appellate Body, 'less than adequate remuneration' must mean a price less than would otherwise be available in the marketplace absent the government's financial contribution". United States Second Written Submission, para. 26.

¹³² Appellate Body report, *Canada – Aircraft*, para. 157.
¹³³ Panel Report, *Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada II)*, para. 5.29.

¹³⁴ In particular, Brazil had argued that in order to establish whether the export credits granted by the government conferred a benefit compared to rates available in the marketplace, one should not distinguish

be appropriate to determine whether a particular financial contribution conferred a benefit by comparing the terms of that financial contribution with those of other government financial contributions. This is an eminently sensible proposition with which we cannot but agree. However, neither party in this case has suggested that the "prevailing market conditions" referred to in Article 14 (d) include other government financial contributions, and we thus fail to see how the ruling of the Panel in that case is relevant to the issue before us here.

7.56 The United States suggests that Canada's reading of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement would lead to an absurd result, as it would preclude in all cases the use of data from outside the country of provision, even when no market conditions exist in the country of provision, thereby making it impossible to ever establish the existence of subsidization in case the government is the only player on the market.

7.57 We do not consider that our reading which is based on the text of the Agreement would lead to this absurd result. We do not exclude the possibility that it will in certain situations not be possible to use in-country prices. Certainly, in our view, in a situation where, for example, the government is the *only* supplier of the good in the country, or where the government administratively controls all of the prices for the good in the country, there would be *no* price other than the price charged by the government and thus no basis for the comparison foreseen in Article 14(d) SCM Agreement.¹³⁵ The only remaining possibility would appear to be the construction of some sort of a proxy for, or estimate of, the market price for the good in that country.¹³⁶ We emphasise that it has not been argued however that there are no private buyers and sellers of stumpage in Canada. In other words, it has not been argued that there is no private market for stumpage in Canada.¹³⁷ Neither has it been argued that the Canadian provincial governments administratively set the price for private stumpage. As the United States clearly stated, in-country prices were rejected because they were significantly affected by the financial contribution, and because the USDOC considered that the observed non-government prices were for that reason simply uninformative of adequate remuneration.¹³⁸ We therefore consider that the situation confronted by the USDOC was not one where there were no market prices.

7.58 We also recognize the more subtle problem of economic logic identified by the United States. The United States argues that the problem of reading the text of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement to require that, as soon as there is a market, no matter how small or affected by the government intervention in the market, such market prices are to be used in determining the adequacy of the remuneration, is that it could lead to a circular comparison of a government price with, in effect,

between commercial and non-commercial benchmarks in determining what interest rates prevailed in the "marketplace". Canada on the other hand had argued that reference should be made in this context to purely commercial transactions -i.e., transactions not benefiting from official support - and Canada thus defined the "marketplace" to mean the purely commercial marketplace. The Panel rejected Brazil's argument and clarified that the "market" to which reference was made should not include other governments' export credit practices, but only those of non-government entitities, as it could well be that other governments were also granting export credits at a subsidized rate.

¹³⁵ This of course also assumes no or negligible imports of the good in question.

¹³⁶ We note that Canada itself agrees that in the context of a government monopoly over domestic production, import prices for the same good, which may or may not be "world market prices", if available to purchasers in the country of provision, could be used as a benchmark to measure adequacy of remuneration. Canada Second Written Submission, para. 41. The European Communities in its Third Party Submission clarifies that it considers that it should be possible to use world market prices "if it can be established in exceptional cases that there are no prevailing market conditions within the meaning of Article 14 (d) second sentence of the SCM Agreement, so that that rule cannot be applied in order to establish the existence of a benefit". European Communities Third Party Submission, para. 31.

¹³⁷ Indeed, as we will discuss later, the USDOC's Final Determination notes that private market sales of stumpage account for between 1 and 17 per cent of total stumpage sold in each province. ¹³⁸ United States First Written Submission, para. 65.

itself.¹³⁹We acknowledge that the concern raised by the United States may be a legitimate one in certain cases. In the situation addressed by Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement, the government fulfils a role normally also played by private market players: it provides goods or services. In these situations, the government is acting on the market and, by so doing, may influence the private market. Whether and to what extent such government action influences the private market will of course depend upon the particular circumstances, but there could be cases in which that influence is substantial or even determinative of conditions in the private market. In such cases, a comparison of the conditions of the government financial contribution with the conditions prevailing in the private market would not fully capture the extent of the distortion arising from the government financial contribution, a result that in our view would not necessarily be the most sensible one from the perspective of economic logic.

7.59 That said, we do not believe that it would be appropriate for this Panel to substitute its economic judgement for that of the drafters. The Appellate Body has repeatedly emphasized, and we cannot but agree, that under Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties the interpretation of a treaty must be based on the text, as a proper interpretation is first of all a textual interpretation.¹⁴⁰ For all the reasons set forth above, we do not consider that Article 14 (d) can, consistent with customary rules of interpretation of public international law, be understood in the manner urged by the United States. We consider that our task is to interpret the applicable provisions as they exist and apply the text of the Agreement to the facts before us, not to rule on the economic logic of the text as it stands.

7.60 In sum, our conclusion on the basis of the text of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement is that as long as there are prices determined by independent operators following the principle of supply and demand, even if supply or demand are affected by the government's presence in the market, there is a "market" in the sense of Article 14(d) SCM Agreement.¹⁴¹ The problem raised by the United States of comparing in certain situations the government price with a market price significantly affected by the government's price, is in our view inherent in the text of Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement. We consider that, if the Members feel the rules as laid down in the WTO Agreements do not address certain situations in what they consider to be a satisfactory manner, they should raise this issue during negotiations. Our task consists of interpreting the Agreement to explain what it means, not what in our view it should mean, nor are we allowed to read words in to the text of the Agreement which are not there, even if we were to consider that the text inadequately addresses certain specific situations.

7.61 Applying our analysis to the facts of this case, we examined whether the USDOC had before it information concerning the prevailing market conditions in Canada and whether it relied on such

¹³⁹ The United States argues that if the role of the government as the owner of an unlimited supply of the good is so predominant that the private sellers have no choice but to align their prices with those of the government, then the conclusion should be that the government has effectively set the price for the good throughout the market. In order to avoid this problem, the United States suggests that the word "market" in Article 14(d) SCM Agreement should be read at least to reflect a "bona fide, functioning" market. The United States argues that some sort of a proxy to estimate market conditions should be used where no "real" market conditions are directly observable.

 ¹⁴⁰ Appellate Body Report, Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II, pages 12 and 18. Appellate Body Report, EC – Hormones, para. 181; Appellate Body Report, India – Patents (US), para 45; Appellate Body Report, US – Shrimp, para. 114; Appellate Body Report, India – Quantitative Restrictions, para. 94. Appellate Body Report, US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment), para. 281.
 ¹⁴¹ We note that the Panel in the US - Softwood Lumber III case came to a similar conclusion:

¹⁴¹ We note that the Panel in the *US* - *Softwood Lumber III* case came to a similar conclusion: "7.53 We wish to note that even if in certain exceptional circumstances it may prove difficult in practice to apply Article 14 (d) SCM Agreement, that would not justify reading words into the text of the Agreement that are not there or ignoring the plain meaning of the text. In our view, the text of Article 14 SCM Agreement leaves no choice to the investigating authority but to use as a benchmark the market, for the good (or service) in question, *as it exists* in the country of provision."

Panel Report, US – Softwood Lumber III, para. 7.53.

information. We consider that the USDOC summarized the situation with regard to the existence of the private market in Canada as follows:

"During the POI, total softwood harvested from Crown lands accounted for between approximately 83 and 99 per cent of all softwood timber harvested in each of the Provinces. Specifically, the Provincial, federal and private share of softwood timber harvests, by Province are:

British Columbia – 90 per cent Provincial, less than 1 per cent federal, and almost 10 per cent private;

Quebec – 83 per cent Provincial, and 17 per cent private;

Ontario – 92 per cent Provincial and 7 per cent private;

Alberta – 98 per cent Provincial, 1 per cent federal, and 1 per cent private;

Manitoba – 94 per cent Provincial, 1 per cent federal and 5 per cent private;

Saskatchewan – 90 per cent Provincial, 1 per cent federal and 9 per cent private."¹⁴²

7.62 The USDOC Determination further provides that "Alberta, Ontario and Quebec have provided private stumpage prices for their respective Provinces. British Columbia provided stumpage prices set by government auction".¹⁴³

7.63 As a factual matter, we therefore find that the USDOC acknowledged the existence of a private market for stumpage in Canada. It is clear therefore that we are not confronted with a situation where there are *no* market conditions in the country of provision which, for practical reasons would require the use of a proxy of some sort. Moreover, the USDOC Determination shows that the USDOC had before it private stumpage prices for four of the most important provinces. Our analysis is based upon the USDOC's establishment of the facts of record, as we are not to perform a *de novo* review. In spite of the many arguments made before us concerning the in-country price data, or the absence thereof, we find that there is no basis in the USDOC Determination for us to assume that the reason why such private price information was rejected and US stumpage prices were used instead was a lack of information concerning private stumpage prices. On the basis of the record, we find that the USDOC decided not to rely on the Canadian private stumpage prices, because it considered that "a valid benchmark must be independent of the government price being tested; otherwise the benchmark may reflect the very market distortion the comparison is intended to detect".¹⁴⁴ Based on this view, the USDOC reached the conclusion that "there are no useable market determined prices between Canadian buyers and sellers".¹⁴⁵ The USDOC decided to rely on stumpage prices in the United States instead.

7.64 In light of the fact that the USDOC acknowledged the existence of a private stumpage market in Canada, we find that the resort to US prices as the benchmark for the determination of benefit on grounds that private prices in Canada were distorted is inconsistent with Article 14 (d) SCM

¹⁴² USDOC Final Determination, p. 37 – 38. (CDA – 1)

¹⁴³ USDOC Final Determination, p. 36. (CDA - 1)

¹⁴⁴ USDOC Final Determination, p. 37. (CDA – 1). The USDOC further explains that in its view "The preamble to section 351.511 of the Regulations provides that, where a government has a dominant position in a market, the Department will avoid the use of private prices in determining the adequacy of remuneration. Where the market for a particular good is so dominated by the presence of the government, the remaining private prices in the country in question cannot be considered to be independent of the government price". USDOC Final Determination, p. 58. (CDA – 1)

¹⁴⁵ USDOC Final Determination, p. 36. (CDA - 1)

Agreement. As a consequence, we need not address the issue whether the USDOC had sufficient evidence of price suppression or conducted a proper analysis of the alleged distortive effect of the dominant government presence in the market. Nor need we address whether the proxy used by the United States for the prevailing market conditions in Canada was appropriate, i.e. whether the USDOC made proper adjustments to the US stumpage prices to reflect market conditions in Canada. Neither do we consider it relevant to rule on the argument made by Canada that any benefit analysis should include a determination of the potential trade advantage for the recipient of the subsidy.

7.65 For the reasons set forth above, we uphold Canada's claim that the USDOC failed to determine benefit in a manner consistent with Articles 14 and 14 (d) SCM Agreement and we therefore find that the USDOC's imposition of countervailing measures was inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Articles 14 and 14 (d) SCM Agreement as well as Articles 10 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement as these countervailing measures were imposed on the basis of an inconsistent determination of the existence and amount of a subsidy.¹⁴⁶ In light of our finding, we do not consider it necessary to address Canada's additional claims regarding the consistency of the USDOC's actions with Articles 19.1 and 19.4 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

C. CLAIM 3: USDOC IMPERMISSIBLY ASSUMED A PASS-THROUGH OF THE ALLEGED SUBSIDY

7.66 Canada's pass-through claim is based on the *arguendo* assumption that stumpage provides subsidies, i.e., that stumpage constitutes a financial contribution in the form of provision of a good, and that that financial contribution confers a benefit. That is, Canada's claim is that even if stumpage does provide subsidies, the USDOC erred in not conducting a pass-through analysis in determining subsidization of softwood lumber in the case of certain upstream transactions for inputs. Notwithstanding our finding that the US failed to determine benefit in a manner consistent with Article 14 SCM Agreement, we address this claim adopting the same *arguendo* assumption for purposes of our analysis.

7.67 We note that the US seems to raise a jurisdictional challenge to Canada's citation of Article 1.1 SCM Agreement in connection with this claim. We address this jurisdictional issue in section VII.C.2(c), *infra*.

1. Arguments of the parties

(a) Canada

7.68 Canada claims that by not investigating whether alleged subsidy benefits from stumpage programmes were passed through in arms'-length transactions between timber harvesters and unrelated sawmills, and between sawmills and unrelated re-manufacturers, the United States countervailed subsidies the existence and amount of which it presumed instead of determined. In particular, Canada takes issue with the conclusions in the USDOC's final determination that, in respect of sawmills that purchase logs at arms'-length, no subsidy pass-through analysis was required because the alleged subsidy is a subsidy "to the production of lumber, not the production of timber or logs"¹⁴⁷, and in respect of re-manufacturers that purchase lumber from stumpage holders at arms'-

¹⁴⁶ Article 10 SCM Agreement provides that "Members shall take all necessary steps to ensure that the imposition of a countervailing duty on any product of the territory of any Member imported into the territory of another Member is in accordance with the provisions of Article VI of GATT 1994 and the terms of this Agreement. Countervailing duties may only be imposed pursuant to investigations initiated and conducted in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement on Agriculture".

Article 32.1 SCM Agreement states that "no specific action against a subsidy of another Member can be taken except in accordance with the provisions of GATT 1994, as interpreted by this Agreement".

¹⁴⁷ Canada First Written Submission, para. 130, citing USDOC Final Determination (CDA-1) p. 18.

length, that as the case was conducted on an aggregate basis, "a review is the appropriate avenue to determine if there are specific companies that do not receive countervailable benefits"¹⁴⁸.

7.69 According to Canada, the Appellate Body has confirmed, in US – Lead and Bismuth II, that in a countervailing duty investigation, the existence of a subsidy may never be presumed.¹⁴⁹ Furthermore, Canada notes, the Panel in US – Softwood Lumber III found in favour of Canada and against the US in respect of the pass-through issue in the preliminary countervailing duty investigation on softwood lumber.¹⁵⁰

7.70 Canada further argues that where lumber producers do not harvest timber but obtain inputs from upstream producers, any alleged subsidy by definition must be indirect, and that indirect subsidization is established by demonstrating the existence of both an indirect financial contribution, through entrustment or direction under Article 1.1(a)(1)(iv), and a benefit under Article 1.1(b). According to Canada, USDOC made no finding in respect of financial contribution by government to lumber producers or re-manufacturers in respect of inputs purchased at arms'-length, nor did USDOC find that the alleged benefit was conferred to lumber producers or re-manufacturers through downstream purchases. Thus, Canada claims, the failure by the USDOC to establish the existence of a subsidy in respect of arms'-length transactions for lumber inputs violated the SCM Agreement.¹⁵¹

7.71 Canada argues that there was substantial record evidence demonstrating arms'-length transactions between timber harvesters and lumber producers, and between lumber producers and remanufacturers: British Columbia, where approximately 24 per cent of the timber from Crown licenses was harvested by companies that did not own sawmills; Ontario, where some 30 per cent of the softwood timber harvested from Crown lands was sold by tenure holders to third parties for processing; British Columbia, where at least 18 per cent of the volume of logs harvested from Crown lands were purchased at arms'-length; and the fact that many companies applied for exclusion from the countervailing duty order on the grounds of having received no subsidies due to sourcing their log and lumber inputs at arms'-length.¹⁵²

7.72 Canada argues that under SCM Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4, and 32.1, and GATT 1994 Article VI, a countervailing duty may be imposed only where it has been demonstrated that the producer of the subject merchandise has benefited from a "subsidy" as defined in SCM Article 1.1. Canada argues that the US presumed rather than demonstrated the existence of a subsidy where arms'-length transactions separated the recipients of the alleged financial contribution and the producers of the subject merchandise, that the US thereby acted inconsistently with Article 1.1, and thus violated: (1) Article 10 by failing to impose countervailing duties in accordance with the provisions of the SCM Agreement; (2) Article 19.1 by imposing countervailing duties in the absence of a final determination of the amount of a subsidy; (3) Article 19.4 by levying countervailing duties in excess of the amount of the subsidy found to exist; (4) Article 32.1 by taking action against a subsidy not in accordance with the provisions of GATT 1994, as interpreted by the SCM Agreement; and (5) Article VI:3 of the GATT 1994 by imposing duties in the absence of an indirect subsidy finding.¹⁵³

7.73 Canada, responding to the US argument, concludes on this point that the fact that the investigation was conducted on an aggregate basis did not excuse the USDOC for its failure to correctly establish the existence and amount of the alleged subsidy to producers of subject merchandise. Canada argues that, contrary to the US's characterization, the issue of pass-through is not simply about calculating the amount of the alleged stumpage subsidy, but rather, about whether a

¹⁴⁸ Canada First Written Submission, para. 131, quoting USDOC Final Determination (CDA-1) p. 19.

¹⁴⁹ Canada First Written Submission, para. 134 et seq.

¹⁵⁰ Canada First Written Submission, para. 139.

¹⁵¹ Canada First Written Submission, para. 132 et seq.

¹⁵² Canada First Written Submission, para. 140.

¹⁵³ Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-1), paras. 113-114.

subsidy exists. For Canada, the amount of a subsidy cannot be calculated, aggregated or allocated until a subsidy is first determined to exist.¹⁵⁴

(b) United States

7.74 The United States characterizes this claim by Canada as an issue of calculation of the rate of subsidization (and hence the amount of countervailing duty), rather an issue concerning the existence of the subsidy. According to the US, the USDOC correctly established the overall amount of subsidy under the provincial stumpage programmes, as the per unit subsidy times the total quantity of Crown logs entering sawmills, on a province-by-province basis. Then, the US argues, because the USDOC performed its investigation on an aggregate basis, no pass-through analysis was necessary or required. Rather, the USDOC simply spread the total subsidy amount that it had calculated over the value of sales of the products produced from the "lumber production process". The US argues that requiring a pass-through analysis would effectively amount to requiring a company-specific analysis, which even Canada does not argue is required by the Agreement. In this context, the US further argues that the implication of Canada's argument in respect of pass-through would mean that a Member would violate the SCM Agreement every time it imposed a countervailing duty on an uninvestigated exporter or producer, although the last sentence of Article 19.3 makes clear that this does not constitute a violation.¹⁵⁵

7.75 The United States argues that there are two basic situations in which Canada argues that a pass-through analysis is required. First is the case of a timber harvester that does not own a sawmill and sells logs to sawmills at arms'-length. Second is the case of re-manufacturers that purchase lumber from sawmills for use in their re-manufacturing operations.

7.76 In respect of the first situation, the United States considers that the existence of arms'-length log sales by harvesters who are not lumber producers might reduce the amount of subsidy from stumpage programmes that benefits the softwood lumber products produced from those logs, but that as a factual matter, the record demonstrates that the "vast majority" of Crown timber entering sawmills (i.e., the basis for the subsidy calculation) is obtained from the sawmills' own tenures. According to the US, any portion of that timber that was purchased from independent harvesters could only constitute a "comparatively small portion of the total"¹⁵⁶, and the many restrictions imposed on tenure holders, including requirements to process timber locally, "suggests that all or most of the sales by independent loggers may not be at arms'-length".¹⁵⁷ The US further argues that subsidies to independent companies can only be addressed through an examination of individual producers of the subject merchandise because of the necessity to examine the specific relationships and transactions that may be at issue, and that such a company-specific analysis is not required by the Agreement, nor does Canada make such a claim.¹⁵⁸

7.77 Concerning the second situation, the United States provides a numerical example to explain why, in its view, no pass-through analysis is necessary in respect of sales of lumber to remanufacturers.¹⁵⁹ According to the US, in an aggregate case, such a pass-through analysis is not required because the total subsidy amount from the sawmills' stumpage inputs is known, and can be used in its entirety as the appropriate numerator in the subsidization calculation. This numerator is then spread equally over a sales denominator consisting of the total amount of sales of the subject product produced by both first mills and re-manufacturers. Changing the denominator does not affect the total subsidy amount, but rather, only the rate of subsidization.

¹⁵⁴ Canada Second Oral Statement, para. 56.

¹⁵⁵ United States Second Written Submission, para. 57 et seq.

¹⁵⁶ United States First Written Submission, para. 113.

¹⁵⁷ United States First Oral Statement, para., 36.

¹⁵⁸ United States First Written Submission, para. 113.

¹⁵⁹ United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-2), paras. 23-27.

7.78 As for Canada's legal argument, the US argues that Canada has raised in its arguments before the Panel certain new provisions, in particular Article 1.1 SCM Agreement, which were not referred to in the Request for Establishment of a Panel in connection with this claim. The US also argues that the other provisions cited by Canada either do not contain the obligations asserted by Canada, or are completely dependent on such provisions.¹⁶⁰

7.79 Concerning the various provisions of Article 19 SCM Agreement, the United States argues, first, that Article 19.1 SCM Agreement requires a final determination of the amount of the subsidy and a final determination of injury as pre-conditions to the imposition of a countervailing duty, but does not establish any requirements as to how a subsidy or injury are to be determined. Rather, these requirements are found elsewhere in the SCM Agreement. As for Article 19.4 SCM Agreement, the US argues that the role of this provision is to establish an upper limit to the amount of the countervailing duty that may be levied, i.e., the amount of subsidy found to exist. The issue addressed by Article 19.4 SCM Agreement is expressly the *levying* of duties *after* a subsidy has been "found to exist", according to the US. Furthermore, the sole calculation requirement in Article 19.4 is to calculate the subsidy on a per unit basis, and the US states that Canada concedes that its claim under Article 19.4 SCM Agreement is dependent upon the existence of an inconsistency with some other provision of the SCM Agreement that imposes obligations with respect to the subsidy calculation. Concerning Article 19.3 SCM Agreement (no violation of which is claimed by Canada), the US argues that this provision allows Members to conduct investigations other than on a company-specific basis, in that it foresees the possibility to levy countervailing duties on producers not individually investigated. Concerning the obligations in Article 19.3, the US argues that these are: (1) that when imposing countervailing measures, a Member must do so on a non-discriminatory basis; and (2) that when an uninvestigated exporter is subject to countervailing duties, it is entitled to an expedited review to establish an individual countervailing duty rate. As for Article VI:3 of GATT 1994, the US argues that it contains no obligation regarding the methodology that a Member may use in calculating the ad valorem subsidy rate.¹⁶¹

7.80 Turning to the other provisions cited by Canada in connection with the pass-through claim – Articles 10 and 32.1 SCM Agreement – the US argues that these are necessarily derivative of other claims, which Canada has failed to establish.¹⁶² Thus, the US argues, Canada has not made a *prima facie* case of violation in respect of the pass-through claim.

2. Analysis

7.81 The basic question presented by this claim is whether USDOC was obligated to conduct a pass-through analysis in respect of the input transactions between timber harvesters (both those that produce lumber and those that do not) and unrelated sawmills, and between sawmills and unrelated re-manufacturers, and if so, whether this obligation can be found in any of the provisions cited in Canada's claim.¹⁶³ For Canada, failure to conduct such an analysis means that USDOC did not establish the existence of a subsidy in those cases. For the US, the provisions cited by Canada do not contain a requirement to conduct a pass-through analysis. On the substance, the US argues that the issue is one of calculation of the rate of subsidization, which the US maintains it has done correctly by specifying the total amount of subsidy to softwood lumber from the stumpage programmes, and then allocating that total over all relevant softwood lumber sales. Thus for the US, conduct of the investigation on this aggregate basis obviates the need to perform a pass-through analysis.

¹⁶⁰ United States Second Written Submission, paras. 54-55 and footnote 96.

¹⁶¹ United States First Written Submission, paras. 90-114.

¹⁶² United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-2), para. 31.

¹⁶³ We note that this claim only concerns such alleged arms'-length transactions between unrelated entities, as Canada has acknowledged that "[w]here the timber harvester and the producer of subject merchandise are the same 'recipient' of the alleged subsidy, no pass-through analysis would be required". Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 110.

(a) Legal requirements concerning pass-through analysis

7.82 We thus must consider whether, under the provisions cited by Canada, the USDOC was required to conduct an analysis of the extent to which any (alleged) subsidy benefits from stumpage were passed through by timber harvesters when they sold logs to unrelated lumber producers or when they sold lumber to re-manufacturers. Here, it seems that the issue of "existence" of a subsidy and calculation of the rate of subsidization on lumber in practice are somewhat conflated in the case before us. In particular, we note that Canada does not challenge the USDOC's aggregate approach to determining subsidization, namely determining a total amount of subsidy provided through the stumpage programmes and then allocating that total subsidy amount over sales of the relevant products.¹⁶⁴ Thus, as a practical matter, given the methodology used by USDOC in the investigation, the question as posed by Canada of the "existence" of subsidization in the transactions at issue would manifest itself in the calculation of the aggregate rate of subsidization. In particular, if any subsidy amounts were improperly imputed to the subject merchandise, due to the absence of a pass-through analysis in respect of the transactions at issue, this would manifest itself as an overstatement of the aggregate rate of subsidization, as no company-specific rates would have been calculated. We note that the panel in US - Softwood Lumber III addressed this same issue.¹⁶⁵

7.83 We now turn to an examination of the provisions cited by Canada in its pass-through claim, starting with Article 10 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

In considering Canada's pass-through claim in detail, we recall that countervailing measures 7.84 are applied to imports of certain products (the subject merchandise), which in the countervailing duty investigation in dispute before us comprises softwood lumber products produced by sawmills from logs, and re-manufactured softwood lumber products produced by re-manufacturers from lumber obtained from sawmills. That is, countervailing duties are not levied on companies that have received subsidies, but rather are additional duties levied on imports of certain *products* in respect of the manufacture, production or export of which subsidization has been found ("subsidized imports" as referred to in the SCM Agreement)¹⁶⁶.

With this as background, we understand Canada's claim, in essence, to be that where upstream 7.85 transactions between unrelated entities exist for inputs, any subsidies to the producers of those inputs cannot be assumed also to be subsidies to the downstream product under investigation. We note that Article 1.1, which contains the definition of a subsidy, and which Canada identifies as the underlying substantive basis of its claim, uses relatively abstract language as to what a subsidy is, but does not itself make the link between the existence of a subsidy as such and the subsidization of a particular product.¹⁶⁷ Indeed, while Article 1.1's reference to "benefit" certainly implies the existence of a recipient. Article 1.1 makes no reference to the nature of the recipient or its link to any particular

¹⁶⁴ Canada does challenge the product scope of the sales denominator used by the USDOC, however. See, section VII.E.1(b), infra.

¹⁶⁵ That panel noted that the US seemed to approach the issue of pass-through of benefits as if it could be resolved solely by correctly identifying the total value of relevant sales of the subject merchandise (softwood lumber) to use as the denominator of the subsidization calculation, so long as all of the entities whose sales were included in the denominator were producers of softwood lumber. The panel disagreed, finding that the issue of pass-through of benefits has to do in the first instance with correctly establishing the amount of the subsidy that benefits the producers of the subject merchandise, i.e., the numerator. The panel went on to say that where a producer of softwood lumber does not itself harvest logs, but instead buys logs or lumber from unrelated suppliers, any alleged subsidy from the stumpage programmes that may have benefited the producer of the upstream logs or lumber could only be included in the total subsidy amount to the extent that it has been established as a factual matter that the purchaser has received some or all of the benefit.

 ¹⁶⁶ As, for example, in Article 19.1 SCM Agreement, among many other references.
 ¹⁶⁷ In the sense of "subsidy bestowed ... upon the production, manufacture or export of any merchandise" as per footnote 36 to Article 10 SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. See also Article 19.4 SCM ("subsidized and exported product").

product. For us, the core of the pass-through issue is the notion of subsidization of a product, i.e., in respect of its manufacture, production, or export. Where the subsidies at issue are received by someone other than the producer of the investigated product, the question arises whether there is subsidization in respect of that product. The question before us in this claim, therefore, is whether any of the provisions cited by Canada require an investigating authority to make a determination linking subsidies (in the sense of Article 1.1) with a product subject to a CVD investigation.

7.86 Turning first to Article 10 SCM Agreement, Canada's argument is that in failing to establish the *existence* of a subsidy in the sense of Article 1.1 in respect of the upstream transactions at issue, the US failed to impose countervailing duties in accordance with the provisions of the SCM Agreement, a violation of Article 10 SCM Agreement, as that provision contains the general requirement to respect the provisions of Article VI of GATT 1994 and the SCM Agreement in applying countervailing measures. Canada further argues that by not establishing the existence of a subsidy, the US also violated Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 by imposing duties in the absence of an indirect subsidy finding.

7.87 Article 10 SCM Agreement reads as follows:

Article 10

Application of Article VI of GATT 1994 [footnote omitted]

"Members shall take all necessary steps to ensure that the imposition of a countervailing duty³⁶ on any product of the territory of any Member imported into the territory of another Member is in accordance with the provisions of Article VI of GATT 1994 and the terms of this Agreement. Countervailing duties may only be imposed pursuant to investigations initiated [footnote omitted] and conducted in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Agreement on Agriculture.

7.88 The first sentence of Article 10 makes explicit that, as Canada argues, imposition of a countervailing duty must be in accordance with Article VI of GATT and with the SCM Agreement. On its own, however, this does not shed much light on the question before us in this claim, i.e., whether a pass-through analysis is required to establish subsidization of the subject product where there are upstream transactions between unrelated parties. By contrast, we find footnote 36 to Article 10 to be illuminating. This footnote defines what a countervailing duty is, and in so doing makes explicit the link between a "subsidy" to a recipient in the sense of Article 1.1 and the manufacture, production or export of a *product* that is the subject of a CVD investigation and ultimately a countervailing duty. In particular, we note in this regard the phrase "any *subsidy bestowed directly or indirectly upon* the manufacture, production or export of GATT 1994".

7.89 Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 reads as follows:

"No countervailing duty shall be levied on any product of the territory of any contracting party imported into the territory of another contracting party in excess of an amount equal to the estimated bounty or subsidy determined to have been granted, directly or indirectly, on the manufacture, production or export of such product in the country of origin or exportation, including any special subsidy to the transportation of a particular product. The term "countervailing duty" shall be understood to mean a

³⁶ The term "countervailing duty" shall be understood to mean a special duty levied for the purpose of offsetting any subsidy bestowed directly or indirectly upon the manufacture, production or export of any merchandise, as provided for in paragraph 3 of Article VI of GATT 1994."

special duty levied for the purpose of offsetting any bounty or subsidy bestowed, directly, or indirectly, upon the manufacture, production or export of any merchandise."

7.90 Thus, the definition of a countervailing duty that appears in the second sentence of Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 mirrors the definition in footnote 36 to Article 10 SCM Agreement, by referring to "any bounty or *subsidy bestowed, directly, or indirectly, upon* the manufacture, production or export of *any merchandise*". In other words, both of these provisions make explicit that there must be direct or indirect¹⁶⁸ *subsidization* in relation to the manufacture, production or export of a *product* for a "countervailing duty" in the sense of the Agreement and GATT Article VI to be imposed on that product.

7.91 The heart of the pass-through issue is whether, where a subsidy is received by someone other than the producer or exporter of the product under investigation, the subsidy nevertheless can be said to have conferred benefits in respect of that product. If it is not demonstrated that there has been such a pass-through of subsidies from the subsidy recipient to the producer or exporter of the product, then it cannot be said that subsidization in respect of that product, in the sense of Article 10, footnote 36, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994, has been found. Thus, we find that a pass-through analysis is required by these provisions, both of which were cited in Canada's pass-through claim, where there are such upstream transactions. Given this conclusion, the US argument that none of the provisions cited by Canada requires a pass-through analysis fails.

7.92 Our analysis is consistent with the findings of the 1990 GATT Panel on US – Canadian Pork. In that dispute, Canada claimed that the USDOC's failure to conduct a pass-through analysis to determine the extent to which subsidies on live swine benefited production and exportation of pork products violated Article VI:3 of GATT 1947.¹⁶⁹ That panel found, as we do, that investigating authorities had the affirmative obligation to make a determination of subsidization in respect of *a product*, and could not simply assume such subsidization where the subsidies were bestowed in respect of a product (the input product) that was different from the *product subject to countervailing duty*, and where the input producers were unrelated to the producers of that subject merchandise.

(b) Pass-through analysis in the present dispute

7.93 We recall that in the present dispute, the US has not contended that it did conduct a passthrough analysis in respect of any of the upstream transactions at issue. Thus, the factual question of whether a pass-through analysis was conducted is not in dispute before us. Rather, the US argues that no such analysis was necessary given the particular circumstances of, and methodology used in, USDOC's softwood lumber investigation. We next consider these arguments by the US.

(i) Sales of logs by tenured timber harvesters to unrelated lumber producers

7.94 In respect of the first type of arms'-length transaction at issue before us, i.e., log sales to lumber producers by timber harvesters that do not produce lumber, the US acknowledges that any such sales could overstate the aggregate amount of subsidization of softwood lumber, but argues that in fact such sales accounted for only a "comparatively small" portion of the total, that they "may not be" at arms'-length, that in any event the US has no obligation to examine individual transactions in an aggregate case, and finally, that legally the provisions cited by Canada are inapposite. According to

¹⁶⁸ We note that Canada makes specific arguments as to what constitutes an "indirect" subsidy, and equates a pass-through analysis to an indirect subsidy analysis. We do not consider it necessary for the resolution of this claim to try to define or analyze the concepts of direct versus indirect subsidization. Rather, we consider Canada's Article 10 SCM and Article VI:3 of GATT claim to be about subsidization in respect of the manufacture, production or export of the product at issue, which these provisions make clear can be either direct or indirect.

¹⁶⁹ We note that the wording of Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 is identical to its analog in GATT 1947.

the US, the record evidence on these points is that the vast majority of Crown timber enters harvesters' own sawmills, and that the tenures are more than sufficient to meet the tenure holders' needs, that there were few if any such sales, and that in the investigation, Canada never attempted to submit information pertaining to such sales.

7.95 The US does not cite to any specific quantitative information from the record that establishes the volume of the possible arms'-length log sales at issue, nor does it argue that the USDOC made efforts to collect such information. The US instead seems to suggest that the burden was on Canada to present such evidence. We disagree. The obligation under Article 10 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 to conduct a pass-through analysis in respect of production of softwood lumber from Crown logs purchased from unrelated harvesters falls on the US as the Member taking countervailing action. The US did not do so, and points to no factual basis in the record for its conclusion that such an analysis was not necessary. We thus find that in respect of the upstream log sales at issue, the US acted inconsistently with Article 10 SCM and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

(ii) Sales of logs or lumber by tenured harvester-sawmills to sawmills or re-manufacturers -Conduct of the investigation on an aggregate basis

7.96 We similarly disagree with the US reasoning in respect of the second category of transactions at issue, i.e., where logs are sold by a tenure-holding harvester-sawmill to another unrelated sawmill, or where lumber is sold by a tenure-holding harvester-sawmill to an unrelated lumber remanufacturer. In its aggregate investigation, the USDOC deemed that a pass-through analysis in these types of transactions was not necessary because both the sellers and the purchasers of the inputs were themselves producers of softwood lumber, the subject merchandise. That is, according to the US reasoning, the issue of pass-through, which is about the subsidy amount numerator in a subsidization calculation, does not arise in an aggregate investigation where all of the producers selling the upstream inputs also are producers of subject merchandise, as any subsidy amounts from the stumpage programmes, if not passed through to the downstream log or lumber purchasers (who are lumber producers), will remain with the upstream log or lumber sellers (who likewise are lumber producers), thus benefitting their own production of softwood lumber, rather than that of their customers.

7 97 We are not convinced by this argument, however, which unjustifiably assumes in both situations that 100 per cent of any subsidy received by the tenure-holding harvester/sawmill is attributable to the softwood lumber products subject to investigation, when in fact the harvester/sawmill may produce and sell other products as well. Where logs rather than lumber are sold by a harvester/sawmill, then some portion of any subsidy that it receives under a stumpage programme is attributable to its production of logs (i.e., not all of the subsidy can be attributed to the other lumber products that it produces). If the subsidies attributable to the production of logs are not passed through to the lumber producer that purchases them, then those subsidies should not be included in the numerator of the subsidization calculation for *lumber*, as they can be said to have benefited production of the logs, but not production of the lumber produced from the logs by their purchaser. The same holds true where lumber is sold by a harvester/sawmill to a re-manufacturer whose products are exported to the US: some portion of any subsidy from stumpage is attributable to the harvester/sawmill's production of the lumber for re-manufacturing and some is attributable to the other products (including lumber) that the harvester/sawmill produces. Here, if the subsidies attributable to the lumber for re-manufacturing are not passed through to the re-manufacturer that purchases it, then those subsidies should not be included in the numerator of the subsidization equation, as in this situation it is the re-manufactured product, not the upstream lumber product, that is the subject merchandise under investigation. Thus, where the recipient of a stumpage subsidy sells inputs (logs or lumber) to unrelated downstream lumber producers producing subject merchandise, a pass-through analysis is the only way to determine whether the subsidies on the production of the inputs also are subsidies on the products *produced from* those inputs. Only if so can any subsidy

amounts attributable to the production of those inputs be included in the numerator of the subsidization calculation for the subject lumber products.

Thus, contrary to the US argument, the question of pass-through has to do with correctly 7.98 identifying the subsidy amount attributable to the subject merchandise entering the US (the numerator). The fact that the US conducted the lumber investigation on an aggregate basis does not prevent and cannot cure the overall numerator (the aggregate subsidy amount from the stumpage programmes) from being overstated where upstream transactions for inputs between unrelated entities are present and subsidies have not been passed through. Moreover, the fact that the Agreement may, as a general matter, permit the conduct of countervail investigations on an aggregate basis cannot absolve the US from its legal obligation to conduct a pass-through analysis in a particular investigation to establish the subsidization in respect of the manufacture, production or export of the product being imported into the United States, where that product is produced from logs or lumber purchased from tenure holders by unrelated lumber producers. Furthermore, we are not convinced that the need to conduct a pass-through analysis for these transactions would necessarily or inevitably convert every aggregate case into a company-specific case.¹⁷⁰ Even if, in a particular case, it was not possible to conduct a pass-through analysis except by conducting the investigation on a companyspecific basis, the basic requirement to determine subsidization in respect of the subject product where, in a particular investigation, upstream transactions between unrelated entities are present, must prevail. Finally, the fact that the USDOC is now conducting reviews of uninvestigated companies in response to individual requests fails adequately to address the problem, as it is *post hoc*, while the obligation to determine subsidization in respect of the product is a *precondition* for being allowed to apply a countervailing measure. Nor does the US argue that individual reviews in this case are being conducted for all producers potentially affected by the pass-through issue, meaning that the reviews by definition will not be able fully to address this problem, even after the fact.

(iii) Conclusion

7.99 We therefore conclude that, for the reasons set forth above, the USDOC's failure to conduct a pass-through analysis in respect of logs sold by tenure-holding timber harvesters (whether or not also lumber producers) to unrelated sawmills producing subject softwood lumber; and in respect of lumber sold by tenure-holding harvester/sawmills to unrelated lumber re-manufacturers was inconsistent with Article 10 and thus Article 32.1 SCM Agreement, and with Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. In light of our finding, we do not find it necessary to address Canada's pass-through claims pursuant to Articles 19.1 and 19.4 SCM Agreement. That is, having determined that the USDOC subsidization determination is inconsistent with the cited Articles, including because of the failure to conduct a pass-through analysis, and exercising the discretion implicit in the principle of judicial economy, we do not deem it necessary to examine whether the failure to conduct a pass-through analysis gave rise to further substantive inconsistencies with Articles 19.1 and 19.4 SCM Agreement.

(c) Has Canada introduced a new claim, i.e., a violation of Article 1.1, which is outside the Panel's terms of reference?

7.100 We recall that in respect of its pass-through claim, Canada refers to a number of provisions of the SCM Agreement and one provision of the GATT 1994, all of which, according to Canada, require a pass-through analysis where the recipient of the alleged subsidy is not a producer of the subject merchandise, specifically, where the producer of the subject merchandise obtains its inputs at arms'-length from a recipient of the alleged subsidy. For Canada, the central issue is the existence of a subsidy in the sense of Article 1.1 SCM Agreement: Canada alleges that USDOC assumed rather

¹⁷⁰ For example, inquiry into possible relationships between the entities concerned, and the use of sampling or other statistical techniques in respect of the relevant transactions at issue, might offer possible approaches to be explored.

than established the existence of a subsidy in respect of the arms-length transactions at issue, in violation of the cited provisions.

7.101 Canada's first reference to Article 1.1 SCM Agreement in the context of the pass-through issue appears in response to a question that we posed at our first substantive meeting with the parties. We asked Canada to summarize its legal argumentation in respect of each of the provisions that it cited in its request for establishment of a panel in respect of its pass-through claim, i.e., Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. In response, Canada states, *inter alia*, that under these provisions, a countervailing duty may be imposed only where the investigating authority demonstrates that the producer of subject merchandise has received a "subsidy" in the sense of Article 1.1 SCM Agreement. Canada further states that where, in its view, the US presumed rather than demonstrated the existence of a subsidy, it "acted inconsistently with" Article 1.1 SCM, and "therefore violated" the cited provisions.¹⁷¹

7.102 The US counters, *inter alia*, by arguing that Canada is raising a claim outside the Panel's terms of reference by citing Article 1.1 SCM Agreement. The US argues that, by referring to Article 1.1 SCM Agreement in its answer to the Panel, Canada "seems to accept" that its claims under the above-cited provisions depend on a finding that the "calculation of the *ad valorem* subsidy rate" is inconsistent with Article 1.1 SCM Agreement. The US argues that while the US's actions were wholly consistent with that provision, the Panel need not reach this issue as this provision was not cited in the Request for Establishment in connection with the pass-through issue. In particular, the US argues that if a claim of a violation of one provision depends on a finding of violation of another provision, which latter was not cited by the complaining party in its request for establishment of a panel, the panel has no jurisdiction to resolve that claim.

7.103 We note here that Canada does not argue that it did cite Article 1.1 SCM in its Request for Establishment of the Panel in respect of the pass-through claim, so there is no disagreement between the parties on this point. Thus, if Canada's reference to this provision in its explanation of its pass-through claim does constitute a new "claim" of a "violation", as the US argues, then such a claim would clearly seem to be outside our terms of reference. The question before us therefore is whether this reference is or is not a new "claim".

7.104 The chapeau of Article 1.1 SCM Agreement explicitly states that the concept and definition of what constitutes a "subsidy", as set forth in that Article, applies to the entire Agreement.¹⁷² Thus, it is clear that this most basic definition of the Agreement informs every other reference to "subsidy" in the Agreement. We understand from its response to our question that Canada is claiming that the US has violated the provisions it cites in its pass-through claim (Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994) by virtue of USDOC's failure to establish the existence of the subsidies or subsidization to which those provisions refer, which references by definition can only be to "subsidies" or "subsidization" in the sense of Article 1.1. For example, we understand Canada to argue that Article 19.1 requires, *inter alia*, a determination of the existence of a subsidy, which by definition must be a subsidy in the sense of Article 1.1.

7.105 We thus do not consider that Canada's reference to Article 1.1 in its response to our question constitutes a new "claim" of a "violation" of Article 1.1. Rather, we understand Canada, by this reference, to have clarified its view that all references to "subsidy" or "subsidization" in the provisions that it cites must be understood in the same sense as in Article 1.1, and in particular, that the cited provisions, by referring to "subsidies" or "subsidization", require the "existence" of a subsidy in the sense of Article 1.1 before a countervailing duty can be applied.

¹⁷¹ Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-1), paras. 113-114.

¹⁷² "1.1 For purposes of this Agreement, a subsidy shall be deemed to exist if:....." (emphasis added).

D. CLAIM 4: CANADIAN STUMPAGE PROGRAMMES ARE NOT SPECIFIC TO CERTAIN ENTERPRISES

1. Arguments of the parties

(a) Canada

7.106 Canada submits that, even if the USDOC had correctly determined that provincial stumpage programmes were a subsidy, it failed in the Final Determination to correctly determine that the programmes are *specific* subsidies within the meaning of Article 2 SCM Agreement. Canada asserts that the USDOC found that the provincial stumpage programmes are specific in fact because they were used by only a limited number of certain enterprises. Canada argues that, even if the programmes were used by a limited number of users, this does not suffice for a finding of specificity. According to Canada, under Article 2 SCM Agreement, a Member may find that the alleged subsidy is specific in fact only where the total configuration of facts and evidence relating to these factors points to a *deliberate* limiting of access to a certain limited number of enterprises or industries engaged in the manufacture of similar products.¹⁷³

7.107 First, Canada asserts that provincial stumpage programmes are not used by a *limited number* of certain industries. Canada submits that the USDOC failed to accurately determine the actual users of the stumpage programmes and failed to address the record evidence that established that many enterprises and industries use stumpage programmes.¹⁷⁴ According to Canada, while some producers of the subject merchandise may use stumpage programmes, they are not the only users, and neither can the producers of the subject merchandise be considered as a single industry, as many producers produce multiple products, many of which are not subject to the investigation. Canada asserts that the USDOC Determination failed to address what the terms "industry" or "group of industries" mean. The USDOC applied a circular reasoning and simply grouped the users of the programme as one industry for the simple reason that they all use the programme. Canada asserts that an industry cannot be identified for purposes of specificity without reference to the end-products produced. Canada argues that the USDOC's circular reasoning effectively writes the specificity requirement out of the SCM Agreement, as all programmes are by definition used only by the users of the programme.

7.108 Second, Canada considers that, even if the programmes were used by a limited number of enterprises, this limited use is easily explained by the nature of forestry resources and the diversification of provincial economies. According to Canada, the inherent characteristics of the good provided limit the number of users of the programme, not any deliberate government favouritism, as is required under Article 2 SCM Agreement. Moreover, in Canada's view, a determination of *de facto* specificity under Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement in this case would have required at a minimum an examination of all four factors listed in that provision as well as the consideration of the extent of diversification of the economic activities in Canada.¹⁷⁵ Canada submits that where these factors do not indicate that a Member is deliberately limiting access to a programme

¹⁷³ Canada draws a parallel with *de facto* contingency on export performance under Article 3.1 SCM Agreement to argue that a Member may find *de facto* specificity only where the total configuration of facts allows it to infer that the government is deliberately limiting access to the programme. Canada refers to Appellate Body report, *Canada - Aircraft*, para. 167.

¹⁷⁴ According to Canada, studies on the record demonstrated that at least 23 separate and varied classes of industries, producing over 200 widely diverse goods, use stumpage programmes, and that softwood lumber production was not the dominant end use of the wood fibre harvested from Canadian forests.

¹⁷⁵ Canada argues that the USDOC for example failed to take into consideration that in British Columbia forestry-related activities are responsible for a substantial share of economic activity, in spite of the explicit obligation under Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement to take into account the economic diversification of provincial economies.

(that is, if the factors may be explained by other circumstances) then the programme is not specific.¹⁷⁶ In light of the nature of the forestry resource in question, Canada considers that it is untenable to base a specificity finding on the "limited-users" factor alone, as use of natural resources will always be limited in fact to those enterprises and industries that are capable of extracting the resource and processing it into a good. In sum, Canada considers that the legal standard established by Article 2 SCM Agreement is whether a government is limiting access to a programme, in law or in fact, to certain enterprises over other *eligible* enterprises. Canada is therefore of the view that the USDOC has rendered the specificity test and the limited-users factor redundant by using the entire Canadian economy as a benchmark and finding that the vast majority of companies and industries in Canada do not receive benefits under these programmes.¹⁷⁷

7.109 Canada therefore submits that the USDOC determination of specificity of the alleged subsidy programmes is inconsistent with Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement and, since under Article 1.2 SCM Agreement the United States may impose countervailing duties only against subsidies found to be specific, the countervailing duties at issue thus violate Article 1.2, 10, 19.1, 19.4, and 32.1 SCM Agreement.

(b) United States

7.110 The United States considers that the USDOC's conclusion that the provincial stumpage programmes are specific in fact is consistent with Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement as these programmes are used by a limited group of industries consisting of the lumber and pulp and paper industries, while the vast majority of companies within Canada do not receive stumpage.¹⁷⁸ The United States asserts that there is no basis in the text of Article 2 SCM Agreement for Canada's arguments that a product based industry analysis should have been performed and that the USDOC was required to determine that it was the government's intention to limit the users of the programme to certain eligible enterprises only.

7.111 According to the United States, the USDOC's definition of a group of industries is based on the common practice of referring to industries by the general type of products they produce. The United States argues that the plain language of Article 2 SCM Agreement ("specific to certain *enterprises*") indicates that the specificity test is concerned not with *products*, but with *enterprises* and *industries*. According to the United States, the USDOC found that the stumpage programmes were used by a limited number of wood product industries consisting of the lumber and pulp and paper industry, which constitutes a limited group of industries. The United States submits that Canada's argument that the USDOC undercounted the number of industries that used stumpage subsidies because it used an improper definition of the word "industry" should thus be rejected.

7.112 The United States further considers that the text of Article 2 SCM Agreement does not require the authority to make any findings as to the granting authority's intent to limit a subsidy to certain eligible producers only, as Canada is suggesting, since the very purpose of Article 2.1 (c) is to let the facts speak for themselves. In the United States view, the fact that, due to its "inherent characteristics", a subsidized input has economic utility for a limited number of potential recipients

¹⁷⁶ Canada argues that the negotiating history surrounding Article 1.2 and 2 SCM Agreement confirms its interpretation that specificity relates to a determination that government action deliberately restricts access to the alleged subsidy. Canada Second Written Submission, para. 60.

¹⁷⁷ In Canada's view, using the entire economy of a Member as a benchmark misinterprets Article 2, since it ignores the fact that the universe of eligible users under Article 2.1 (b) SCM Agreement can be something less than "everyone" and still this subsidy would not be specific. The relevant benchmark must be the universe of *eligible* users, since Article 2.1 (b) contemplates a finding on non-specificity where a programme is limited pursuant to neutral and objective criteria.

 $^{^{178}}$ USDOC Determination, p. 51 – 52. (CDA-1). The USDOC found that the stumpage programmes were used by a single limited group of wood product industries, comprised of pulp and paper mills, and the sawmills and remanufacturers that produce the subject merchandise.

does not exempt the provision of this input from the subsidy disciplines of the SCM Agreement, nor does it mean that a further analysis is required to see whether actual use of that input is in fact restricted to some subset of the *potential* or *eligible* users.

7.113 The United States does not consider that all four factors mentioned in Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement need to be examined for a finding of *de facto* specificity. It suffices that the subsidy is used by a limited number of users for it to be considered specific under article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement. The United States acknowledges that Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement provides that an investigating authority must take into account the extent of diversification of economic activities within the jurisdiction of the granting authority. According to the United States, this is so because a subsidy may be widely distributed within the economy, and yet appear specific, simply due to the limitations of the domestic economy where the subsidy was granted. The United States submits that the Canadian provinces are far from being un-diversified economies, and that the USDOC recognized this aspect of the specificity test in its finding that the majority of companies in Canada do not receive benefits under these programmes.

2. Analysis

7.114 Article 1.2 SCM Agreement provides that a subsidy is only countervailable if "such a subsidy is specific in accordance with the provisions of Article 2". Article 2 provides as follows:

Article 2

Specificity

2.1 In order to determine whether a subsidy, as defined in paragraph 1 of Article 1, is specific to an enterprise or industry or group of enterprises or industries (referred to in this Agreement as "certain enterprises") within the jurisdiction of the granting authority, the following principles shall apply:

- (a) Where the granting authority, or the legislation pursuant to which the granting authority operates, explicitly limits access to a subsidy to certain enterprises, such subsidy shall be specific.
- (b) Where the granting authority, or the legislation pursuant to which the granting authority operates, establishes objective criteria or conditions² governing the eligibility for, and the amount of, a subsidy, specificity shall not exist, provided that the eligibility is automatic and that such criteria and conditions are strictly adhered to. The criteria or conditions must be clearly spelled out in law, regulation, or other official document, so as to be capable of verification.
- (c) If, notwithstanding any appearance of non-specificity resulting from the application of the principles laid down in subparagraphs (a) and (b), there are reasons to believe that the subsidy may in fact be specific, other factors may be considered. Such factors are: use of a subsidy programme by a limited number of certain enterprises, predominant use by certain enterprises, the granting of disproportionately large amounts of subsidy to certain enterprises, and the manner in which discretion has been exercised by the granting authority in the decision to grant a subsidy.³ In applying this subparagraph, account shall be taken of the extent of diversification of economic activities within the jurisdiction of the granting authority, as well

as of the length of time during which the subsidy programme has been in operation.

2.2 A subsidy which is limited to certain enterprises located within a designated geographical region within the jurisdiction of the granting authority shall be specific. It is understood that the setting or change of generally applicable tax rates by all levels of government entitled to do so shall not be deemed to be a specific subsidy for the purposes of this Agreement.

2.3 Any subsidy falling under the provisions of Article 3 shall be deemed to be specific.

2.4 Any determination of specificity under the provisions of this Article shall be clearly substantiated on the basis of positive evidence.

7.115 In essence, we understand Canada to argue that for a subsidy to be specific under Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement, the granting authority must have *deliberately limited* access to the subsidy to a group of *enterprises producing similar products*. In particular, Canada argues that a subsidy which consists of the provision of a good which can only be used as an input by a particular industry should not be considered to be specific unless the granting authority has deliberately limited its use to a certain subgroup of enterprises in that industry. Under the facts of this case, Canada moreover argues that the USDOC finding that there were only a limited number of users of the stumpage programmes was flawed. In addition, Canada considers that the USDOC should have analysed the end-products of the industries it alleged were the users of the programme in order to determine whether they constituted a group of industries producing similar products.

7.116 We first address Canada's argument that a subsidy is specific only when the authority deliberately limits access of this subsidy to certain enterprises within the group of enterprises eligible or naturally apt to use the subsidy. In our view, Article 2 SCM Agreement is concerned with the distortion that is created by a subsidy which either in law or in fact is not broadly available.¹⁷⁹ While deliberate action by a government to restrict access to a subsidy that is in principle broadly available, through the use of discretion, could well be the basis for a finding of *de facto* specificity, we see no basis in the text of Article 2, and 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement in particular, for Canada's argument that if the inherent characteristics of the good provided limit the possible use of the subsidy to a certain industry, the subsidy will not be specific unless access to this subsidy is limited to a sub-set of this industry, i.e. to certain enterprises within the potential users of the subsidy engaged in the manufacture of similar products. Article 2 speaks of the use by a limited number of certain

 $^{^2}$ Objective criteria or conditions, as used herein, mean criteria or conditions which are neutral, which do not favour certain enterprises over others, and which are economic in nature and horizontal in application, such as number of employees or size of enterprise.

 $^{^{3}}$ In this regard, in particular, information on the frequency with which applications for a subsidy are refused or approved and the reasons for such decisions shall be considered.

¹⁷⁹ We note that the availability of a subsidy which is limited by the inherent characteristics of the good cannot be considered to have been limited by "objective" criteria in the sense of footnote 2 to Article 2.1 (b) SCM Agreement, i.e. "criteria or conditions which are neutral, which do not favour certain enterprises over others, and which are economic in nature and horizontal in application, such as number of employees or size of enterprise".

enterprises or the predominant use by certain enterprises, not of the use by a limited number of certain eligible enterprises. In the case of a good that is provided by the government - and not just money, which is fungible - and that has utility only for certain enterprises (because of its inherent characteristics), it is all the more likely that a subsidy conferred via the provision of that good is specifically provided to certain enterprises only. We do not consider that this would imply that any provision of a good in the form of a natural resource automatically would be specific, precisely because in some cases, the goods provided (such as for example oil, gas, water, etc.) may be used by an indefinite number of industries. This is not the situation before us. As Canada acknowledges, the inherent characteristics of the good provided, standing timber, limit its possible use to "certain enterprises" only.

7.117 We now turn to Canada's argument that the USDOC failed to properly determine that the stumpage programmes were used by only a limited number of industries. On the basis of the facts of this case, Canada argues that specificity should have been analyzed based on the end-products sold by the industry or industries using the programme. Canada argues that more than 200 separate products are manufactured by companies holding harvesting rights, together forming about 23 separate industries.¹⁸⁰ This, according to Canada, is hardly a "limited number of industries".

7.118 We note that the USDOC determined that

"Benefits under these Provincial stumpage [programmes] are limited to those companies and individuals specifically authorized to cut timber on Crown lands. These companies are pulp and paper mills and the saw mills and remanufacturers which are producing the subject merchandise. This limited group of wood product industries is specific under section 771 (5A)(D)(iii)(I) of the Act" "181

7.119 We recall that a subsidy is specific under Article 2 SCM Agreement, if it is specific to an enterprise or industry or group of enterprises or industries (referred to in the SCM Agreement as "certain enterprises"). The SCM Agreement does not define an "industry" nor does it provide for any other rules concerning which enterprises could be considered to form an industry for the purposes of Article 2 SCM Agreement or whether a group of industries have to produce certain similar products in order to be considered a "group".

7.120 The New Shorter Oxford Dictionary defines an industry as "a particular form or branch of productive labour; a trade, a manufacture".¹⁸² Both parties seem to agree that the common practice is to refer to industries by the type of products they produce.¹⁸³ It seems therefore that the term "industry" in Article 2 SCM Agreement is not used to refer to enterprises producing specific goods or end-products. Indeed, even Canada agrees that a single industry may make a broad range of end products and still remain a "industry" within the meaning of Article 2 SCM Agreement.¹⁸⁴ We note in

¹⁸⁰ Exhibit CDA-73 provides an overview of these 23 allegedly separate industries and the 201 products. produced by these industries. We note that Canada considers as separate industries such industries as the "wooden kitchen cabinet and bathroom vanity industry" and the "wooden door and window industry" to mention just two.

¹⁸¹ USDOC Determination, p. 52. (CDA-1). According to the USDOC, "whether we classify the users of the stumpage programs as sawmills and pulp mills, the primary timber processing group, the wood products industry, the forest products industries, the wood fibre user industry, the "industries" suggested by respondents, or any combination thereof, the subsidies provided by these stumpage programs are not "broadly available and widely used". The vast majority of companies and industries in Canada does not receive benefits under these programs." USDOC Determination, p. 52. (CDA-1). ¹⁸² CDA-66, p. 1356. We note that this is a definition relied on by both parties.

¹⁸³ See United States First Written Submission, para. 150; Canada Response to Questions from the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 153.

⁴ Canada Response to Questions from the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 149. By contrast, we find that the fact the domestic industry is defined in Article 16 SCM Agreement by reference to a particular

this respect that Canada considers that "it may be completely appropriate to find that producers of a wide variety of steel products (or automobile products or textile products, etc) are a group of "steel industries" (or "automobile industries", "textile industries", etc.) because of the similarity and the relatedness of their output products".¹⁸⁵ Canada also does not dispute that a subsidy limited to a single large industry (such as "steel", "autos", "textiles", "telecommunications", or the like) could be found specific, even though the producers make a diversity of products.¹⁸⁶

7.121 The USDOC Determination considered that only a group of wood product industries, consisting of the pulp and paper mills and the sawmills and re-manufacturers which are producing the subject merchandise used the stumpage programmes. It does not seem that USDOC simply labelled an aggregation of producers as a group of industries merely because they use a particular programme. In our view, the opposite was the case. As Canada recognized, the stumpage programme can clearly only benefit certain enterprises in the wood product industries which can harvest and / or process the good provided, standing timber. In sum, the text of Article 2 SCM Agreement does not require a detailed analysis of the end-products produced by the enterprises involved, nor does Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement provide that only a limited number of *products* should benefit from the subsidy. In our view, it was reasonable of the USDOC to reach the conclusion that the use of the alleged subsidy was limited to an industry or a group of industries. We consider that the "wood products industries" constitutes at most only a limited group of industries - the pulp industry, the paper industry, the lumber industry and the lumber remanufacturing industry - under any definition of the term "limited".¹⁸⁷ We do not consider determinative in this respect the fact that these industries may be producing many different end-products. As we discussed above, specificity under Article 2 SCM is to be determined at the enterprise or industry level, not at the product level.¹⁸⁸

7.122 Canada argues that there were other users of the programmes than the ones identified by the USDOC. We understand Canada to be arguing that not only "the pulp and paper mills and the saw mills and remanufacturers which are producing the subject merchandise" are using the stumpage programmes, but also the pulp and paper mills and the sawmills and remanufacturers which are *not* producing the subject merchandise. In our view, all these producers can reasonably be found to form part of the same industries, which produce both the subject merchandise and other merchandise. It is evident that in order to countervail a specific subsidy it is necessary that the subsidy benefits the producers of the subject merchandise, but that does not mean that the subsidies should be specific to these producers only, nor is it required under Article 2 SCM Agreement that the subsidy be specifically targeted at subsidizing only the subject merchandise of producers who produce both subject merchandise and non-subject merchandise.

[&]quot;like product" does not provide useful context for the interpretation of the term "industry" in general in light of the different and specific purpose of this definition of domestic industry in the SCM Agreement. We note again that there is no definition of the term "industry" in general in the SCM Agreement.

⁸⁵ Canada Response to Questions from the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 150.

¹⁸⁶ Canada Response to Questions from the First Meeting (Annex A-1), para. 149.

¹⁸⁷ The New Shorter Oxford Dictionary defines "limited" as "confined within definite limits; restricted in scope, extent, amount, etc.; (of an amount) small". New Shorter Oxford Dictionary, Edited by Lesley Brown, Clarendon Press Oxford, 1993 ed., p. 1592.

¹⁸⁸ We consider therefore not determinative either the fact that a distinction may be made on the basis of the specific products produced into 23 industries, as Canada is suggesting. Irrespective of the question whether 23 industries could still be considered to be a limited number in absolute or relative terms, we are of the view that for the purposes of Article 2 SCM Agreement, it was entirely legitimate of the USDOC to group such alleged separate industries as the "wooden kitchen cabinet and bathroom vanity industry" and the "wooden door and window industry" together with other similar industries into a group of wood products industries. In a similar vein, it appears to us that, whether a "group" is required to produce similar products or not in order to be considered a "group" under Article 2 SCM Agreement, an issue which we need not and do not decide, the industries producing wood products are, in our view, obviously producing sufficiently similar products to be considered as a "group" of industries for the purposes of Article 2 SCM Agreement.

7.123 Canada also argues that an authority is required to examine all four factors mentioned in Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement in order to determine *de facto* specificity. We note in this respect that Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement provides that if there are reasons to believe that the subsidy may in fact be specific, other factors *may* be considered. The use of the verb "may" rather than "shall", in our view, indicates that if there are reasons to believe that the subsidy may in fact be specific, an authority may want to look at any of the four factors or indicators of specificity. We note the difference in language between Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement and, for example, Article 15.4 SCM Agreement concerning injury which provides that "the examination of the impact of the subsidized imports on the domestic industry shall include an evaluation of all relevant economic factors and indices having a bearing on the state of the industry *including* ...", and then lists the factors which have to be included in the evaluation. Article 15.4 SCM Agreement is almost identical in language to Article 3.4 Anti-Dumping Agreement, which it is well established, contains an obligation on the part of the investigating authority to at a minimum examine and evaluate all factors listed in the provision.¹⁸⁹ In our view, if the drafters had wanted to impose a formalistic requirement to examine and evaluate all four factors mentioned in Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement in all cases, they would have equally explicitly provided so as they have done elsewhere in the SCM Agreement.¹⁹⁰ They did not do so. We conclude therefore that there was no obligation on the USDOC to examine whether disproportionately large amounts of the subsidy were granted to certain enterprises or the manner in which discretion has been exercised by the granting authority in the decision to grant a subsidy, the two factors mentioned in Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement which the USDOC did not explicitly examine.

7.124 We finally note that Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement provides that "[I]n applying this subparagraph, *account shall be taken of* the extent of diversification of economic activities within the jurisdiction of the granting authority, as well as of the length of time during which the subsidy programme has been in operation". While it is clear that the USDOC did not explicitly and as such address the extent of economic diversification in its Final Determination, we consider that in noting that "the vast majority of companies and industries in Canada does not receive benefits under these programmes"¹⁹¹, the USDOC showed that it had *taken account of* the extent of economic diversification in particular are diversified economies. Although we understand the wood product industry to be an important industry for Canada, it is clear that the Canadian economy is more than just wood products alone. In light of the fact that, in our view, all that is required under the last sentence of Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement is that "account be taken of " the extent of economic diversification, we find that USDOC Determination complied with this obligation.

7.125 We find therefore that the USDOC determination that the stumpage programmes which are used only by a limited group of wood product industries are in fact specific, is not inconsistent with Article 2.1 (c) SCM Agreement and reject all of Canada's claims in this respect.

¹⁸⁹ Appellate Body report, *Thailand – H-Beams*, para. 128. Panel report, *EC – Tube and Pipe Fittings*, para. 7.304. Panel Report, *Egypt – Steel Rebar*, para. 7.36. Panel Report, *EC – Bed Linen*, para. 6.159; Panel Report, *Mexico – Corn Syrup*, para. 7.128.

¹⁹⁰ We note that it appears that on the basis of the facts before the USDOC, it was reasonable to conclude that certain of these factors, such as the granting of disproportionately large amounts of the subsidy to certain enterprises or the manner in which discretion has been exercised by the granting authority in the decision to grant a subsidy, were not relevant in this situation, and thus did not have to be examined.

¹⁹¹ USDOC Final Determination, p. 52. (CDA-1).

E. CLAIM 5: INCONSISTENT CALCULATION OF THE AMOUNT OF SUBSIDIZATION

1. Claims and arguments of the parties

Alleged improper conversion from US to Canadian log volume measurement system (a)

(i) Canada

7.126 Canada claims that the USDOC inflated the subsidy amount (the numerator of the subsidization rate equation), and hence the rate of subsidization and the countervailing duties applied, by impermissibly using a "manifestly incorrect" conversion factor to compare US stumpage rates that it used as benchmarks with the Canadian Provincial stumpage rates. In particular, Canada claims that by using an inaccurate factor to convert the US log measurements to cubic meters, the amount of the alleged subsidy on lumber was inflated. As a result, Canada alleges, the countervailing duties imposed are in excess of any alleged subsidy on softwood lumber, in violation of Article 19.4 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. Canada also alleges violations of Articles 10 and 32.1 SCM Agreement, on the basis of the alleged violations of Articles 19.4 SCM Agreement and VI:3 of GATT 1994.¹⁹²

7.127 Stumpage volumes and prices in the United States are recorded in thousand board feet, while those in Canada are recorded in cubic meters. Because the United States used US stumpage prices as the benchmark against which to compare Canadian stumpage rates in order to determine the existence and amount of the alleged subsidies, the USDOC needed to apply a conversion factor to restate the US prices in cubic meters.

7.128 According to Canada, the USDOC erred by applying a single national average conversion factor to all provinces.¹⁹³ Canada argues that because log scales vary widely, depending on the diameter, taper, and length of the logs in question, no one average conversion factor can be applied. According to Canada, moreover, the conversion factor used by the USDOC is outdated, does not reflect the current harvest in any of the jurisdictions, or does not account for differences in scaling or utilization practices, and is not empirically verifiable.

7.129 In response to a question from the Panel concerning the basis for Canada's assertion that the data used by the USDOC were "manifestly incorrect", Canada submits a document of record, the "Minnesota Public Stumpage and Price Review", which Canada argues uses a much higher conversion rate than that used by USDOC in converting prices per thousand board feet to prices per wood volume.¹⁹⁴ According to Canada, the USDOC used the prices in the Minnesota Review but ignored its conversion factor, using instead the one that Canada believes to be "manifestly incorrect".

(ii) United States

7.130 The United States argues in the first place that the cited provisions do not contain substantive obligations in respect of subsidy calculations. Further, and in more specific response to this claim, the US argues that the question raised is purely one of fact, and that the USDOC considered the record evidence in respect of conversion factors in selecting the ones used in its investigation, and provided a reasoned explanation for this selection in its Final Determination. For the US, this fulfilled its obligations under the Agreement.¹⁹⁵ In this connection, the United States recalls, citing the Appellate

¹⁹² Canada First Written Submission, paras. 183 et seq.

¹⁹³ Canada acknowledges that the USDOC also used a second factor from Western Washington to convert stumpage rates for the coastal British Columbia calculation.

¹⁹⁴ Canada Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Substantive Meeting (Annex A-1), paras. 131-132. ¹⁹⁵ United States First Written Submission, paras. 117 *et seq*.

Body in the US - Lamb dispute¹⁹⁶, the standard of review under Article 11 of the DSU that in the US view, panels should apply in considering issues of fact in countervailing duty disputes. This standard of review is that panels should limit their consideration, in respect of questions of fact, to whether competent authorities have considered all of the relevant factors, and have provided a reasoned and adequate explanation of how the facts support their determination. In other words, panels should not conduct *de novo* examinations of the facts.

7.131 The United States describes the record evidence that was before the USDOC in respect of conversion factors. In particular, the parties submitted a range of proposed factors, from 3.48 to 8.51 cubic meters per thousand board feet, which had been developed specifically for the purpose of the investigation. According to the US, the USDOC decided, in view of the conflicting suggestions received from parties, to rely exclusively on published information prepared in the ordinary course of business by public agencies, as this would be the surest way to avoid using a biased conversion factor. There were two such sources in the record, and the US argues that USDOC found the older one to be more reliable, because it contained a detailed explanation. According to the US, the USDOC thus weighed the evidence and made a well-reasoned choice, which it fully explained in the Final Determination, and whether the Panel or Canada would have reached a different conclusion based on the same evidence is irrelevant.¹⁹⁷

7.132 In specific response to Canada's arguments concerning the Minnesota Review, the US argues that the conversion factors referred to by Canada were only necessary to convert the price data in Table 1 of the Review, which are presented in dollars per thousand board feet, to those shown in Table 2, which are presented in dollars per cord (a measure of wood volume, not directly convertible to cubic meters).¹⁹⁸ The US argues that Canada failed to establish that the conversion factors used by the USDOC were flawed, and states that the existence of alternative sources does not mean that the USDOC's selection was manifestly incorrect. The US argues that were the Panel to reach such a conclusion, this would amount to an impermissible *de novo* review.¹⁹⁹

(b) Alleged failure to account for the multiple uses of softwood logs produced from Crown timber

(i) Canada

7.133 This claim of Canada pertains primarily to the alleged overstatement of the numerator (subsidy amount) of the subsidization rate calculation. Canada claims that by failing to limit the numerator amount only to the amount of the alleged subsidy that could be said to have benefited logs used to produce softwood lumber, the USDOC overstated the numerator and thus the rate of subsidization. Canada notes that the standing timber, the alleged financial contribution in this case, is provided to producers of multiple downstream products, only one of which is the subject merchandise. According to Canada, the USDOC calculated the benefit amount at the point at which logs were sawn into lumber, when it had not yet apportioned the volume of logs between the subject and non-subject merchandise produced therefrom, and then allocated that (total benefit) amount over the sales value of softwood lumber. Canada argues that this impermissibly inflated the subsidization rate, and thus the countervailing duty rate, because it treated alleged subsidies in respect of inputs used to produce poles, posts, ties and a variety of other non-subject products as subsidies to the subject merchandise.

¹⁹⁶ Appellate Body Report, US – Lamb, para. 103.

¹⁹⁷ United States First Written Submission, para. 124.

¹⁹⁸ United States Response to Questions from the Panel at the First Meeting (Annex A-2), paras. 39-40.

¹⁹⁹ United States Second Written Submission, paras. 66-67.

7.134 In other words, Canada asserts, the USDOC put in the numerator the alleged subsidy to the whole log, then attributed that entire subsidy to only some of the products produced from that log, thereby mismatching the numerator and the denominator in such a way as to artificially inflate the rate of subsidization. For Canada, this alleged overstatement violated Articles 10, 19.4, and 32.1 SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. Canada clarified in its arguments that it sees Article 19.4 SCM Agreement as the provision containing the substantive obligations in respect of calculation of the rate subsidization.²⁰⁰

(ii) United States

7.135 The United States argues again that, in the first place, and contrary to what Canada implies, Article 19.4 SCM Agreement does not contain any obligation to use a specific methodology to calculate the "subsidy found to exist". In addition, according to the US, the methodology proposed by Canada would in fact <u>understate</u> the amount of the subsidy, especially when combined with Canada's proposed methodology for the denominator. The US argues that when a sawmill receives a certain amount of subsidy by paying too low a price for the timber that it uses as its input, that subsidy benefits all of the products produced by that sawmill from the timber, not just the subject merchandise. Therefore, the US argues, the USDOC took the total subsidy amount received by sawmills through the allegedly subsidized timber and allocated it to all products (subject and non-subject) resulting from the processing of the timber. Thus, according to the US, the numerator and denominator are calculated on the same basis. The US asserts that Canada's claim amounts to an argument that the US was required to allocate subsidies on a volume rather than value basis. As such an obligation cannot be found in any of the provisions cited by Canada, the US argues, Canada has failed to make its *prima facie* case of a violation in respect of how the USDOC calculated the numerator.²⁰¹

(c) Alleged understatement of the value of "final mill" sales

(i) Canada

7.136 Canada claims that the denominator used by the USDOC as the value of sales of subject merchandise by "final mills" is understated, leading to an impermissible inflation of the rate of subsidization, once again violating Articles 10, 19.4, 32.1 of the SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994. Canada notes that in all past US softwood lumber cases, the USDOC calculated the rate of subsidization and assessed the countervailing duties, on a "first mill" rather than "final mill" basis.

7.137 The United States imposed the countervailing duty on the "final mill" value of the subject softwood lumber products, which includes the value of lumber shipped to end-users by "first mills" (i.e., those that process logs into lumber), plus the value added by lumber remanufacturers (those that purchase lumber products for further processing into other lumber products). Canada's claim concerns the USDOC's calculation of the amount of value added by the remanufacturers. On this point, Canada argues that the USDOC based its estimate of this value added on outdated and incomplete statistics provided by Statistics Canada at the request of the USDOC (in "GOC Exhibit 36" from the CVD investigation), in spite of having in the record what Canada views as verified, complete and up-to-date information derived by Canada from another source (a study by the Pacific Forestry Centre, or "PFC"). Canada asserts that the PFC information was the most accurate on the record concerning the factual point at issue, and that by ignoring this information, and relying instead on the much less reliable data provided by Statistics Canada, the US overstated the subsidization rate, in violation of the cited provisions.²⁰²

²⁰⁰ Canada First Written Submission, paras. 189-194.

²⁰¹ United States First Written Submission, paras. 103-106.

²⁰² Canada First Written Submission, paras. 195-203.

(ii) United States

7.138 The United States argues that Canada is simply disagreeing with the USDOC's choice of which record data to rely on in estimating the value added by lumber remanufacturers. In the view of the US, the USDOC properly and thoroughly considered all of the relevant record evidence, and made a reasonable choice as to which data to use, and then provided in its Final Determination a reasoned explanation of that choice.

7.139 Concerning the USDOC's assessment of the evidence that was before it, the US argues that, contrary to Canada's characterization, the USDOC at verification found various flaws and shortcomings in the PFC study, leading it to conclude that the data in GOC Exhibit 36 were more accurate. In particular, at verification, the USDOC learned that the PFC data included products outside the scope of the investigation, as well as a value for kiln-drying (a service, not a good). By contrast, the derivation of the data in GOC Exhibit 36 was clear, according to the US, and the figures were able to be used to derive a ratio of remanufactured shipments from independent remanufacturers for the two provinces covered by GOC Exhibit 36, which ratio was then applied to the total Canadian lumber shipment values to estimate the value of remanufactured products.²⁰³

2. Analysis

7.140 In the light of our findings pursuant to Articles 10, 14, 14(d) and 32.1 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 in respect of the USDOC's subsidy determination, we do not find it necessary to address Canada's calculation-related claims described above. That is, having determined that the USDOC determination in respect of subsidization is inconsistent with the cited Articles, and exercising the discretion implicit in the principle of judicial economy, we do not deem it necessary to examine whether certain methodological issues gave rise to further inconsistencies in respect of that determination.

F. CLAIM 6: FAILURE TO CONDUCT THE INVESTIGATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 12 SCM AGREEMENT

1. Arguments of the parties

(a) Canada

7.141 Canada argues that the USDOC imposed countervailing duties based on an investigation that violated Articles 12.1, 12.3 and 12.8 SCM Agreement. In particular, Canada argues that the United states did not comply with its obligations under Article 12 SCM Agreement in regard to two aspects of the investigation concerning the change in the choice of benchmark state from the preliminary to the final determination and the use of information based on a letter of the Maine Forest Products Council.

7.142 First, Canada argues that the USDOC changed the US state used as the comparative basis for Alberta and Saskatchewan from the preliminary determination to the final determination without any prior notice to the interested parties in violation of Article 12.8 SCM Agreement.²⁰⁴ Canada argues that the choice of the state which is used for the comparison with the stumpage prices of certain Canadian provinces, is clearly an essential fact which will form the basis for the determination that should have been disclosed to the interested parties in sufficient time for the parties to defend their interests and in any case before the final determination as required by Article 12.8 SCM Agreement. In addition, Canada argues, the interested parties were not given an opportunity to present evidence or

²⁰³ United States First Written Submission, paras. 107-113.

²⁰⁴ The benchmark state chosen at the time of the preliminary determination was Montana, while for the final determination, the benchmark state used was Minnesota.

prepare presentations regarding the appropriateness of the choice of Minnesota as the new benchmark state, and the USDOC therefore acted in a manner inconsistent with Articles 12.1 and 12.3 SCM Agreement.

7.143 Second, Canada argues that the USDOC failed to give interested parties the opportunity to present evidence and arguments concerning a letter from the Maine Forest Products Council (the "MFPC") that was relevant to the calculation of the US benchmark price applied to Quebec.²⁰⁵ Canada asserts that this letter was not put on the record until two months after it had been received by the USDOC, and only after Quebec had requested the inclusion in the record of this information. Canada submits that because of the delay in putting the letter on the record, and the deadlines set by the USDOC for commenting on the MFPC information, USDOC deprived the province of Quebec of any meaningful opportunity to rebut new factual information contained in two reports filed by the petitioners' new information based on the MFPC letter was used by the USDOC, in spite of the fact that interested Canadian parties were denied the opportunity to present comments on this new evidence. Thus, Canada argues, the USDOC denied interested parties the timely opportunity to see the relevant information as required by Article 12.3 SCM Agreement and to prepare presentations on the basis of the relevant information. Canada submits that the USDOC therefore failed to conduct the investigation in a manner consistent with Article 12.3 SCM Agreement.

(b) United States

7.144 The United States submits that the investigation was conducted in full compliance with Article 12 SCM Agreement as all parties were given notice of the information required for the investigation, had ample opportunity to submit all relevant information, had access to all information submitted during the investigation and were informed of the essential facts under consideration.

7.145 First, with regard to the change of benchmark state, the United States argues that the selection of the benchmark for the stumpage programmes of Alberta and Saskatchewan was consistent with the requirements of Article 12 SCM Agreement. The United States asserts that both Canadian provinces challenged the use of data from the US state of Montana as the basis for the benchmark calculation in the preliminary determination, and notes that the USDOC ultimately agreed with these provinces' arguments and rejected data from Montana, using data from Minnesota instead.²⁰⁶ The United States is of the view that USDOC was not obliged under Article 12 SCM to provide notice of the new benchmark state chosen and to allow for parties to, once again, comment on the choice of the benchmark state. According to the United States, nothing in Article 12 SCM Agreement imposes on the investigating authority an obligation to engage in an endless cycle of notice and comment. The United States considers that Article 12.3 SCM Agreement explicitly recognizes that information be provided "whenever practicable" reflecting the time constraints imposed on the completion of the investigation.

7.146 According to the United States, the USDOC preliminary determination announced that the United States was using US northern border states as the benchmarks for the Canadian stumpage programmes and set forth the criteria used in selecting such benchmarks. The USDOC identified Minnesota as a possible alternative, and all of the information regarding Minnesota was provided to all of the interested parties. For all these reasons, the United States submits that the interested parties

²⁰⁵ Canada notes that there can be little debate about the relevance of the information as the USDOC itself requested the information and characterized the information as "important to some of the central issues in the proceeding". USDOC Final Determination, p. 61. (CDA-1). Canada First Written Submission, para. 222.

²⁰⁶ The United States argues that these provinces thus took advantage of the opportunity to use record information to argue that the forests of Montana were not sufficiently similar to compare to those of Alberta and Saskatchewan, and thus that neither government can now claim surprise when the USDOC considered their arguments and agreed that Montana was not the appropriate benchmark.

were informed of the "essential facts under consideration" in accordance with Article 12.8 SCM Agreement.²⁰⁷ The United States argues that Canada is really challenging the change in the basis for the legal determination between the Preliminary and the Final determination, and submits that there is no obligation under Article 12.8 SCM Agreement to inform interested parties of this change in the legal determination before the final determination.

7.147 Second, concerning the MFPC letter, the United States submits that the interested parties had access to the information contained in the letter in sufficient time to use it in the preparation of their legal arguments and the USDOC thus acted in accordance with Article 12.3 SCM Agreement.²⁰⁸ The United States considers that interested parties were provided an opportunity to comment, and in the case of Quebec did comment, on information relevant to the benchmark for Quebec submitted by the Maine Forest Products Council. According to the United States there is no basis in the text of the SCM Agreement that interested parties should have been given additional time to respond to information submitted by petitioners to rebut the information in the MFPC letter²⁰⁹, and Article 12.3 SCM Agreement does not require the United States to engage in an endless cycle of allowing each interested party to reply to every submission made by every other interested party.

2. Analysis

7.148 In light of our findings on Articles 10, 14, 14 (d), and 32.1 SCM Agreement, as well as Article VI:3 of GATT 1994, we do not find it necessary to address, in this context, Canada's claims under Article 12 SCM Agreement. That is, having determined that the measure at issue is inconsistent with the cited Articles, and exercising the discretion implicit in the principle of judicial economy, we do not deem it necessary to examine whether the investigation which led to the inconsistent measure was consistent with the procedural rules on evidence set forth in Article 12 SCM Agreement.

G. CLAIM 7: INCONSISTENT INITIATION OF THE INVESTIGATION

1. Arguments of the parties

(a) Canada

7.149 Canada argues that the USDOC failed to make an objective and impartial examination and determination of the level of support among domestic producers for the petition as required by Article 11.4 SCM Agreement since support of the domestic producers was actively canvassed with the promise, and the prospect of payments under the United States Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act of 2000 (the "*Byrd amendment*").²¹⁰ According to Canada, for the obligation in Article 11.4 SCM Agreement to have any meaning, a Member's determination that the petition was made "by or on behalf of" the domestic industry must be objective and impartial, which it cannot be

 $^{^{207}}$ The US argues that the Panel in *Argentina* – *Ceramic Tiles* also found that "the requirement to inform all interested parties of the essential facts under consideration may be complied with in a number of ways" and that this obligation could be met "through the inclusion in the record of documents – such as verification reports, a preliminary determination or correspondence exchanged between the investigating authorities and the individual exporters – which actually disclose to the interested parties the essential facts ..." Panel report, *Argentina* – *Ceramic Tiles*, para. 6.125.

²⁰⁸ The United States explains that the reason why the MFPC letter was not put on the record earlier was simply because it was not filed in accordance with the USDOC Regulations.

²⁰⁹ The United States asserts that the letter from petitioners of 4 March, attaching the report by the James W. Sewall company did not contain any new factual information which respondents should have been given an opportunity to comment on.

²¹⁰ Canada explains that under the "Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act of 2000" the United States distributes the duties collected to domestic producers that bring or support countervailing duty petitions.

where a Member induces the subjects of the examination, through payment of cash rewards or the imposition of penalties to act in one way or another, as is the case with the *Byrd amendment*. Canada argues that a Member's authorities may not simply rely on quantitative criteria for the establishment of the level of domestic support, as was confirmed by the Panel in the US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment) case. Canada submits that the investigation was initiated on the basis of domestic producer support that was actively solicited by the promise and prospect of a direct payment by the United States and as a result the USDOC initiated the investigation and imposed definitive countervailing duties in violation of Articles 10, 11.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement.

(b) United States

7.150 The United States argues that the softwood lumber petition contained uncontested evidence establishing that US softwood lumber producers representing 67 per cent of total US softwood lumber production supported the petition and that the USDOC thus initiated the investigation based on adequate domestic industry support consistent with the requirement of Article 11.4 SCM Agreement. The United States asserts that Canada is injecting a requirement into the SCM Agreement that investigating authorities examine the motives of prospective petitioners. The United States points out that a recent Appellate Body report in the US - Offset Act (Byrd Amendment) case rejected that argument and overturned the Panel's ruling on which Canada is relying by concluding that Article 11.4 requires "no more than a formal examination of whether a sufficient number of domestic producers have expressed support for an application".²¹¹ As the determination of industry support is an issue of quantity and not of quality, and since even Canada agrees that 67 per cent of the industry supported the petition, the United States submits that the investigation was initiated in accordance with Articles 10, 11.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement.

2. Analysis

7.151 In light of Canada's statement at the first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties that it does not consider it appropriate to press its claims as set out in paragraph 1 of its request for the establishment of a panel, we will refrain from addressing this claim and from making any ruling on this claim.²¹²

VIII. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- 8.1 In light of our findings above, we conclude:
 - (a) that the USDOC's determination that provision of stumpage constituted a financial contribution in the form of the provision of a good or service was not inconsistent with Article 1.1 (a) (1) (iii) SCM Agreement, and we therefore *reject* Canada's claim that the United States' imposition of countervailing duties on the basis of that determination was inconsistent with Articles 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994;
 - (b) that the USDOC's determination of the existence and amount of benefit to the producers of the subject merchandise was inconsistent with Articles 14 and 14(d) SCM Agreement, and we therefore *uphold* Canada's claim that the United States' imposition of countervailing duties on the basis of that determination was inconsistent with Articles 14, 14(d), 10 and 32.1 SCM Agreement; having reached this conclusion we apply judicial economy and therefore do not rule on Canada's allegations under this claim that the United States acted in a manner inconsistent with Articles 19.1 and 19.4 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994.

²¹¹ Appellate Body report, US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment), para. 286.

²¹² Canada First Oral Statement, para. 154.

- (c) that the USDOC's failure to conduct a pass-through analysis in respect of upstream transactions for log and lumber inputs between unrelated entities was inconsistent with Article 10 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994, and we therefore *uphold* Canada's claim that the United States' imposition of countervailing duties in respect of such transactions was inconsistent with Articles 10 and 32.1 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994; having reached this conclusion, we apply judicial economy and do not rule on Canada's allegations under this claim that the United States imposed countervailing duties in a manner inconsistent with Articles 19.1 and 19.4 SCM Agreement; and
- (d) that the USDOC's determination that the provincial stumpage programmes are specific was not inconsistent with Art. 2.1(c) SCM Agreement, and we therefore *reject* Canada's claim that the United States' imposition of countervailing duties on the basis of that determination was inconsistent with Articles 1.2, 2.1, 2.4, 10, 19.1, 19.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement;

8.2 Having reached the conclusions set forth above that the USDOC Final Countervailing Duty Determination is inconsistent with Articles 10, 14, 14(d) and 32.1 SCM Agreement, and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994, we apply judicial economy and do not rule on:

- (a) Canada's claims under Article 19.4 SCM Agreement and Article VI:3 of GATT 1994 concerning the methodologies used to calculate the subsidy rate; and
- (b) Canada's claims of violation of the procedural rules of evidence set forth in Article 12 SCM Agreement.

8.3 In the light of Canada's statement at the first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties that it does not consider it appropriate to press its claims under Articles 10, 11.4 and 32.1 SCM Agreement concerning the initiation of the investigation, we refrain from addressing and making a ruling on this claim.

8.4 Under Article 3.8 of the DSU, in cases where there is infringement of the obligations assumed under a covered agreement, the action is considered *prima facie* to constitute a case of nullification or impairment of benefits under that agreement. Accordingly, we conclude that, to the extent the United States has acted inconsistently with the provisions of the SCM Agreement and of GATT 1994, it has nullified or impaired benefits accruing to Canada under that Agreement. We recommend that the Dispute Settlement Body request the United States to bring its measure into conformity with its obligations under the SCM Agreement and GATT 1994.